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Mission Statement
We enable greatness in people and
organizations everywhere.

Vi si o n
Our vision is to profoundly impact
the way billions of people throughout
the world live, work, and achieve
their own great purposes.

Foundational Beliefs

Values

We believe:

1. Commitment to Principles
We are passionate about our content and strive
to be models of the principles and practices
we teach.

1. People are inherently capable, aspire to greatness,
and have the power to choose.
2. Principles are timeless and universal and the foundation for lasting effectiveness.
3. Leadership is a choice, built inside out on a
foundation of character. Great leaders unleash the
collective talent and passion of people toward the
right goal.
4. Habits of effectiveness come only
from the committed use of integrated
processes and tools.
5. Sustained superior performance requires P/PC
Balance—a focus on achieving results and
building capability.

2. Lasting Customer Impact
We are relentless about delivering on our promise
to our customers. Our success comes only with
their success.
3. Respect for the Whole Person
We value each other and treat each person with
whom we work as a true partner.
4. Profitable Growth
We embrace profitability and growth as the
lifeblood of our organization; they give us
the freedom to fulfill our mission and vision.

Front cover artwork: Based on offerings in FranklinCovey’s All Access Pass®.
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Dear Fellow Shareholders,
We hope all is well with each of you, and that you and yours are safe and well!
When we began our conversion to the All Access Pass and Leader in Me subscription-based business models five years
ago, we believed that doing so would create substantial value for all our key stakeholders, including customers,
shareholders and associates.
For Customers. We expected that our subscription offerings would significantly increase our impact with customers,
helping to make them ‘‘customers for life.’’ With our All Access Pass subscription, customers receive:
• Access to our entire collection of best-in-class content and solutions. This enables them to make accelerated
progress on all of their most important organizational challenges and opportunities.
• Extraordinary accessibility to these solutions. Our solutions are available in almost any combination of digital,
live-online, micro-learning and live delivery modalities, in almost any time segment, on any device and in 22
languages worldwide. This provides customers with enormous flexibility in the ways in which they can reach their
populations, a capability whose value has been further accentuated during the pandemic.
• The complementary services of expert implementation specialists. These specialists help clients identify areas of
desired progress and curate solutions to address them.
• A compelling economic proposition. All Access Pass holding clients receive all of these benefits at a price per
person trained which is equivalent to that often charged for a single course in a single modality by other
providers.
This value proposition has proven to be extremely
compelling to our customers. As a result, as shown in
Figure 1, All Access Pass and related sales have grown from a
‘‘standing start’’ in fiscal 2015, to more than $90 million in
fiscal 2020.

Figure 1
AAP PLUS RELATED SALES

During the pandemic our clients have been wrestling with
historic challenges. They have had to move large populations
of employees to remote work environments and have had the
huge challenge of getting these remote teams to focus their
collective efforts on the most important objectives.
Organizations are striving to increase revenue and retain
customers. They are also working to build their cultures,
including thoughtfully addressing diversity, equity, inclusion and bias. In this environment, the need for capable
leaders has never been greater.
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Clients have found the All Access Pass and the tremendous resources available through it to be extremely valuable,
and even essential to addressing their ‘‘must-win’’ challenges. As a result, All Access Pass and related sales have
continued to grow throughout the pandemic. This includes growth in the number of new clients, growth in the
number and dollar volume of multiyear contracts signed and an annual revenue retention which has remained greater
than 90%. As summarized in Figure 2, many clients, across various industries, have expanded their commitment to the
All Access Pass during the pandemic.
Figure 2
Client Industry

Client Situation

Action with All Access Pass

Financial services

During a major cost reduction, the organization prioritized a comprehensive leader development.

Extended for 3 years

Financial services

Challenging demand required a focus on improving close rates of their sales force.

Extended for 3 years

Government

Demand for employee development jumped during the pandemic.

Restarted pass after 2019 lapse

Government

With unprecedented change, the adaptability and soft skills of all employees become critical.

Added 10,000+ user All Access Pass

Healthcare

Revenue loss due to cancelation of elective procedures required a cultural shift to efficiency.

Doubled pass and extended 3 years

Healthcare

Pandemic-related disruptions did not disrupt the commitment to develop great leaders.

Grew pass 50% and extended 3 years

Hospitality

Despite hotels being widely closed, improving diversity & inclusion was essential to the mission.

Extended for multiple years

Hospitality

Lack of in-person contact increased the importance of meaningful live-online training experiences.

Added new delivery services

Energy

In the face of soft demand, needed to improve efficiency and execution through their leaders.

Grew pass 300% to 10,000 users

Manufacturing

Diversity & inclusion became a top priority for the future of the culture.

Grew pass by 250%

Manufacturing

After the initial pandemic shock, the need was still there to improve cycle times.

Added services after March pause

Retail

The industry and technology changes have forced all employees to change how they work.

Enterprise-wide pass for 3 years

Retail

With cost cuts all around, effective leaders are the lynchpin of the company strategy.

Extended for another year

Services

Gaps in leader skills became more glaring during the pandemic.

Expanded by 100% in first 6 months

Technology

Despite a slowdown in revenue, the organization needed its leaders to continue transforming.

Extended for 3,400 leaders

Technology

While the organization was looking for cost savings

Extended for another year

For Shareholders: All Access Pass’ success has benefitted, and is expected to continue to benefit you, our
shareholders, in at least three ways:
• The powerful All Access Pass growth engine has driven the vast majority of Franklin Covey’s overall growth in
revenue and Adjusted EBITDA over the past several years. All Access Pass and related revenue has also been the
primary driver of our increase in gross margin percentage from 67.4% in fiscal 2017 to 73.3% in fiscal 2020 and
has also accounted for substantially all of our growth in gross margin dollars during these years.
• In addition to the growth of All Access Pass sales, we have
had strong growth in the volume of All Access Pass
contracts signed. This growth in invoiced subscription
amounts is generally not recognized in the period in which
it is generated, but instead, goes onto our balance sheet,
being recognized in future periods. As a result, Figure 3
shows that our total balance of billed and unbilled Deferred
Revenue increased to more than $100 million in fiscal
2020 – a landmark achievement for subscription
companies. This large balance of billed and unbilled
Deferred Revenue provides significant visibility into our
future performance.

Figure 3
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• All Access Pass and related sales are expected to account for an ever-increasing share of our business. As a result,
All Access Pass’ compelling growth and strong economics will have an even greater impact on Franklin Covey’s
business.
○

All Access Pass and related sales already account for approximately 80% of our Enterprise Division’s sales in
North America, and we expect this share to continue to increase.

○

We also expect All Access Pass and related sales to grow significantly in China, Japan, ‘‘GSA’’ (Germany,
Switzerland and Austria) and among our international licensee partners over the next several years. As the
$26.5 million of current annual revenue in these operations converts to All Access Pass, we expect to achieve
accelerated revenue growth and profitability in these operations over the coming years.

For Associates: One of Franklin Covey’s core values is ‘‘delivering
lasting customer impact, creating customers for life.’’ As illustrated
in Figure 4, All Access Pass’ large and expanding pass size within
client organizations, high revenue retention rate, and expanding
level of add-on services reflects the value which clients are
receiving from All Access Pass. The combination of these factors is
significantly increasing the lifetime value of our customer
relationships. This provides our associates the chance to increase
their influence and impact with clients and provides them many
opportunities for growth.

Figure 4

We expect All Access Pass to continue to achieve significant
growth in fiscal 2021 and in the years to come. We expect this to
drive accelerated growth in Adjusted EBITDA and Cash Flow,
create even more customers for life, and ensure that Franklin
Covey remains the ‘‘workplace of choice for achievers with heart.’’
We thank you, our shareholders, for the trust you have extended to us. We are committed to ensuring that your trust
is well-placed.
We wish you all a great 2021, a year in which we hope you and your families remain safe and well, one in which we will
all see substantial progress toward the elimination of the worldwide pandemic, and one in which we expect Franklin
Covey’s progress to accelerate significantly.
Sincerely,

Robert A. Whitman
Chairman & CEO
Franklin Covey Co.

Stephen D. Young
Chief Financial Officer
Franklin Covey Co.

Paul Walker
President & COO
Franklin Covey Co.
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Financial Highlights
August 31,
In thousands, except per-share data
Income Statement Data:
Net sales
Gross profit
Income (loss) from operations
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

$198,456
145,370
3,058
796
(10,231)
(9,435)

$225,356
159,314
2,655
592
(1,615)
(1,023)

$209,758
148,289
(3,366)
(5,520)
(367)
(5,887)

$185,256
122,667
(8,880)
(10,909)
3,737
(7,172)

$200,055
133,154
13,849
11,911
(4,895)
7,016

$

$

$

$

$

(.68)

(.07)

(.43)

(.52)

.47

Balance Sheet Data:
Total current assets
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Long-term obligations
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

$101,664
15,611
205,437
51,056
145,984
59,453

$119,340
10,039
224,913
46,690
142,899
82,014

$100,163
12,935
213,875
50,936
133,375
80,500

$ 91,835
16,005
210,731
53,158
125,666
85,065

$ 89,741
13,713
190,871
48,511
97,156
93,715

Cash flows from operating activities

$ 27,563

$ 30,452

$ 16,861

$ 17,357

$ 32,665
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
To Be Held January 22, 2021
FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Franklin Covey Co. (the Company), which
will be held on Friday, January 22, 2021 at 8:30 a.m., in the Hyrum W. Smith Auditorium, 2200 West Parkway
Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331 (the Annual Meeting), for the following purposes:
(i)

To elect eight directors to serve until the 2022 annual meeting of shareholders;

(ii) To hold an advisory vote on executive compensation;
(iii) To ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche, LLP as the Company’s independent registered public
accountants for fiscal 2021; and
(iv) To transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or at any adjournment or
postponement thereof.
Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting to be Held on
January 22, 2021. The proxy statement and annual report to shareholders are available at www.proxyvote.com.
The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on Monday, November 30, 2020 as the record date for the
determination of shareholders entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting and at any adjournment
or postponement thereof.
You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting in person. To ensure that your vote is counted at the
Annual Meeting, however, please vote as promptly as possible.
By Order of the Board of Directors,

Robert A. Whitman
Chairman of the Board of Directors
December 18, 2020

IMPORTANT
Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting in person, to assure that your shares will be
represented, please promptly complete your proxy. Your proxy will not be used if you are present at the
Annual Meeting and desire to vote your shares personally.
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Franklin Covey Co.
2200 West Parkway Boulevard
Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331

PROXY STATEMENT
Annual Meeting of Shareholders
January 22, 2021

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES
This Proxy Statement is being made available to the shareholders of Franklin Covey Co., a Utah corporation (us, our,
we, FranklinCovey, or the Company), in connection with the solicitation by the board of directors (the Board or Board
of Directors) of the Company of proxies from holders of outstanding shares of our Common Stock, $0.05 par value per
share (the Common Stock), for use at our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on Friday, January 22, 2021, at
8:30 a.m., in the Hyrum W. Smith Auditorium, 2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331, and at
any adjournment or postponement thereof. This Proxy Statement, the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and
the accompanying form of proxy are first being mailed to shareholders of the Company on or about December 18,
2020.

PURPOSE OF THE ANNUAL MEETING
Shareholders of the Company will consider and vote on the following proposals: (i) to elect eight directors to serve
until the next annual meeting; (ii) to hold an advisory vote on executive compensation; (iii) to ratify the appointment
of Deloitte & Touche LLP (Deloitte) as our independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ending
August 31, 2021; and (iv) to transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or at any
adjournment or postponement thereof.

COSTS OF SOLICITATION
We will bear all costs and expenses relating to the solicitation of proxies, including the costs of preparation, assembly,
printing, and mailing to shareholders this Proxy Statement and accompanying materials. In addition to the solicitation
of proxies by use of the mails, our directors, officers, and employees, without receiving additional compensation, may
solicit proxies personally or by telephone, facsimile, or electronic mail. Arrangements will be made with brokerage
firms and other custodians, nominees, and fiduciaries for the forwarding of solicitation materials to the beneficial
owners of the shares of Common Stock held by such persons, and we will reimburse such brokerage firms, custodians,
nominees, and fiduciaries for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in connection therewith.

INFORMATION ABOUT VOTING
Who can vote?
The only voting securities that we have outstanding are shares of our Common Stock. Our Board of Directors has
fixed the close of business on Monday, November 30, 2020 as the record date for determination of shareholders
entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting (the Record Date). Only shareholders of record at the close of
business on the Record Date are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. As of the Record Date, there were
14,025,413 shares of our Common Stock issued and outstanding. The holders of record of the shares of our Common
Stock on the Record Date are entitled to cast one vote per share on each matter submitted to a vote at the Annual
Meeting.
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What is the difference between a shareholder of record and a ‘‘street name’’ holder?
If your shares are registered directly in your name with Broadridge, our stock transfer agent, you are considered a
shareholder of record with respect to those shares. If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or
other nominee, you are considered the beneficial owner of those shares, but not the shareholder of record, and your
shares are held in ‘‘street name.’’ You are entitled to vote your shares whether you are the shareholder of record or you
hold the shares in street name.

How can you vote?
You may submit your proxy by mail, telephone, or the Internet. If you are submitting your proxy by mail, you should
complete, sign, and date your proxy card and return it in the envelope provided. Sign your name exactly as it appears
on the proxy card. If you plan to vote by telephone or the Internet, voting instructions are printed on your proxy card.
If you hold your shares through an account with a brokerage firm, bank, or other nominee, please follow the
instructions you receive from them to vote your shares. If you provide specific voting instructions, your shares will be
voted as you have instructed. Proxy cards submitted by mail must be received by our voting tabulator no later than
Thursday, January 21, 2021 to be voted at the Annual Meeting. You may also vote in person at the Annual Meeting.

What if I do not specify on my proxy card how I want my shares voted?
Shares of Common Stock which are entitled to be voted at the Annual Meeting and which are represented by properly
executed proxies will be voted in accordance with the instructions indicated on such proxies. If no instructions are
indicated, such shares will be voted (i) FOR the election of each of the eight director nominees (Proposal No. 1);
(ii) FOR the proposal regarding an advisory vote on executive compensation (Proposal No. 2); (iii) FOR the
ratification of the appointment of Deloitte as our independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ending
August 31, 2021 (Proposal No. 3); and in the discretion of the proxy holders as to any other matters as may properly
come before the Annual Meeting or at any adjournment or postponement thereof. It is not currently anticipated that
any other matters will be presented at the Annual Meeting.

How do I vote at the Annual Meeting?
You may vote in person by written ballot at the Annual Meeting. However, if your shares are held in street name, you
must bring a legal proxy or other proof from that broker, trust, bank, or other nominee of your beneficial ownership of
those shares as of the record date in order to vote at the Annual Meeting. If you vote by proxy and also attend the
Annual Meeting, you do not need to vote again at the Annual Meeting.

What are broker non-votes?
When a broker, bank, or other nominee has discretion to vote on one or more proposals at a meeting but does not
have discretion to vote on other matters at the meeting, the broker, bank, or other nominee will inform the inspector
of election that it does not have the authority to vote on the ‘‘non-discretionary’’ matters with respect to shares held
for beneficial owners which did not provide voting instructions with respect to the ‘‘non-discretionary’’ matters. This
situation is commonly referred to as a ‘‘broker non-vote.’’

If my shares are held in street name, will my broker, bank or other nominee vote my shares for me?
Generally no. If you hold your shares in street name and do not give voting instructions to your broker, bank, or other
nominee, then your broker, bank, or other nominee may only vote your shares with respect to ‘‘discretionary’’ matters,
but may not vote your shares with respect to ‘‘non-discretionary’’ matters. Each of our proposals, except for Proposal
No. 3, the ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm, are considered
‘‘non-discretionary’’ matters. As a result, if you hold your shares in street name, your broker, bank, or other nominee
will not have discretion to vote your shares at the Annual Meeting, except for Proposal No. 3, if you do not provide
voting instructions. Accordingly, it is important that street name holders give instructions to their broker, bank, or
other nominee by following the voting instructions received from their broker, banker, or other nominee.
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May I revoke my vote prior to the Annual Meeting?
Yes. A shareholder who has completed a proxy may revoke it at any time prior to its exercise at the Annual Meeting by
returning a proxy bearing a later date, by filing with the Secretary of the Company, at the address set forth below, a
written notice of revocation bearing a later date than the proxy being revoked, or by voting the Common Stock
covered thereby in person at the Annual Meeting.

What is a Quorum?
A quorum is the presence, in person or by proxy, of at least a majority of the shares of our Common Stock outstanding
as of the close of business on the Record Date. A quorum is necessary to transact business at the Annual Meeting.
Abstentions and ‘‘broker non-votes’’ will be included in determining the presence of a quorum at the Annual Meeting.
Holders of common stock will vote as a single class. If there are not sufficient shares represented for a quorum, then
the Annual Meeting may be adjourned or postponed from time to time until a quorum is established.

What Vote is Required for a Proposal to be Approved?
Subject to the paragraph below, the eight nominees receiving the highest number of affirmative votes of the shares
entitled to be voted for them, up to the eight directors to be elected by those shares, will be elected as directors to
serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualified.
Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on the election of directors.
Pursuant to the Company’s bylaws, any nominee for director who receives a greater number of votes ‘‘withheld’’ or
‘‘against’’ from his or her election than votes ‘‘for’’ his or her election shall immediately offer to tender his or her
resignation following certification of such shareholder vote. The Nominating and Governance Committee shall
promptly consider the director’s resignation offer and make a recommendation to the Board of Directors on whether
to accept or reject the offer. The Board of Directors shall act on the recommendation of the Nominating and
Governance Committee and publicly disclose its decision within 90 days following certification of the shareholder
vote.
Approval of Proposal No. 2, the advisory vote on executive compensation, requires that the number of votes cast in
favor of the proposal exceeds the number of votes cast in opposition. Abstentions and broker non-votes are not
considered votes cast for the foregoing purpose and will not have any effect on the outcome of this proposal.
The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte as our independent registered public accountants (Proposal No. 3)
requires that the number of votes cast in favor of the proposal exceeds the number of votes cast in opposition.
Abstentions and broker non-votes will not have any effect on the outcome of this proposal.

What are the Board’s voting recommendations?
The Board of Directors recommends that you vote ‘‘FOR’’ proposal nos. 1, 2, and 3, as further described in this Proxy
Statement.

The Company’s Principal Office and Main Telephone Number
Our principal executive offices are located at 2200 West Parkway Blvd., Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331 and our main
telephone number is (801) 817-1776.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Changes to our Board of Directors
We have a policy that members of our Board of Directors should retire from service at age 75 unless an extension is
specifically approved. As a result of this policy, Ms. Kay Stepp will not be nominated for election as a director at our
January 2021 Annual Meeting. Ms. Stepp has served for nearly 24 years on our Board of Directors and has chaired our
Organization and Compensation Committee for much of her time on the Board. The Company wishes to express its
sincere appreciation to Ms. Stepp for her insight, leadership, and expertise during her years of dedicated service on
our Board of Directors. During fiscal 2020, the Board of Directors approved an extension for Mr. Dennis G. Heiner,
our Lead Independent Director.
In January 2020, Dr. Clayton Christensen, who was a member of our Board of Directors, passed away. The Company
wishes to express its appreciation to Dr. Christensen and his family for his contributions to our Board and to the
strategic direction of Franklin Covey Co.

Nominees for Election to the Board of Directors
Our Board currently consists of nine directors, seven of whom are currently considered independent. Ms. Kay Stepp is
one of those independent directors. Following the 2021 Annual Meeting, and Ms. Stepp’s retirement from the Board,
we expect to have six independent directors. Nominees for election to the board of directors shall be elected to serve
until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors shall have been elected and qualified or until
such director’s earlier death, resignation, or removal. At the Annual Meeting, proxies cannot be voted for a greater
number of individuals than the eight nominees named in this Proxy Statement.
Our directors have significant experience with our business and are familiar with the risks and competition we face,
which allow them to participate actively and effectively in Board and committee discussions and deliberations. Our
directors meet and speak frequently with each other and with members of our senior management team. These formal
meetings and informal discussions occur based on the needs of our business and the market environment.
The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee of the Board (the Nominating Committee) and the Board
believe the skills, qualities, attributes, and experiences of its directors provide the Company with the business acumen
and range of perspectives to engage each other and management to effectively address our evolving needs and
represent the best interests of our shareholders. In addition, the Board firmly believes that the experience, attributes,
and skills of any single director should not be viewed in isolation, but rather in the context of the experience,
attributes, and skills that all director nominees bring to the Board as a whole, each of whom contributes to the
function of an effective Board. We believe each of the nominees listed below bring extensive experience across a
variety of disciplines that provides valuable breadth and depth to our Board. The biographies below describe the skills,
qualities, attributes, and experiences of each of the nominees that led the Board to determine that it is appropriate to
nominate these directors for election.
Anne H. Chow, 54
Independent Director
Director Since: March 2016
Committees: Member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee,
Organization and Compensation Committee, and Growth and Innovations Committee
Other Directorships: None
Ms. Chow is currently the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of AT&T Business at AT&T. As
CEO of AT&T Business, Anne is responsible for the company’s operating unit which serves
nearly 3 million business customers in more than 200 countries and territories around the
world, including nearly all of the world’s Fortune 1000 companies. Ms. Chow’s
responsibilities include all of AT&T’s business services across wireless, networking,
cybersecurity, and advanced solutions, covering more than $35 billion in revenues. Since
2000, Ms. Chow has held a variety of leadership positions at AT&T, including Senior Vice
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President – Global Solutions and Sales Operations and Senior Vice President – Premier
Client Group. With decades of experience in the industry, Ms. Chow has led many global
organizations through major transformations, developing and executing innovative growth
strategies while building role model relationships. Anne is passionate about education,
diversity and inclusion, advancing women in technology, and cultivating next generation
leaders.
A long standing, active member of the community, Anne has previously served on the
boards of the AT&T Foundation, Hunterdon Healthcare System, New Jersey Chamber of
Commerce, Asian and Pacific Islander American Scholarship Fund, Asian American
Justice Center, the Joint Center for Political and Economic Studies, and the Girl Scouts of
the USA. Ms. Chow currently serves as co-chair of the Georgia Tech Parents Board, and is
a member of the Georgia Tech President’s Advisory Board.
Ms. Chow holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration with Distinction from The
Johnson School at Cornell University, as well as a Bachelor of Science Degree and Masters
of Engineering Degree in Electrical Engineering from Cornell University. Anne is also a
graduate of the Pre-College Division of the Juilliard School of Music.
Director Qualifications: The Company believes that Ms. Chow’s strong sales and
enterprise relationship background as well as her extensive distribution and global
leadership experience provide valuable insight and skills to our Board of Directors.
Ms. Chow’s significant involvement with various other entities throughout her career
provides her with wide-ranging perspective and experience in the areas of management,
operations, finance, and marketing.
Michael Fung, 70
Independent Director
Director Since: July 2012
Committees: Chair of the Audit Committee and a member of all other standing committees
Other Directorships: 99 Cents Only Stores LLC, and Floor and Décor Holdings, Inc.
Mr. Fung served as the interim Chief Financial Officer for JC Penney Co. from October
2018 through April 2019 and as the interim Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial
Officer for the Neiman Marcus Group from November 2016 through June 2017. Prior to
these appointments, Michael retired from Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. in 2012, after 11 years of
service. Mr. Fung was the Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of Wal-Mart
U.S., a position he held from 2006 through his retirement in February 2012. From 2001 to
2003, Mr. Fung served as Vice President of Finance and Administration for Global
Procurement and was promoted in 2003 to Senior Vice President and Chief Audit
Executive. In his previous roles with Wal-Mart, Michael was responsible for U.S. finance
operations, including strategy, merchandising, logistics, real estate, operations, professional
services, and financial planning and analysis. Prior to his experience at Wal-Mart, Mr. Fung
held financial leadership positions at Universal Foods Corporation, Vanstar Corporation,
Bass Pro Shops, Inc., and Beatrice Company. Michael received his bachelor’s degree in
accounting from the University of Illinois and an MBA from the University of Chicago.
Mr. Fung is a Certified Public Accountant (inactive) in the state of Illinois, a member of
The Committee of 100, and the University of Illinois Foundation. Michael is on the
advisory board of AArete, LLC, and a Board Leadership Fellow with the National
Association of Corporate Directors.
Director Qualifications: Mr. Fung’s extensive financial background and expertise, as well
as international leadership experience, provides him with wide-ranging knowledge and
experience. His professional involvement in various capacities during his career enabled
Mr. Fung to gain experience in many areas including auditing, internal control, financial
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planning, organizational development, strategic planning, and corporate governance.
Michael’s substantial financial knowledge and leadership experience qualify him to be an
audit committee financial expert and enable him to make valuable contributions to our
Board of Directors and on the Audit Committee.
Dennis G. Heiner, 77
Lead Independent Director
Director Since: January 1997
Committees: Chair of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee and member
of all other standing committees
Other Directorships: None
Mr. Heiner was appointed as a director of the Company in January 1997 and has served on
various committees during his tenure on our Board of Directors. Mr. Heiner served from
1999 to 2004 as President and Chief Executive Officer of Werner Holding Co., a leading
manufacturer of climbing products and aluminum extrusions. Prior to joining Werner, he
was employed by Black & Decker Corporation from 1985 to 1999 where he served for
6 years as Senior Vice President and President Worldwide Small Electric Appliances, and
later as Executive Vice President and President of the Hardware and Home Improvement
Group, a world leader in residential door hardware and plumbing fixtures. From 1979 to
1985, Mr. Heiner was employed by Beatrice Foods where he served as a Division President.
From 1972 to 1979, Dennis was employed by Conroy Inc., a manufacturer of recreational
vehicles, where he held the positions of Director of Marketing and Vice President of
Finance and International Marketing. Mr. Heiner has also served on several other boards
including Rayteck, Shell Oil’s AERA Board, and Werner Holdings. Mr. Heiner received his
Bachelor of Arts degree from Weber State University and his MBA degree from Brigham
Young University. He also completed executive programs at Northwestern’s Kellogg School
of Management and the Harvard Business School.
Director Qualifications: Mr. Heiner brings to the Board of Directors chief executive
leadership and business management experience, as well as strong operational knowledge
and expertise. Mr. Heiner’s broad industry experience, including previous roles in
leadership, finance, and marketing, provides the Board of Directors with valuable
contributions in the areas of management, strategy, leadership, governance, growth, and
long-term planning. Mr. Heiner’s executive leadership experience and strong business
background enable him to provide independent leadership on the Board of Directors in his
role as Lead Independent Director. Dennis also makes important contributions to our
Company in the areas of board and business leadership development and succession
planning.
Donald J. McNamara, 67
Independent Director
Director Since: June 1999
Committees: None
Other Directorships: Crow Holdings and A&O Hotels & Hostels
Mr. McNamara is the founder of The Hampstead Group LLC, a private equity investor
based in Dallas, Texas, and has served as its Chairman since its inception in 1989. He has
over 35 years of successful investment experience, including Bass Brothers Enterprises,
Marriott Corporation, and JMB Realty. Mr. McNamara currently serves as a Senior
Advisor to TPG’s real estate platform, which includes $8 billion of assets collectively in its
equity and debt platforms. Mr. McNamara received an undergraduate degree in
architecture from Virginia Tech in 1976 and an MBA from Harvard University in 1978.
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Director Qualifications: Mr. McNamara’s experience in private equity provides him with
considerable expertise in financial and strategic matters. This expertise enables him to
make valuable contributions to the Company in the areas of raising capital, capital
deployment, acquisitions and dispositions, and other major financial decisions. Don’s
involvement with other entities throughout his career provides him with wide-ranging
perspective and experience in the areas of management, operations, and strategy. In
addition, Mr. McNamara has a meaningful understanding of our operations having served
on our Board of Directors for over 20 years, enabling him to make contributions to our
strategy, innovation, and long-range plans.
Joel C. Peterson, 73
Director
Director Since: May 1997
Committees: None
Other Directorships: Packsize
Mr. Peterson has been on the faculty of the Graduate School of Business at Stanford
University since 1992, teaching courses in real estate investment, entrepreneurship, and
leadership. Joel is the former Chairman of the Board of Overseers at the Hoover Institution
at Stanford, former Chairman of the Board of JetBlue Airways, and is the Founding Partner
and Chairman of Peterson Partners, a Salt Lake City-based investment management firm
which has invested in over 200 companies through 13 funds in four primary asset classes:
growth-oriented private equity, venture capital, real estate, and search funds. Prior to
Stanford Business School and founding Peterson Partners, Mr. Peterson was Chief
Executive Officer of Trammell Crow Company, then the world’s largest private commercial
real estate development firm. Mr. Peterson earned an MBA from Harvard University and
received his bachelor’s degree from Brigham Young University.
Director Qualifications: Mr. Peterson brings chief executive leadership, extensive
financial experience, and strong academic skills to our Board of Directors. Mr. Peterson’s
roles in executive leadership, financial management, and private equity enable him to make
key contributions in the areas of leadership, raising capital, capital deployment, strategy,
operations, and growth. His experience with Peterson Partners and teaching courses on
entrepreneurship adds valuable knowledge in growth and long-term strategic planning as
well as accessing and deploying capital. Joel also has a deep understanding of the
Company’s operations and background with over 20 years of experience on our Board of
Directors. Further, prior to the FranklinCovey merger, Mr. Peterson served as a director of
Covey Leadership Center from 1993 to 1997.
Nancy Phillips, 53
Independent Director
Director Since: May 2020
Committees: Member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee and
Organization and Compensation Committee
Other Directorships: None
Ms. Nancy Phillips was appointed to our Board of Directors on May 19, 2020. Since
December 2019, Ms. Phillips has served as Executive Vice President, Chief People Officer,
at ViacomCBS, overseeing the combined company’s global human resources organization.
Nancy is responsible for driving ViacomCBS’s human resources strategy and delivering
global programs to create a positive employee experience and a culture of high
performance. Ms. Phillips also oversees the company’s Human Resource (HR) business
partners, talent acquisition, organizational effectiveness, learning and development, total
rewards, people analytics, HR operations, and global security.
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Ms. Phillips previously served as the Executive Vice President, Chief Human Resources
Officer at Nielsen from January 2017 to December 2019, as well as on the Nielsen
Foundation’s Board of Directors. Under her leadership, Nielsen was ranked No. 2 on
Forbes’ ‘‘Employers for Diversity’’ list and received multiple ‘‘Great Place to Work’’ awards
globally.
Prior to joining Nielsen, Nancy was Chief Human Resources Officer of Broadcom during
2015 and 2016 prior to its sale to Avago Technologies, the largest technology deal in history
at that time. Before joining Broadcom, from 2010 to 2014, she led the HR organization for
Hewlett Packard’s Imaging and Printing Group, as well as the HP’s Enterprise Services
business group, a global organization with more than 120,000 employees. Prior to her
experience at HP, Ms. Phillips served as Executive Vice President and Chief Human
Resources Officer for Fifth Third Bancorp, a diversified financial services company with
$133 billion in assets from 2008 to 2010. Nancy also spent 11 years with the General
Electric Company serving in a variety of HR leadership roles.
Nancy is active in a range of professional associations, and in 2006 received a YWCA
TWIN (Tribute to Women) award in Silicon Valley for her commitment to diversity and
inclusion. A member of the Florida Bar, she began her professional career as an attorney.
Ms. Phillips earned a B.A. in English from the University of Delaware and a J.D. from
Samford University in Birmingham, Alabama. During fiscal 2020, the Company engaged an
independent placement firm to identify potential candidates for our Board. Ms. Phillips
was recommended by the independent placement firm.
Director Qualifications: Ms. Phillips’ extensive experience in human resource
management provides our Board with expertise in human capital management and
compensation, which provides her with the knowledge to serve effectively on our
Organization and Compensation and Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committees. Nancy’s legal background provides additional insight and expertise to
regulatory and other potentially complex human resource matters.
Derek C.M. van Bever, 63
Independent Director
Director Since: September 2019
Committees: Chair of the Growth and Innovations Committee and member of the Audit
Committee
Other Directorships: None
Mr. van Bever is a Senior Lecturer of Business Administration in the General Management
Unit at the Harvard Business School and is a director of the Forum for Growth and
Innovation. Derek teaches courses in the Harvard MBA program, including Building and
Sustaining a Successful Enterprise, and Leadership and Corporate Accountability. Mr. van
Bever is co-chair of Harvard’s Executive Education course in Disruptive Innovation and is
co-director of the Harvard Macy Institute’s Leading Innovation in Health Care and
Education course.
In 1983, Derek co-founded The Advisory Board Company, a global research, consulting,
and technology firm serving hospital and university executives, and was chief research
officer of The Corporate Executive Board, the world’s largest executive advisory network.
Mr. van Bever’s research interests include the challenges facing leading companies seeking
discontinuous renewal through market-creating innovation, as well as the new models for
uniting faith, leadership, and corporate mission that are emerging in the economy. With
his colleague Matthew S. Olsen, Derek is co-author of the book, Stall Points (Yale
University Press, 2008), a quantitative and qualitative analysis of the growth experience of
companies in the Fortune 100 across the past half-century. A 2008 Harvard Business
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Review article authored by Mr. van Bever on the book entitled When Growth Stalls won the
McKinsey Award for that year.
Derek received his Masters of Business Administration from the Harvard Business School
in 1988, and is a 2011 graduate of Harvard Divinity School (HDS). Mr. van Bever is a
member of the HDS Dean’s Council and recently received the 2019 Dean’s Leadership
Award for his leadership in the school’s strategic planning efforts around its 2016
bicentennial.
Director Qualifications: Mr. van Bever brings experience in thought leadership and
expertise in business growth, innovation, subscription businesses, and strategy to our
Board of Directors. In his role as chief research officer for The Corporate Executive Board,
Derek directed teams studying best practices in strategy, innovation, talent management,
finance, and governance in the large-corporate sector worldwide. The Company believes
Mr. van Bever’s experience, thought leadership, and research abilities make him a valuable
addition to its Board of Directors.
Robert A. Whitman, 67
Chair of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
Director Since: May 1997
Committees: None
Other Directorships: Greystar Real Estate
Mr. Whitman has served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors since June 1999 and as
our Chief Executive Officer since January 2000. Mr. Whitman previously served as a
director of the Covey Leadership Center from 1994 to 1997. Prior to joining us,
Mr. Whitman served as President and Co-Chief Executive Officer of The Hampstead
Group LLC from 1992 to 2000 and is a founding partner at Whitman Peterson. Bob
received his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Finance from the University of Utah and his MBA
from the Harvard Business School.
Director Qualifications: Mr. Whitman’s leadership experience as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and his in-depth knowledge of our strategic priorities and
operations enable him to provide valuable contributions and facilitate effective
communication between management and the Board of Directors. Mr. Whitman’s role as
Chief Executive Officer also enables him to provide important contributions to
strengthening our leadership, operations, strategy, growth and long-range plans.
Mr. Whitman’s extensive experience in finance, private-equity investing, and leadership
also provides him with the knowledge to make valuable contributions to the Board of
Directors in the areas of finance, raising capital, and capital deployment.
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Corporate Governance
Franklin Covey upholds a set of basic values and principles to guide our actions, and we are committed to maintaining
the highest standards of business conduct and corporate governance. Our emphasis on corporate governance begins
at the top, with our directors, who are elected by, and are accountable to you, our shareholders. This commitment to
governance extends to our management team and to all of our employees. We have adopted a Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics for our directors, officers, and senior financial officers that include the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer (CFO), and other members of our financial leadership team. The Corporate Governance
Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are available on our website at www.franklincovey.com. In
addition, each of the Corporate Governance Guidelines and the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are available in
print free of charge to any shareholder by making a written request to Investor Relations, Franklin Covey Co.,
2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to
all directors, officers, and employees of Franklin Covey.
A feature of our corporate governance is that our standing committees are comprised of independent directors, as
discussed below. We believe this structure allows for a collective focus by a majority of our independent directors on
the various complex matters that come before Board committees. The overlap inherent in this structure assists these
independent directors in the execution of their responsibilities.

Board Oversight
Our Board is responsible for and committed to the independent oversight of the business and affairs of our Company,
including financial performance, CEO performance, succession planning, strategy, risk management, compensation,
growth, and innovations. In carrying out this responsibility, the Board advises our CEO and other members of our
senior management team to help drive success for our clients and long-term value creation for our shareholders.

Affirmative Determination Regarding Board Independence
The Board of Directors has determined each of the following directors to be an ‘‘independent director’’ under the
listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE): Anne H. Chow, Michael Fung, Dennis G. Heiner, Donald J.
McNamara, Nancy Phillips, E. Kay Stepp, and Derek van Bever. As described above, Ms. Stepp has not been
nominated for election as a director at our January 2021 Annual Meeting.
The Company has engaged Ms. Anne H. Chow to deliver keynote addresses to clients and prospective clients on its
behalf. Ms. Chow will receive compensation for the speeches that she delivers. The Board of Directors has reviewed
the nature and amounts of expected compensation from these addresses and has determined that Ms. Chow will
remain an independent director.
In assessing the independence of the directors, the Board of Directors determines whether or not any director has a
material relationship with us (either directly, or as a partner, shareholder, or officer of an organization that has a
relationship with us). The Board of Directors considers all relevant facts and circumstances in making independence
determinations, including the director independence standards adopted by the Board of Directors and the existence of
related-party transactions as described in the section entitled ‘‘Certain Relationships and Related Transactions’’ found
in this report.

Board Leadership Structure
Under our current leadership structure, we have a combined position of Chairman and CEO and an independent
director serving as Lead Independent Director. The Board of Directors does not have a policy on whether the roles of
Chairman and CEO should be separate or combined. Our Board assesses these roles and deliberates the merits of its
leadership structure to ensure that the most efficient and appropriate structure is in place. The Board of Directors has
determined that if the Chairman is not an independent director, then there should be a Lead Independent Director.
Our Board believes that combining the roles of Chairman and CEO is currently the most effective leadership structure
for our Company. Combining these roles ensures that our Company has a single leader who speaks with one voice to
our shareholders, clients, employees, regulators, other stakeholders, and to the broader public. Our current CEO,
Mr. Whitman, has significant knowledge of, and experience in, our business, industry, operations, and risks, which
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affords him the insight necessary to guide discussions at Board meetings. Mr. Whitman also provides our Board with
updates on significant business developments and other time-sensitive matters. Ultimately, we believe that our current
leadership structure, combined with strong governance practices, creates a productive relationship between our Board
and management, including strong independent oversight that benefits our shareholders.
As CEO, Mr. Whitman is directly accountable to our Board and, through our Board, to our shareholders. His role as
Chairman is both counterbalanced and enhanced by the overall independence of the Board and independent
leadership provided by our Lead Independent Director, Mr. Heiner. Mr. Heiner, as Chair of our Nominating
Committee, was designated as the Lead Independent Director by our Board. Our independent directors may elect
another independent director as Lead Independent Director at any time. Mr. Whitman and Mr. Heiner meet and
speak frequently regarding our Board and our Company.

The Board of Director’s Role in Risk Management Oversight
The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors has responsibility for the oversight of risk management, while our
management team is responsible for the day-to-day risk management process. With the oversight of the Board of
Directors, management has developed an enterprise risk management strategy, whereby management identifies the
top individual risks that we face with respect to our business, operations, strategy, and other factors that were
recognized after discussions with key business and functional leaders and reviews of external information. In addition
to evaluating various key risks, management identifies ways to manage and mitigate such risks. During fiscal 2020, our
management met regularly with the Audit Committee to discuss the identified risks and the efforts that are designed
to mitigate and manage these risks. These risks are allocated to the various committees of the Board of Directors to
allow the committees to examine a particular risk in detail and assess its potential impact to our operations. For
example, the Audit Committee reviews compliance and risk management processes and practices related to
accounting and financial reporting matters; the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee reviews the risks
related to succession planning and the independence of the Board of Directors; and the Organization and
Compensation Committee reviews the risks related to our various compensation plans. In the event that a committee
is allocated responsibility for examining and analyzing a specific risk, such committee reports on the relevant risk
exposure during its regular reports to the entire Board of Directors.
As part of its responsibilities, the Organization and Compensation Committee periodically reviews our compensation
policies and programs to ensure that the compensation programs offer appropriate performance incentives for
employees, including executive officers, while mitigating excessive risk taking. We believe that our various
compensation programs contain provisions that discourage excessive risk taking. These provisions include:
•

An appropriate balance between annual cash compensation and equity compensation that may be earned over
several years.

•

Metrics that are weighted between the achievement of overall financial goals and individual objectives.

•

Stock ownership guidelines that encourage executive officers to accumulate meaningful levels of equity
ownership, which align the interests of executives with those of long-term shareholders.

Based on a review of the nature of our operations by the Organization and Compensation Committee, we do not
believe that any areas of the Company are incented to take excessive risks that would likely have a material adverse
effect on our operations.

BOARD OF DIRECTOR COMMITTEES AND MEETINGS
Our Board has three standing committees: Audit, Corporate Governance and Nominating (the Nominating
Committee), and Organization and Compensation (the Compensation Committee). The specific membership of each
committee allows us to take advantage of our directors’ diverse skill sets, which enables deep focus on relevant
committee matters.
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The following table shows the current membership of each of our standing committees.
Director

Audit

Anne H. Chow

Nominating

Compensation

—

Michael Fung
Dennis G. Heiner
Donald J. McNamara

—

—

—

Joel C. Peterson

—

—

—

Nancy Phillips

—

—

—

—

—

E. Kay Stepp
Derek van Bever
Robert A. Whitman

—

Committee Chairperson
Committee Member

The Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for each of the standing committees, which are reviewed
annually. These charters are available on our website at www.franklincovey.com. Shareholders may obtain a printed
copy of any of these charters free of charge by making a written request to Investor Relations, Franklin Covey Co.,
2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee functions on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). The Audit Committee’s primary functions are to:
•

assist our Board in its oversight of our financial statements, legal and regulatory compliance, independent
auditors’ qualification, independence, internal audit function performance, and internal controls over financial
reporting;

•

decide whether to appoint, retain, or terminate our independent auditors;

•

pre-approve all audit, audit-related, tax, and other services, if any, to be provided by the independent auditors;
and

•

prepare the Audit Committee Report.

The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Fung, and each of the members of the Audit Committee is independent as
described under NYSE rules and meets the enhanced independence standards established by Rule 10A-3 promulgated
under the Exchange Act. The Board of Directors has determined that one of the Audit Committee members, Michael
Fung, is an ‘‘audit committee financial expert’’ as defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

The Nominating Committee
The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is chaired by Mr. Heiner. The primary purposes of the
Nominating Committee are to:
•

recommend individuals for nomination, election, or appointment as members of our Board and its committees;

•

oversee the evaluation of the performance of our Board, its committees, and our management;
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•

ensure that our committees are comprised of qualified and experienced independent directors;

•

review and concur in the succession plans for our CEO and other members of senior management; and

•

take a leadership role in shaping our corporate governance, including developing, recommending to the Board,
and reviewing on an ongoing basis the corporate governance principles and practices that apply to our Company.

In carrying out the responsibilities of the Nominating Committee, Mr. Heiner frequently met or had discussions with
our CEO during the fiscal year. All of the members of the Nominating Committee are ‘‘independent’’ as defined under
NYSE rules.

The Organization and Compensation Committee
We are in a business that relies heavily on our people for a competitive advantage. As a result, our Organization and
Compensation Committee plays a pivotal role in enabling us to attract and retain the best talent for the growth and
strategic needs of our Company. Whenever possible, our goal is to be in a position to appoint people from within our
Company to our most senior leadership positions, and our executive compensation program is intended to incentivize
our people to stay at Franklin Covey and to aspire to these senior roles.
The Compensation Committee is currently chaired by Ms. Stepp and regularly met without any employees present to
discuss executive compensation matters, including Mr. Whitman’s compensation package, during fiscal 2020. As
previously described, Ms. Stepp is not nominated for election at the 2021 Annual Meeting and we will appoint a new
chair of the Compensation Committee following the end of Ms. Stepp’s term. The primary functions of the
Compensation Committee are to:
•

determine and approve the compensation of our CEO and other executive officers;

•

review and make recommendations to the Board for any incentive compensation and equity-based plans that are
subject to Board approval;

•

assist our Board in its oversight of the development, implementation, and effectiveness of our policies and
strategies relating to our human capital management, including recruiting, retention, career development and
progression, diversity, and employment practices;

•

review management development plans and succession plans to ensure business continuity (other than that
within the purview of the Nominating Committee);

•

provide risk oversight of all Company compensation plans;

•

review periodically the form and amount of non-employee director compensation and make recommendations to
our Board with respect thereto; and

•

prepare the Compensation Committee Report.

All of the Compensation Committee members are ‘‘independent’’ as defined under the NYSE enhanced independence
standards. As described below in ‘‘Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation’’ and ‘‘Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions,’’ none of the Compensation Committee members had any material business
relationships with the Company, other than the share repurchase transaction with Ms. Stepp described under ‘‘Related
Party Transactions’’ below.
The Compensation Committee administers all elements of our executive compensation program, including our
stock-based long-term incentive plans. In consultation with the Compensation Committee, Mr. Whitman annually
reviews and establishes compensation for the other Named Executive Officers. The Compensation Committee
regularly reports to the full Board on decisions related to the executive compensation program.
Compensation Consultants
Our Compensation Committee recognizes the importance of using an independent compensation consulting firm
that is appropriately qualified and that provides services to our Board. During fiscal 2020, the Compensation
Committee engaged and received the advice of Mercer as compensation consultants. Mercer provided information to
the Compensation Committee regarding stock-based compensation plans, executive compensation, and director
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compensation that were used as components of the overall mix of information used to evaluate our compensation
plans. Our Compensation Committee reviewed its relationship with Mercer and determined that its work does not
raise any conflicts of interest and that Mercer was independent under the factors set forth in the NYSE rules for
compensation committee advisors. Further information regarding the role of these compensation consultants can be
found in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
No member of the Compensation Committee was or is an officer or employee of the Company or any of our
subsidiaries.

Growth and Innovations Committee
Our Board of Directors has established a supplemental Growth and Innovations Committee to leverage the skills and
abilities of our Directors to achieve specific objectives. The Growth and Innovations Committee does not have a
charter and is not required by Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules or Company bylaws. Our Growth and
Innovations Committee is designed to: 1) assist our management with strategic guidance over growth initiatives and
the execution of these initiatives to drive increased sales and shareholder return; and 2) provide strategic direction in
our efforts to expand our content and offerings into areas that will provide meaningful results for clients and new
growth opportunities.
Mr. van Bever is the Chair of the Growth and Innovations Committee and is joined by Ms. Chow and Ms. Phillips as
members of this committee. We believe the experience and skills of these directors will provide valuable strategic
direction to the Company’s ongoing growth and innovation objectives.

Commitment of our Directors
Our Board and its standing committees met regularly during fiscal 2020 as shown below.
Board
Audit
Nominating
Compensation

Meetings
4
8
4
6

In addition to the formal meetings shown above, our Board regularly participated in informal update calls with
members of our executive management as necessary throughout fiscal 2020.
Our Lead Independent Director plays an active role on our Board of Directors. Mr. Heiner reviews the agenda,
schedule, and materials for each Board and Nominating Committee meeting and presides over executive sessions of
the independent directors. Any independent director may call for an executive session and suggest agenda items for
Board or committee meetings.
All of the members of our Board of Directors were able to attend at least 75 percent of the Board and committee
meetings for which they were entitled to participate. Although we encourage Board members to attend our Annual
Meeting, we do not have a formal policy regarding director attendance at our annual shareholder meetings. Eight
members of our Board of Directors attended our most recent annual meeting of shareholders, which was held in
January 2020.

Director Nomination Process
As indicated above, the Nominating Committee oversees the director nomination process. The Nominating
Committee is responsible for identifying and evaluating candidates for membership on the Board of Directors and
recommending to the Board of Directors nominees to stand for election. Each candidate to serve on the Board of
Directors must be able to fulfill the responsibilities for directors set out in the Corporate Governance Guidelines
approved by the Board of Directors. These Corporate Governance Guidelines may be found on our website at
www.franklincovey.com. In addition to the qualifications set forth in the Corporate Governance Guidelines, nominees
for director will be selected on the basis of such attributes as their integrity, experience, achievements, judgment,
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intelligence, personal character, ability to make independent analytical inquiries, willingness to devote adequate time
to Board duties, and the likelihood that he or she will be able to serve on the Board for a sustained period. In
connection with the selection of nominees for director, consideration will be given to the Board’s overall balance of
diversity of perspectives, backgrounds, and experiences. We believe it is important to have an appropriate mix of
diversity for the optimal functionality of the Board of Directors. Although we do not have a formal diversity policy
relating to the identification and evaluation of nominees for director, the Nominating Committee considers all of the
criteria described above in identifying and selecting nominees and in the future may establish additional minimum
criteria for nominees.
Although not an automatically disqualifying factor, the inability of a director candidate to meet independence
standards of the NYSE will weigh negatively in any assessment of a candidate’s suitability.
The Nominating Committee intends to use a variety of means of identifying nominees for director, including outside
search firms, recommendations from current Board members, and recommendations from shareholders. In
determining whether to nominate a candidate, the Nominating Committee will consider the current composition and
capabilities of serving Board members, as well as additional capabilities considered necessary or desirable in light of
existing Company needs and then assess the need for new or additional members to provide those capabilities.
Unless well known to one or more members of the Nominating Committee, normally at least one member of the
Nominating Committee will interview a prospective candidate who is identified as having high potential to satisfy the
expectations, requirements, qualities, and capabilities for Board membership.

Shareholder Nominations
The Nominating Committee, will consider, but shall not be required to nominate, candidates recommended by our
shareholders who beneficially own at the time of the recommendation not less than one percent of our outstanding
stock (Qualifying Shareholders).
Generally speaking, the manner in which the Nominating Committee evaluates nominees for director recommended
by a Qualifying Shareholder will be the same as for nominees from other nominating sources. However, the
Nominating Committee will seek and consider information concerning the relationship between a Qualifying
Shareholder’s nominee and that Qualifying Shareholder to determine whether the nominee can effectively represent
the interests of all shareholders.
Qualifying Shareholders wishing to make recommendations to the Nominating Committee for its consideration may
do so by submitting a written recommendation, including detailed information on the proposed candidate, including
education, professional experience, and expertise, via mail addressed as follows:
Franklin Covey Co.
c/o Stephen D. Young, Corporate Secretary
2200 West Parkway Boulevard
Salt Lake City, UT 84119-2331

Communications with Directors
Shareholders or other interested parties wishing to communicate directly with the Board of Directors or the
non-management directors as a group, may contact the Lead Independent Director directly via e-mail at
lead.director@franklincovey.com. Our audit committee chairman may also be contacted directly via e-mail at
audit.committee@franklincovey.com. You may also contact members of the Board in writing by addressing the
correspondence to that individual or group, c/o Stephen D. Young, Corporate Secretary, Franklin Covey Co.,
2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331. All such written communications will initially be
received and processed by the office of the Corporate Secretary. Depending on the nature of the correspondence, the
Secretary or Assistant Secretary will initially review such correspondence and either (i) immediately forward the
correspondence to the indicated director and to the Chair of the Nominating Committee, or (ii) hold for review
during the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors.
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Fiscal 2020 Director Compensation
Director compensation is set by the Organization and Compensation Committee and approved by the Board of
Directors. Our management does not play a role in setting Board compensation. We compensate members of the
Board of Directors using a combination of cash and equity-based compensation. Robert A. Whitman, our Chairman
of the Board of Directors and CEO, does not currently receive compensation for his service as a director. The
compensation received by Mr. Whitman for his role as Chairman and CEO is shown in the Fiscal 2020 Summary
Compensation Table, contained in the ‘‘Executive Compensation’’ section of this proxy statement.
During fiscal 2020, the other directors were paid the following amounts for services provided:
Compensation Element
Annual restricted stock award
Annual cash retainer
Committee retainer, paid for service on each committee
Lead independent director annual retainer
Audit committee chair annual retainer
Compensation committee chair annual retainer
Nominating committee chair annual retainer

Amount
$100,000
40,000
10,000
30,000
15,000
10,000
5,000

We reimbursed the Directors for their out-of-pocket travel and related expenses incurred while attending Board and
committee meetings.

Fiscal 2020 Director Compensation Table
A

Name
Anne H. Chow
Clayton M. Christensen(1)
Michael Fung
Dennis G. Heiner
Donald J. McNamara
Joel C. Peterson
Nancy Phillips(2)
E. Kay Stepp
Derek C.M. van Bever

B
Fees
earned
or
paid
in cash
($)
73,750
20,000
85,000
105,000
40,000
40,000
17,500
80,000
61,250

C

D

E

F
G
Change in
pension value
Non-Equity
and nonqualified
Stock Option Incentive Plan deferred compensation All other
awards Awards Compensation
earnings
Comp
($)
($)
($)
($)
($)
100,000
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
100,000
—
—
—
—
100,000
—
—
—
—
100,000
—
—
—
—
100,000
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
100,000
—
—
—
—
100,000
—
—
—
—

H

Total
($)
173,750
20,000
185,000
205,000
140,000
140,000
17,500
180,000
161,250

Amounts reported in column C represent the fair value of stock-based compensation granted to each non-employee
member of the Board of Directors. All Board of Director restricted stock awards are made annually in January
following the Annual Meeting and have one-year vesting terms. In January 2020, each non-employee member of the
Board received a restricted stock award of 3,060 shares that had a fair value of $100,000. The fair value of the stock
awards presented in column C was based on a share price of $32.68 per share, which was the closing price of our
common stock on the date that the award was granted. At August 31, 2020, the directors held a total of 21,420 shares
of restricted stock. For further information on the calculation used to value the stock awards presented in Column C,
refer to Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2020 as filed with the SEC on November 16, 2020.
(1)

Dr. Clayton Christensen passed away in January 2020 and therefore only served for part of the fiscal year on our
Board of Directors.

(2)

Ms. Nancy Phillips was appointed to our Board of Directors on May 19, 2020.
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Fiscal 2021 Director Compensation
There are no anticipated changes to fiscal 2021 director compensation from amounts previously described.

PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF VOTING SECURITIES
The following table sets forth information as of November 30, 2020, with respect to the beneficial ownership of shares
of Common Stock by each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of our Common
Stock, by each director, by our executive officers, and by all directors and officers as a group. Unless noted otherwise,
each person named has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares indicated. In computing the
number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by a person or entity and the percentage ownership of that
person or entity, we deemed outstanding shares of Common Stock subject to options held by that person or entity
that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of November 30, 2020. We did not deem these shares
outstanding, however, for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person or entity. The
percentages set forth below have been computed without taking into account treasury shares held by us and are based
on 14,025,413 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of November 30, 2020. At the date of this report, there were no
shares of Series A or B Preferred Stock outstanding.

As of November 30, 2020
Blackrock, Inc.(1)
55 East 52nd Street
New York, NY 10055
Robert A. Whitman(2)
Donald J. McNamara(3)(4)
Joel C. Peterson(3)
M. Sean Covey
Stephen D. Young
Dennis G. Heiner(3)
Michael Fung(3)
Colleen Dom
C. Todd Davis
Paul S. Walker
Scott J. Miller
E. Kay Stepp(3)
Anne H. Chow(3)
Derek C.M. van Bever(3)
Nancy Phillips
All directors and executive officers as a group (15 persons)(2)(3)

Number of
Common
Shares

Percentage of
Class

1,272,206
714,990
435,969
227,369
200,634
190,789
69,872
37,293
29,113
23,318
22,467
18,157
13,480
11,671
—
—
1,995,122

9.1%
5.0%
3.1%
1.6%
1.4%
1.3%
*%
*%
*%
*%
*%
*%
*%
*%
*%
*%
14.0%

(1)

Information for Blackrock Inc. is provided as of September 30, 2020, the filing of their last 13F Report.

(2)

The share amount indicated includes shares subject to options currently exercisable held by the following person
in the following amount: Robert A. Whitman 218,750 shares; and all executive officers and directors as a group,
218,750 shares.

(3)

The share amounts indicated exclude restricted stock awards currently held by the following persons in the
following amounts: Anne H. Chow, 3,060 shares; Michael Fung, 3,060 shares; Dennis G. Heiner, 3,060 shares;
Donald J. McNamara, 3,060 shares; Joel C. Peterson, 3,060 shares; E. Kay Stepp, 3,060 shares; Derek C.M. van
Bever, 3,060 shares; and all directors as a group, 21,420 shares. These restricted stock awards do not have voting
power or dividend rights until the shares actually vest to members of the Board of Directors.

(4)

The share amount includes those held for Donald J. McNamara by the Donald J. and Joan P. McNamara
Foundation with respect to 23,000 shares. Mr. McNamara is the trustee of his foundation, having sole voting and
dispositive control of all shares held by the foundation, and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of such
shares.
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Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our Board and executive officers, and persons who own more than 10
percent of our Common Stock, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of
our Common Stock and other securities which are derivative of our Common Stock. Executive officers, directors and
holders of more than 10 percent of our Common Stock are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all
such reports they file. Based upon a review of the copies of such forms received by us and information furnished by
the persons named above, we believe that all reports were filed on a timely basis during fiscal 2020 except for a Form 3
which was filed for Ms. Nancy Phillips on June 17, 2020 that should have been filed on May 19, 2020.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Review and Approval of Related Party Transactions
We review all relationships and transactions in which the Company and certain related persons, including our
directors, executive officers, and their immediate family members, are participants, to determine whether such
persons have a direct or indirect material interest. Our legal and accounting departments have responsibility for the
development and implementation of processes and controls to obtain information from the directors and executive
officers with respect to related party transactions and for then determining, based upon the facts and circumstances,
whether the Company or a related party has a direct or indirect material interest in the transaction. As required under
SEC rules, transactions that are determined to be directly or indirectly material to us or the related party are disclosed
in our Proxy Statement. In addition, a disinterested majority of the full Board of Directors or Audit Committee
reviews and approves any related party transaction that is required to be disclosed.

Related Party Transactions
We previously acquired CoveyLink Worldwide, LLC (CoveyLink). CoveyLink conducts seminars and training courses,
and provides consulting based upon the book The Speed of Trust by Stephen M.R. Covey, who is the brother of M.
Sean Covey. Prior to the acquisition date, CoveyLink granted us a non-exclusive license related to The Speed of Trust
book and related training courses for which we paid CoveyLink specified royalties. As part of the CoveyLink
acquisition, we obtained an amended and restated license of intellectual property that granted us an exclusive,
perpetual, worldwide, transferable, royalty-bearing license to use, sell, and perform the licensed material in any format
or medium and through any market or distribution channel. The amount expensed for these royalties to Stephen M.R.
Covey under the amended and restated license agreement totaled $1.6 million during the fiscal year ended August 31,
2020. In connection with the CoveyLink acquisition, we also signed a speaking services agreement that pays Stephen
M.R. Covey a portion of the speaking revenues received for his presentations. During fiscal 2020 we expensed
$0.8 million for these presentations.
We pay M. Sean Covey, who is also an executive officer of the Company, a percentage of the royalty proceeds received
from the sales of certain books authored by him in addition to his salary. During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020,
we expensed $0.1 million for these royalty payments.
During fiscal 2020, we employed Joshua M.R. Covey, who is the brother of M. Sean Covey, and paid him
compensation totaling $197,787. We also employed Dr. John Covey, an uncle of M. Sean Covey, and paid him
compensation totaling $106,967 in fiscal 2020.
We employ John Harding, who is the brother-in-law of Stephen D. Young, and paid him compensation totaling
$267,164 during fiscal 2020. We also employed Jonathan Lofgren, who is Scott J. Miller’s brother-in-law, and paid him
compensation totaling $162,458 in fiscal 2020.
Robert A. Whitman, our Chairman of the Board and CEO, beneficially owned a partnership interest in Knowledge
Capital. Donald J. McNamara, a member of our Board of Directors, also beneficially owned a partnership interest in
Knowledge Capital and served as a principal of The Hampstead Group LLC, the private investment firm that
sponsored Knowledge Capital. Knowledge Capital previously owned 2,812,805 shares of our Common Stock at
August 31, 2019. In December 2019, Knowledge Capital distributed all of its shares of our Common Stock to its
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investors. Immediately prior to the distribution, we purchased 284,608 shares of our Common Stock from Knowledge
Capital, at $35.1361 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $10 million. At August 31, 2020,
Knowledge Capital did not own any shares of our Common Stock.
On December 10, 2019, the Company purchased 5,000 shares of its Common Stock from Ms. E. Kay Stepp, a member
of our Board of Directors, at $35.1361 per share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $0.2 million. The
repurchase from Ms. Stepp was made under the Company’s existing share repurchase plan.
Each of these listed transactions was approved according to the procedures cited above.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Named Executive Officers
Our Compensation Committee, composed of five independent directors, determined the fiscal 2020 compensation for
our named executive officers, whom we call our ‘‘NEOs’’:
•

Robert A. Whitman – Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO);

•

Stephen D. Young – Chief Financial Officer (CFO);

•

Paul S. Walker – President and Chief Operating Officer (COO);

•

M. Sean Covey – President of Education Division; and

•

Scott J. Miller – Executive Vice President, Thought Leadership.

Overview
This CD&A describes in detail:
•

The shareholder-minded compensation practices we employ;

•

The guiding principles, philosophy and objectives of our executive compensation program;

•

Our fiscal 2020 executive compensation program; and

•

Actual compensation earned by or provided to our NEOs for fiscal 2020 and prior periods as required by SEC
rules.

However, 2020 was not a normal year. As such, we begin with a short summary of our basic approach to executive
compensation and the impact of COVID-19 on decisions with which the Compensation Committee was confronted.

Basic Elements of and Approach to Executive Compensation at Franklin Covey
The basic elements of compensation for all of our people, including our NEOs, are salary, annual cash incentive
compensation based on progress against performance metrics, which we call ‘‘STIP’’ (for short term incentive plans),
time- and performance-based equity awards, which we call ‘‘LTIP’’ (for long-term incentive plans), and employee
benefits, including retirement and severance benefits. The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors sets
salaries and STIP metrics at the beginning of each year and considers LTIP awards annually.
We are a people business. We take what we believe to be a rigorous pay-for-performance approach. Accordingly, the
key elements of compensation are similar in structure for all employees within our various geographic regions, except
that in recent years we have increased the relative percentage of variable, performance-measured compensation for
more senior people, including our NEOs. We have also adopted many compensation policies that we believe to be
shareholder-minded. As a result of all of this, we have received overwhelming support from shareholders in our
annual say-on-pay votes, including a 99.8 % ‘‘FOR’’ say-on-pay vote last year.

The Impact of COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has affected everyone, including of course Franklin Covey.
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The first half of our most recently completed fiscal year ended on February 29, 2020, just prior to the shutdown of the
U.S. economy due to the onset of COVID-19. Largely due to the momentum from our ongoing strategic shift to a
subscription-based model, our results for the first half of fiscal year 2020 were very good:
•

Our consolidated revenue increased 8% year-over-year to $112.4 million, as increases in subscription-related
revenues were partially offset by business interruptions in Asia due to the early onset of COVID-19 in that region.

•

Our Adjusted EBITDA increased 118% year-over-year to $9.0 million.

Our STIP program pays at 100% of target if amounts of qualified Adjusted EBITDA and team performance, as
established by the Compensation Committee are achieved, and can pay up to two times target to the extent those
metrics are substantially exceeded. Our strong performance in the first half of fiscal 2020 was at about 100% of the
full-year STIP target and was on track to reach or be only slightly less than the 2X payout STIP maximum. We were
also tracking well ahead of many LTIP performance metrics at February 29, 2020.
While the effects of COVID-19 on us were mitigated to some degree by our conversion to a subscription-based model,
the stay-home orders in mid-2020 adversely affected our financial performance in the second half of our fiscal year
(March-August) primarily because of freezes and curtailments on new spending by many clients and the difficulty in
engaging with clients working remotely. We did what we could to control costs, while continuing our business
conversion, and believe that we performed very well in these highly unusual circumstances. However, our
post-COVID-19 performance for the second half of fiscal 2020 was well below the minimum threshold for the
qualified Adjusted EBITDA target. Our full-year fiscal 2020 performance was 51% of the qualified Adjusted EBITDA
that had been originally set for the STIP target. (A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial
measure, to a comparable GAAP measure appears in Appendix A to this proxy statement).
We are a people business, and the decline in performance that we experienced in the second half of fiscal 2020 was
primarily the result of factors outside our people’s control. As such, our Compensation Committee determined:
•

Not to reset STIP metrics, but to measure performance for all STIP participants (not just the NEOs) based on our
first half fiscal 2020 actual results and second half results from the prior fiscal year. This resulted in a payout to all
STIP participants, including our NEOs, at approximately 83% of target.

•

To extend the measurement periods for performance-based LTIP awards by two years and increase prospective
qualified Adjusted EBITDA performance tranche metrics by $2 million.

The Compensation Committee’s rationale for the actions it took was:
•

Our people’s inability to achieve the STIP metrics for the second half of fiscal 2020 was in no way due to
performance failures or our people’s inability to execute against plan. The original STIP performance metrics
were set long before COVID-19 surfaced and were not realistic as they would not be satisfied due to events
outside the control of our people.

•

COVID-19, in essence, delayed by up to two years the substantially improved performance we expect from the
conversion of our business model to a subscription basis and away from engagement-by-engagement selling. We
therefore added two years to the performance measurement periods but, as noted, stiffened the qualified
Adjusted EBITDA performance tranche metrics by $2 million.

The Compensation Committee’s guiding principle was that the Company, and its people at all levels, should be treated
fairly and substantially in the same way. We did not lay off, furlough or cut pay or benefits for our people as a result of
COVID-19, and none of our NEOs received a salary increase last year (except for one promotional raise before the
onset of COVID-19).
As we have said a few times in this section, we understand that we are a people business. The Compensation
Committee has used its judgement to make what it thinks are reasonable STIP and LTIP pay decisions for all of our
people. The changes to the operation of the STIP and LTIP programs described above were not at all undertaken just
to boost payouts for performance periods affected by COVID-19. Instead, the Compensation Committee’s intention
was to help motivate and retain key personnel to react to ongoing and new challenges, to help Franklin Covey emerge
from COVID-19 as a stronger business, and to further encourage long-term value creation for investors.
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While the effects of COVID-19 will continue to affect our fiscal 2021 results, we believe that they are being mitigated
as our clients have adjusted to more dispersed workforces and that our subscription model is better suited for more
flexible work patterns going forward. Accordingly, incentive performance targets for fiscal 2021 have been set
consistent with our expectation that COVID-19’s effects on our business will begin to dissipate by mid-fiscal 2021 as
vaccines become generally available. In addition, we do not anticipate any raises in base pay for our NEOs this year.

Shareholder-Minded Compensation Practices
The Compensation Committee regularly reviews and considers the views of shareholders and proxy advisory firms on
corporate pay practices. In this regard, we reach out to key shareholders to solicit their views on executive
compensation and consider the results of our annual ‘‘say-on-pay’’ voting. Taking these and other inputs into account,
the Compensation Committee implemented and maintains the following policies:
•

Clawback Policy – The Board has authority to require reimbursement of any annual or long-term incentive
payment made to an executive officer where: (1) the payment was based on achieving financial results that were
subsequently the subject of a substantial restatement of Company financial statements filed with the SEC; (2) the
Board determines the executive engaged in misconduct that caused the need for the substantial restatement; and
(3) a lower payment would have been made to the executive based on the restated financial results. In such an
instance, the Company expects that it will seek to recover from the individual executive the amount by which the
individual executive’s incentive payments for the relevant period exceeded the lower payment that would have
been made based on the restated financial results.

•

Hedging Policy – Our directors and executive officers are prohibited from buying or selling publicly traded
options, puts, calls or other derivative instruments related to Company stock. All other employees are
discouraged from engaging in hedging transactions related to Company stock.

•

No Option Repricing Without Shareholder Approval – Our equity plans expressly prohibit option repricing
without shareholder approval.

•

No Excise Tax Gross-ups – Excise tax gross-ups for our NEOs are prohibited.

•

Stock Ownership Guidelines – Our stock ownership guidelines require an ownership threshold of five times
base salary for our CEO, three times base salary for our CFO and two times base salary for our other NEOs. Each
NEO is targeted to reach the applicable threshold within five years of the policy becoming applicable to the NEO
and from the date the NEO first has shares awarded as part of his or her annual compensation. Unvested share
awards are included in calculating whether the required threshold has been achieved. NEOs are prohibited from
selling any shares until after these established guidelines are met. The Compensation Committee annually
reviews executives’ progress toward meeting these guidelines. Currently, the stock ownership of each of our CEO,
our CFO, Mr. Walker, and Mr. Covey meets or exceeds the applicable threshold. Subsequent to August 31, 2020,
Mr. Miller transitioned from an employee of Franklin Covey to a contractor relationship and is no longer subject
to the ownership guidelines.
In addition to the stock ownership guidelines for our NEOs, a Board policy requires that each director who is not
an employee of the Company maintain beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock and/or vested
restricted stock units (RSUs), equal in value to at least four times the annual Board cash retainer at all times
during his or her tenure on the Board. New directors have up to three years of service on the Board in which to
meet this ownership requirement.

•

No Significant Perquisites – No significant ‘‘corporate perquisites’’ such as country club memberships or
automobile allowances are provided to our NEOs.

•

No Employment Agreements for NEOs and Limited Change-in-Control Benefits – The Company does not
enter into employment agreements with its NEOs, and has a change-in-control policy for its NEOs that provides
for a specific potential change-in-control severance benefit of only one times total targeted annual cash
compensation without any excise tax gross-ups. Our NEOs are subject to the same general
(non-change-in-control) severance policies as all Company employees.
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Pay for Performance Awards – The fiscal 2020 LTIP performance-based equity awards were designed to
incentivize even greater achievement levels in our results of operations and pay out only if these operating
improvements are achieved.

Consideration of 2020 ‘‘Say-on-Pay’’ Voting Results
We held our annual advisory ‘‘say-on-pay’’ vote with respect to the compensation of our NEOs at our Annual Meeting
conducted in January 2020. Over 99% of the votes cast were in favor of the compensation of our NEOs. Taking this
vote into consideration, our Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee considered and discussed this
shareholder vote result during fiscal 2020 and determined not to make significant changes to the existing program for
fiscal 2020 in response to shareholder feedback. The Compensation Committee expects to periodically explore various
executive pay and corporate governance changes to the extent appropriate to keep our executive compensation
program aligned with best practices in our competitive market and the Company’s particular circumstances, keeping
shareholder views in mind. The Compensation Committee intends to continue holding ‘‘say-on-pay’’ votes with
shareholders on an annual basis, consistent with our shareholders’ recommendation.

Guiding Philosophy, Principles, and Objectives of our Executive Compensation Program
To fulfill our mission and implement our strategy, Franklin Covey must attract, motivate and retain highly qualified
employees. We achieve this, in part, through working to ensure that we have both a winning culture and a competitive
performance-based total compensation program. We align our executives’ interests with those of our shareholders by
tying almost all short- and long-term incentive compensation to the Company’s achievement of key measures of
growth and key strategic objectives.
We believe variable, performance-based compensation should constitute a significant percentage of our executives’
overall compensation opportunity. All executive base salary, short-term incentive, and long-term incentive
compensation is designed to be market-based. Variable pay and long-term incentive pay are linked to, and designed to
reward the achievement of, specific performance targets.
The philosophy and objectives of our executive compensation program are reflected in the compensation principles
listed below, which guide the Compensation Committee in its oversight of our compensation practices and plans. The
specific objectives of our executive compensation program are to reward achievement of our strategic and annual
business plans and to link a major portion of pay directly to performance. The key principles that guide the
Compensation Committee are that the Company’s executive compensation program should:
•

Reflect Performance: We establish multi-year objectives for the Company relating to both growth and the
achievement of key strategic objectives in order to align compensation with performance over both the short and
long term. Annual performance targets are established in the context of these multi-year objectives, and for fiscal
2020 consisted primarily of goals for growth in revenue, Adjusted EBITDA and deferred revenue. NEO
performance pay levels for the year are generally determined by assessing the Company’s level of achievement
compared to these objectives. Since our NEOs are responsible for overall Company performance against these
objectives, their compensation can vary (and has varied) significantly from year to year.

•

Encourage Long-Term Company-Wide Focus: We believe that compensation should encourage and reward both
the achievement of annual objectives and longer-term, Company-wide performance improvement. We use a
service-based and performance-based RSU program to focus NEO efforts on long-term growth in shareholder
value. We believe that paying a significant portion of variable compensation to our NEOs in the form of
equity-based compensation that vests over a period of time, based on performance, also encourages a long-term,
Company-wide focus. Value is realized through delivering results today, but in a way that builds the foundation
for delivering even stronger results in the future. We believe that this practice will lead to our NEOs having a
considerable investment in our shares over time. This investment in turn advances both a culture of teamwork
and partnership, and encourages a stewardship mentality for the Company among our key leaders.

•

Attract and Retain Talent: We understand the importance of hiring and retaining the best people. Retention of
talented employees is critical to successfully executing our business strategy. We seek to be what we refer to
internally as ‘‘the workplace of choice for achievers with heart.’’ Successful execution of our business strategy
requires that our management team be in place, engaged and focusing their best energy and talents on achieving
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our business goals and strategies. For us, compensation is not just an overhead expense; it is a key component of
the investments we make and costs we incur to generate our revenues. In determining the compensation of our
NEOs and in reviewing the effectiveness of our compensation program for attracting and retaining talent, the
Compensation Committee generally considers the competitive market for talent. We believe that our
compensation programs should enable us to attract and retain talented people and incentivize them to contribute
their finest talents to achieving our objectives. We are pleased that our executive officers have an average tenure
of over 24 years with our Company (ranging from 20 to 35 years).
In addition to aligning our compensation programs with the achievement of objectives that drive shareholder value,
the Compensation Committee also considers the consistency of our compensation programs and works to ensure that
our variable compensation does not encourage imprudent risk-taking. We have determined that our Company’s
approach to the compensation process addresses the need to balance prudence with performance through a
combination of:
•

Controls on the allocation and overall management of risk-taking;

•

Comprehensive profit and loss and other management information, that provides ongoing performance feedback;

•

Rigorous, multi-party performance assessments and compensation decisions; and

•

A Company-wide compensation structure that strives to meet industry best practice standards, including a
business model that is based on compensating our associates in direct proportion to the revenue and profit
contribution they generate.

Our compensation framework seeks to balance risk and reward. Our executive team is involved in identifying relevant
risks and performance metrics for our business. We work to create a cadence of accountability within our organization
through continuous evaluation and measurement of performance compared to what we refer to internally as our
‘‘Wildly Important Goals’’ of achieving profitable growth, meeting strategic objectives, and building a winning culture.
Based on the considerations discussed above, in connection with its compensation decisions for fiscal 2020, our
Compensation Committee concluded that our Company’s compensation program and policies are structured such
that they do not encourage imprudent risk-taking, and that there are no risks arising from such programs and policies
that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Analysis of Fiscal 2020 Compensation Decisions and Actions
Fiscal 2020 Executive Compensation Determination Process
The Compensation Committee determined the form and amount of fixed compensation and established specific
performance metrics for determining year-end variable compensation to be awarded to our NEOs for fiscal 2020
considering: (1) our financial performance over the prior year and past several years and, expectations for fiscal 2020;
(2) the individual and collective performance of our NEOs relative to the achievement of metric-based strategic
objectives related to growth in key areas; and (3) compensation in connection with our goal of attracting and retaining
the best talent. In particular, the Compensation Committee reviewed at a general level the following financial metrics
and related growth rates in connection with making its key compensation decisions:
•

Revenue;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and operating income;

•

Multi-year changes in operating income, Adjusted EBITDA, and specific revenue targets;

•

Achieving high rates of revenue retention for subscription-based revenue; and

•

Overall performance prior to, and after, the coronavirus pandemic.

Management Input Regarding Compensation Decisions: Our Compensation Committee meets in executive session to
discuss the performance of our CEO and each of the other NEOs. Our CEO submitted year-end variable
compensation calculations (certified by our CFO) and recommendations to the Committee for our other executives,
including the NEOs. These calculations and recommendations precisely followed the payout guidelines established for
incentive compensation relating to financial performance.
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Market Assessment: Our Compensation Committee evaluates our NEO compensation program at a high level against
market practices. In fiscal 2020, the Committee asked Mercer, the Committee’s compensation consultant, to assess
our NEO compensation program, identify considerations that could inform compensation decisions, and advise as to
current market practices, trends, and plan designs. Mercer reviewed data from its own research and databases and
used this information primarily as supplemental data to assist the Compensation Committee in understanding current
market practices related to executive compensation. Mercer has advised us that our compensation program contains
features that reinforce significant alignment with shareholders and a long-term focus, and blends subjective
assessment and policies in a way that addresses known and perceived risks at levels consistent with market
compensation for similar sized and comparable professional services and content companies, and that the program
has been aligned with corporate performance.
The Compensation Committee has assessed Mercer’s independence, as required under NYSE rules, and considered
and assessed all relevant factors, including those required by the SEC that could give rise to a potential conflict of
interest during fiscal 2020. The Compensation Committee did not identify any conflicts of interest raised by the work
performed by Mercer.
In making pay decisions for fiscal 2020, the Compensation Committee considered how executive compensation
should drive desired performance toward our business objectives. The Compensation Committee also considered the
specific business opportunities and challenges facing the Company compared to those of our competitors and
similar-sized companies. However, the Compensation Committee did not specifically benchmark elements of
compensation when making its fiscal 2020 executive compensation decisions. Finally, the Compensation Committee
generally considered the past performance of our NEOs, including performance against previous individual and
corporate objectives, expected contribution to future corporate objectives and whether the NEOs’ performance was
achieved consistent with our governing values. The Compensation Committee made final judgments regarding the
appropriate compensation level for each NEO based on these additional inputs.
With the lack of reliable market data as a result of the timing of the coronavirus pandemic, Mercer recommended, and
the Compensation Committee concurred, that the same peer group information from fiscal 2019 should be used for
fiscal 2020. These companies were selected based on industry and types of professional services offered, as well as size.
Annual revenues for the peer group range from approximately $175 million to $806 million. The compensation data
for this peer group was reduced by 10% to ensure that it was appropriate for comparison purposes, given our
fiscal 2020 consolidated revenue of $198.5 million. This peer group is one of many tools used by the Compensation
Committee for assessing executive compensation and was comprised of the following companies for fiscal 2020:
•

CRA International, Inc.

•

Exponent, Inc.

•

Forrester Research, Inc.

•

GP Strategies Corporation

•

The Hackett Group, Inc.

•

HealthStream, Inc.

•

Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.

•

Huron Consulting Group, Inc.

•

Information Services Group, Inc.

•

RCM Technologies, Inc.

•

Resources Connection, Inc.

•

Rosetta Stone, Inc.
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Decisions on Key Elements of Fiscal 2020 Executive Compensation
Total Compensation: In addition to the specific elements of compensation discussed below, we establish annual targets
for the total compensation provided to our NEOs. Based on the key factors described above, the Compensation
Committee established fiscal 2020 total compensation targets of $2.6 million for our CEO and $933,000, on average,
for our other NEOs, assuming achievement of targeted results under our short- and long-term performance-based
variable pay plans. These calculations exclude the effects of exercised options for our CEO and CFO, as well as book
royalty payments made to Mr. Covey, as noted in the Fiscal 2020 Summary Compensation Table.
Total Compensation Mix: The following charts identify the fiscal 2020 target compensation mix for our CEO and
average mix for our other NEOs.
2020 Target Compensation Mix (CEO)

2020 Target Compensation Mix (Other NEOs)
Base Salary

22%
33%

36%

37%

45%

27%

Stock Awards (LTIP RSUs)

Performance-Based Cash Variable Pay
(STIP)

In particular, the Compensation Committee gave consideration to our CEO’s base pay, which affects his overall
compensation level, against a peer set which includes companies that are substantially larger by revenues than
Franklin Covey, and considered this in setting his compensation levels. Mr. Whitman did not receive an increase on
base pay this year, and his base pay has increased only 15% over the last 16 years.
Base Salaries
The company pays a base salary to each of our NEOs to provide a base level of fixed income for services rendered. The
Compensation Committee annually reviews base salary market data and if appropriate, will adjust base salaries to
remain at competitive levels. Based primarily on the Compensation Committee’s subjective consideration of the 2020
market data, salaries for all NEOs remained at the same levels as in the prior year, except for Paul Walker’s salary
which was adjusted prior to COVID-19 consistent with his new role as the Company’s President and Chief Operating
Officer. The Committee continues to emphasize performance-based variable pay as the primary means by which
NEOs may increase their total compensation absent increases in responsibilities.
Annual Performance-Based Variable Pay
Fiscal 2020 Performance-Based Cash Variable Pay Plan: The Company provides annual performance-based cash
incentive opportunities to link our NEOs interests to specific financial and strategic goals established by the
Compensation Committee. In fiscal 2020, the Performance-Based Cash Variable Pay Plan, or STIP, for our NEOs
included two components for the payout calculation: (1) Annual financial performance objectives (70% of payout) and
(2) metric-based executive team performance objectives (30% of payout). The target STIP payout opportunities at
100% for our NEOs, determined by the Compensation Committee based on the considerations described above were:
$575,000 for Mr. Whitman, $235,000 for Mr. Young, $284,750 for Mr. Walker and $200,000 each for each Messrs.
Covey and Miller. The STIP reinforces our strong pay-for-performance philosophy and rewards the achievement of
specific business and financial goals during the fiscal year.
Financial Performance Component (70%): The threshold necessary for NEOs to earn 100% of the financial
performance component of their target STIP payout in fiscal 2020 was an increase in qualified Adjusted EBITDA to
$28 million, compared to $19 million for the previous fiscal year. Qualified Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as reported
Adjusted EBITDA which is adjusted for the impact of foreign exchange and other items.
The Company uses Adjusted EBITDA in its analysis and decision-making because it provides information that
facilitates consistent internal comparisons to the historical operating performance of prior periods, and we believe the
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measure provides greater transparency to evaluate operational activities and financial results. Adjusted EBITDA is also
the primary measure by which internal business segment performance is evaluated and is regularly communicated to
our analysts. Refer to the table in Appendix A for the reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA, to consolidated net income
(loss), a comparable GAAP financial measure.
As discussed in more detail in the section entitled, ‘‘The Impact of COVID-19’’ above, at February 29, 2020, the
Company’s last 12 months of Adjusted EBITDA totaled $25.5 million, compared with $16.1 million for the
corresponding 12-month period in fiscal 2019, and compared with fiscal 2019 Adjusted EBITDA of $20.7 million.
Based on performance through the first two quarters of fiscal 2020, the expected STIP payout for fiscal 2020 was
anticipated to be approximately 193%. Given this strong performance in what is typically the lowest six-month period
in terms of revenue, the Company expected that it was on track to exceed the targeted $28.0 million of Qualified
Adjusted EBITDA for all of fiscal 2020. However, given the impact of the coronavirus pandemic on fiscal third and
fourth quarter results of operations, the full-year fiscal 2020 Adjusted EBITDA was $14.7 million, after being adjusted
for foreign exchange. Rather than adjust goals to consider the effects of the pandemic, the Compensation Committee
decided to calculate the amounts the NEOs would have received if the last 12-month results had been achieved for the
full year. This resulted in the NEOs receiving a prorated amount of approximately 41% of the maximum potential.
Had results for the entire fiscal 2020 been used, there would not have been any payout.
The following table shows, for informational purposes, what potential payouts to our NEOs would have been, based
on the degree of attainment of fiscal 2020 STIP Qualified Adjusted EBITDA objectives (and assuming metric-based
executive team performance objectives were achieved).
Potential payouts for fiscal 2020 STIP Qualified Adjusted EBITDA objectives (70%)
Targeted Qualified
If Qualified Adjusted
Adjusted EBITDA
If Qualified Adjusted
Qualified Adjusted
Qualified Adjusted
EBITDA as calculated
of
EBITDA (including STIP
EBITDA (including STIP
EBITDA less than
was > $22.0 million and $28.0 million and expense) was > $28.0 million
expense) equal to or
$22.0 million and not
< $28.0 million and
meeting
and < $32.0 million in and
greater than $32 million
meeting performance
meeting performance
performance
meeting performance
and meeting performance
objectives
objectives
objectives
objectives
objectives
0%

Pro-rata calculation

100%

Pro-rata calculation

200%

Performance Objectives Component (30%): The Performance Objectives Component of the STIP represents 30% of
the STIP award. These goals are strategic in nature and disclosing details about them could cause potential
competitive harm. However, in general they are objectives with specific measures related to the transition to a
subscription-based business model as well as recurring All Access Pass revenue. Each key strategic goal is individually
weighted based on difficulty and on the effort required to achieve the goal, with most goals weighted between 30% and
40% of this portion of the STIP award opportunity. We believe that the goals established for each NEO were ‘‘stretch’’
goals tied to over-achieving compared to our annual plan in support of the Company’s long-term strategy of building
its subscription business. Each goal was typically linked to what we refer to internally and was previously mentioned as
our ‘‘Wildly Important Goals’’ that are cascaded throughout the Company, and progress toward each of these goals
was tracked regularly. Based on performance against these objectives prior to the pandemic, and the strong
performance of the Company’s subscription business during the pandemic, NEOs were paid a prorated amount of
approximately 48% of the performance objectives component.
The combined financial performance and performance objectives components resulted in approximately 83% of the
targeted STIP, or 42% of the maximum potential STIP, being paid to participants for fiscal 2020. These amounts are
reflected in the ‘‘Fiscal Year 2020 Summary Compensation Table’’ found in this document under the heading
‘‘Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation.’’ No other annual variable cash compensation awards were earned by the
NEOs during fiscal 2020.
Equity Compensation
We believe that the granting of long-term equity awards over the years has created strong alignment of interests
between NEOs and shareholders, as reflected in our strong financial performance from fiscal 2010 through the
first half of fiscal 2020 (prior to the effects of the pandemic). The same program and philosophy were reflected in our
use of equity awards in fiscal 2020.
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Fiscal 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) – Service-Based and Performance-Based Equity Grants: A significant
portion of our NEOs’ total targeted compensation for fiscal 2020 was provided in the form of performance-based
RSUs that vest upon the achievement of key financial objectives included in our longer-term financial plan over a
period of years, and service-based RSUs that vest upon years of service. If the performance targets are not achieved
within the allotted time frame, then the performance based RSU tranches are forfeited.
During fiscal 2020, the Compensation Committee granted service-based and performance-based RSU awards to our
NEOs that, as discussed above in ‘‘The Impact of COVID-19,’’ were modified as a result of the pandemic. Shares may
now be earned under the fiscal 2020 RSU award based on three components over a service period, which ends on
August 31, 2024, as identified below:
(1) 25% of the fiscal 2020 RSU award is time-vested and is expected to vest on August 31, 2022;
(2) 70% of the remaining 75% of the fiscal 2020 RSU award is based on Qualified Adjusted EBITDA
performance, as defined earlier. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is one of the most important measures of
our financial results and is important in both the short term and in the long term. Therefore, this measure is
used in both our STIP and LTIP awards. The Compensation Committee sets the metrics at levels which
normally are only achieved in the final year. Qualified Adjusted EBITDA for purposes of fiscal 2020 LTIP is
based on the highest Qualified Adjusted EBITDA achieved for any rolling four-quarter period during the
measurement period ending August 31, 2024; and
(3) 30% of the remaining 75% of the fiscal 2020 RSU award is based on the highest subscription sales results
achieved for any rolling four-quarter period during the measurement period ending August 31, 2024.
In addition to payout levels of 50%, 100% and 200% for the achievement of applicable performance goals, the number
of shares paid in settlement of the RSU tranches with financial targets is a pro-rata calculation between a 50% target
and a 100% target, and a different pro rata calculation between 100% target and 200% target. As of August 31, 2020, all
three tranches of RSUs granted in fiscal 2020 remain unvested. The performance targets for the RSUs granted in fiscal
2020 (and the corresponding payout levels for achieving the targets) are:
Qualified Adjusted EBITDA (Original Targets)
•

$40.0 million (50% of target – minimum threshold);

•

$47.0 million (100% of target); and

•

$52.0 million (200% of target – maximum threshold).

Subscription and Related Sales
•

$165.0 million (50% of target – minimum threshold);

•

$185.0 million (100% of target); and

•

$205.0 million (200% of target – maximum threshold).

As discussed above in ‘‘The Impact of COVID-19,’’ due to impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertainties
related to the recovery from the pandemic on our equity-based awards, subsequent to August 31, 2020, the
measurement (or service) period for the fiscal 2020 award was extended by two years to August 31, 2024 and each of
the Qualified Adjusted EBITDA targets noted above was increased by $2.0 million. The reason for this is that
COVID-19, in essence, delayed by up to two years the substantially improved performance that we expect from the
conversion of our business model to a subscription basis and away from engagement-by-engagement selling.
Subscription sales thresholds were unchanged by this modification to the fiscal 2020 LTIP, and similar modifications
were made for all other equity-based award tranches that are based on specified levels of Qualified Adjusted EBITDA.
We believe that our RSU program aligns a significant portion of our executive compensation with improving
performance which increases intrinsic value to our shareholders. For further information regarding our LTIP awards
and other share-based compensation instruments (including applicable performance achievement), please refer to the
notes to our financial statements found in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020
and the footnotes to the ‘‘Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal 2020 Year-End Table’’ that are provided below.
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Qualified Retirement Benefits: Each of our NEOs participates in our 401(k) plan, which is our tax-qualified retirement
plan available to all eligible U.S. employees. We match participant contributions dollar-for-dollar on the first 1% of
salary contributed to the 401(k) plan and 50 cents on the dollar for the next 4% of salary contributed. Our match for
executives is the same received by all associates who participate in the 401(k) plan. Contributions to the 401(k) plan
from highly compensated employees are currently limited to a maximum of 12% of compensation, subject to statutory
limits.
Other Benefits: The Compensation Committee evaluated the market competitiveness of the executive benefit package
to determine the most critical and essential benefits necessary to retain executives. Based on information received
from Mercer, the Compensation Committee determined to include executive life insurance for certain NEOs. In
addition, the Company agreed to provide our CEO with supplemental disability insurance after he voluntarily
terminated his employment agreement with the Company, and in consideration of previous years during which our
CEO accepted no compensation. For fiscal 2020, the Compensation Committee was provided with the estimated value
of these items (which value is included in the Fiscal 2020 Summary Compensation Table below), and determined, as in
prior years, that these amounts were not material in determining our NEOs’ fiscal 2020 compensation.
•

Term Life Insurance: Franklin Covey provides a portable 20-year term life policy for the CEO and CFO. The
coverage amount is about 2.5 times each NEO’s target annual cash compensation (base salary plus target
performance-based cash variable pay).

•

Supplemental Disability Insurance: We provide our CEO with long-term disability insurance which, combined
with our current group policy, provides, in the aggregate, monthly long-term disability benefits equal to about
75% of his fiscal 2020 target cash compensation. Our other NEOs may purchase voluntary supplemental disability
insurance at their own expense.

We maintain a number of other broad-based employee benefit plans in which, consistent with our values, our NEOs
participate on the same terms as other employees who meet the eligibility requirements, subject to any legal
limitations on amounts that may be contributed to or benefits payable under the plans. These benefits include:
•

Our high deductible health plans and health savings accounts administered under Sections 125 and 223 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, (the Code).

•

Our employee stock purchase plan implemented and administered under Section 423 of the Code.

Severance Policy: We have implemented a severance policy to establish, in advance, the appropriate treatment for
terminated NEOs and to help ensure market competitiveness. The severance policy uses the same benefit formula for
our NEOs as it uses for all of our employees. We do not ‘‘gross-up’’ severance payments to compensate for taxes.
Employment Agreements and Change-in-Control Severance Agreements: We do not have employment agreements with
any of our NEOs, but we are a party to change-in-control severance agreements with each of our NEOs. However,
consistent with our conservative approach to compensation specific matters that raise shareholder sensitivities, the
severance amount is only 1X the executive’s salary and bonus. For more information about the terms of these
change-in-control severance agreements, see the section below entitled ‘‘Executive Compensation – Potential
Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control.’’
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The ‘‘Fiscal 2020 Summary Compensation Table’’ below sets forth compensation information for our NEOs relating to
fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, as applicable.
Under SEC rules, the 2020 Summary Compensation Table is required to include for a particular year only those
equity-based awards granted during that year, rather than awards granted after our fiscal year end, even if the
equity-based award was granted for services in that year. By contrast, SEC rules require disclosure of cash
compensation to be included in the year earned, even if payment is made after year-end.

Fiscal 2020 Summary Compensation Table

Name and Principal Position
Robert A. Whitman
Chairman and CEO
Stephen D. Young
CFO
Paul S. Walker
President & COO
M. Sean Covey
President Education Division
Scott Miller
EVP Global Business Development &
Marketing

Year
2020
2019
2018
2020
2019
2018
2020
2019
2018
2020
2019
2018
2020
2019
2018

Salary
($)
575,000
575,000
566,442
350,000
350,000
351,347
419,231
400,000
379,546
300,000
300,000
301,153
300,000
300,000
301,154

Bonus
($)
—
—
367,500
—
—
164,500
—
—
140,000
—
—
140,000
—
—
140,000

Stock
Awards
($)
1,150,000
1,369,289
1,150,000
350,000
404,822
350,000
425,000
300,000
300,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
150,000
200,000
150,000

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)
478,975
914,250
575,000
195,755
373,650
235,000
237,196
315,600
200,000
166,600
324,600
200,000
166,600
318,000
200,000

All Other
Compensation
($)
73,681
73,863
70,666
20,011
16,697
16,407
15,457
12,259
13,160
115,306
135,523
213,103
7,072
4,261
2,889

Total
($)
2,277,656
2,932,402
2,729,608
915,766
1,145,169
1,117,254
1,096,884
1,027,859
1,032,706
781,906
960,123
1,054,256
623,672
822,261
794,043

Salary: The amounts reported in the ‘‘Salary’’ column for fiscal 2020 represent base salaries paid in cash to each NEO
for fiscal 2020.
Stock Awards: The amounts reported in the ‘‘Stock Awards’’ column for fiscal 2020 represent the aggregate grant date
fair value (computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 718, or ASC Topic 718), based on the probable outcome of any applicable performance criteria, excluding the
effect of estimated forfeitures, for the RSUs granted to NEOs as LTIP awards during fiscal 2020. The probable
outcome of the RSUs granted during fiscal 2020 with performance conditions were based on the Company meeting
the 100% target for both tranches with financial performance conditions. Assuming the maximum performance levels
were achieved, the value of each LTIP award in this column would be as follows: Mr. Whitman, $2,012,500;
Mr. Young, $612,500; Mr. Walker, $743,750; Mr. Covey, $350,000; and Mr. Miller, $262,500 (for further information
regarding these stock awards and the assumptions made in their valuation, refer to Note 12, Stock-Based
Compensation Plans, to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year that ended on August 31, 2020).
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation: The amounts reported in the ‘‘Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation’’
column for fiscal 2020 represent the amounts paid to each NEO under the STIP for formulaic fiscal 2020 achievement.
Payments are based on achieving objectives established annually and meeting annual financial targets.

Franklin Covey 2020 Annual Report

Executive Compensation

All Other Compensation: The amounts reported for fiscal 2020 in the ‘‘All Other Compensation’’ column are set forth
in the ‘‘Fiscal 2020 All Other Compensation Table’’ below.

Name
Mr. Whitman
Mr. Young
Mr. Walker
Mr. Covey
Mr. Miller

Year
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020

Company
Contributions
to 401(k)
Plan(a)
($)
8,534
8,400
8,385
8,550

Executive Life
Insurance
Premiums(b)
($)
7,899
4,539
—
—
—

Executive
Disability
Premiums(c)
($)
51,855
—
—
—
—

Other
Total
($)
($)
5,393
73,681
7,072
20,011
7,072
15,457
106,756(d) 115,306
7,072
7,072

(a)

We match dollar-for-dollar the first 1% of salary contributed to the 401(k) plan and 50 cents on the dollar of the
next 4% of salary contributed. Our match for executives is the same match received by all associates who
participate in the 401(k) plan.

(b)

For the CEO and CFO, we maintain an executive life insurance policy with a face value of 2.5 their target annual
cash compensation. These amounts show the annual premiums paid for each 20-year term executive life
insurance policy.

(c)

We provide Mr. Whitman with long-term disability insurance which, combined with our current group policy,
provides, in the aggregate, monthly long-term disability benefits equal to 75% of his fiscal 2020 target cash
compensation. The amount shows the premiums paid for Mr. Whitman’s supplemental long-term disability
coverage.

(d)

For Mr. Covey, this amount includes $99,684 of royalties earned during fiscal 2020 from books he authored that
are used in our training and education businesses.
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Fiscal 2020 Grants of Plan-Based Awards
The following table sets forth the plan-based equity and cash awards that were granted to our NEOs during fiscal
2020. We granted three types of awards in fiscal 2020: annual incentive-based cash awards (STIP); LTIP equity awards
in the form of service-based RSUs; and LTIP equity awards in the form of performance-based RSUs.

Name
Mr. Whitman
STIP(a)
LTIP RSUs(b)
LTIP RSUs(c)
Mr. Young
STIP(a)
LTIP RSUs(b)
LTIP RSUs(c)
Mr. Walker
STIP(a)
LTIP RSUs(b)
LTIP RSUs(c)
Mr. Covey
STIP(a)
LTIP RSUs(b)
LTIP RSUs(c)
Mr. Miller
STIP(a)
LTIP RSUs(b)
LTIP RSUs(c)

Grant
Date

All Other
Grant
Estimated Possible Payouts Under
Stock Awards:
Date Fair
Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Estimated Future Payouts Under
Number of Value of Stock
Awards
Equity Incentive Plan Awards Shares of Stock and Option
Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum
or Units
Awards(d)
($)
($)
($)
(#)
(#)
(#)
(#)
($)

—
10/18/2019
10/18/2019

—
—
—

575,000
—
—

1,150,000
—
—

—
12,074
—

—
24,147
—

—
48,293
—

—
—
8,049

—
862,500
287,500

—
10/01/2018
10/01/2018

—
—
—

235,000
—
—

470,000
—
—

—
3,676
—

—
7,350
—

—
14,699
—

—
—
2,450

—
262,500
87,500

—
10/01/2018
10/01/2018

—
—
—

284,750
—
—

569,500
—
—

—
4,463
—

—
8,925
—

—
17,849
—

—
—
2,975

—
318,750
106,250

—
10/01/2018
10/01/2018

—
—
—

200,000
—
—

400,000
—
—

—
2,100
—

—
4,200
—

—
8,400
—

—
—
1,400

—
150,000
50,000

—
10/01/2018
10/01/2018

—
—
—

200,000
—
—

400,000
—
—

—
1,576
—

—
3,150
—

—
6,300
—

—
—
1,050

—
112,500
37,500

(a)

These amounts relate to the STIP for the annual performance period ending August 31, 2020. The actual payouts
made to the NEOs for this program are reflected in the ‘‘Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation’’ column of
the ‘‘Fiscal 2020 Summary Compensation Table’’ above.

(b)

These amounts relate to the LTIP awards granted to the NEOs in the form of performance-based RSUs, which
vest based on the highest rolling four-quarter levels of Qualified Adjusted EBITDA and subscription sales during
the measurement period. Due to impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertainties related to the recovery
from the pandemic on our equity-based awards, subsequent to August 31, 2020, the measurement (service)
period for these awards was extended by two years to August 31, 2024 and Qualified Adjusted EBITDA targets
were increased by $2.0 million. Subscription sales thresholds were unchanged by this modification.

(c)

These amounts relate to the LTIP awards granted to the NEOs in the form of service-based RSUs, which vest on
August 31, 2022. The service period for these award tranches was not changed by the modifications described in
note (b) above.

(d)

The amounts reported in the ‘‘Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards’’ column for fiscal 2020
represent the aggregate grant date fair values (computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718), based on the
probable outcome of any applicable performance conditions, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures, for the
RSUs granted to NEOs as LTIP awards. For the performance-based RSUs, the fair value on the grant date was
based on the probable outcome that the target award would vest to participants.
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Employment and Change-in-Control Severance Agreements
We do not maintain employment agreements with any of our NEOs, but we do maintain change-in-control severance
agreements with each of our NEOs. For more information about the terms of these change-in-control severance
agreements, see the section below entitled ‘‘Executive Compensation – Potential Payments Upon Termination or
Change-in-Control.’’ Also see the section above entitled ‘‘Compensation Discussion and Analysis - Total
Compensation Mix’’ for more information about the mix of compensation elements for our NEOs.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal 2020 Year-End
The following equity awards granted to our NEOs were outstanding as of August 31, 2020.
Option Awards

Grant
Name
Date
Mr. Whitman 10/18/19
10/18/19
1/25/19
10/01/18
10/01/18
10/18/16
11/12/15
1/28/11
1/28/11
1/28/11
1/28/11
Mr. Young
10/18/19
10/18/19
1/25/19
10/01/18
10/01/18
10/18/16
11/12/15
Mr. Walker
10/18/19
10/18/19
10/01/18
10/01/18
10/18/16
11/12/15
Mr. Covey
10/18/19
10/18/19
10/01/18
10/01/18
10/18/16
11/12/15

Stock Awards

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Option
Unexercised Exercise
Option
Options (#)
Price
Expiration
(a)
Exercisable
($)
Date
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
31,250
9.00
1/28/2021
62,500
10.00
1/28/2021
62,500
12.00
1/28/2021
62,500
14.00
1/28/2021
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Equity Incentive
Market or
Plan Awards:
Payout Value of
Number of Market Value
Number of
Un-earned
Shares or
of Shares
Un-earned
Shares, Units
Units of
or Units of
Shares, Units or
or Other
Stock That Stock That
Other Rights
Rights That
Have Not
Have Not
That Have Not
Have Not
Vested
Vested
Vested
Vested
(i)
(#)
($)
(#)
($)(i)
(b)
—
—
48,293
953,304
8,049(c)
158,887
—
—
8,936(d)
176,397
—
—
—
—
73,688(e)
1,454,601
12,282(f)
242,447
—
—
—
—
27,146(g)
535,862
—
—
33,980(h)
670,765
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
14,699(b)
290,158
2,450(c)
48,363
—
—
2,234(d)
44,099
—
—
—
—
22,428(e)
442,729
3,738(f)
73,788
—
—
—
—
9,048(g)
178,608
—
—
11,326(h)
223,575
—
—
17,849(b)
352,339
2,975(c)
58,727
—
—
—
—
19,223(e)
379,462
3,204(f)
63,247
—
—
—
—
5,170(g)
102,056
—
—
6,472(h)
127,757
—
—
8,400(b)
165,816
1,400(c)
27,636
—
—
—
—
12,816(e)
252,988
2,136(f)
42,165
—
—
—
—
5,170(g)
102,056
—
—
6,472(h)
127,757
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Option Awards

Name
Mr. Miller

Grant
Date
10/18/19
10/18/19
10/01/18
10/01/18
10/18/16
11/12/15

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable(a)
—
—
—
—
—
—

Stock Awards

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Equity Incentive
Market or
Plan Awards:
Payout Value of
Number of Market Value
Number of
Un-earned
Shares or
of Shares
Un-earned
Shares, Units
Units of
or Units of
Shares, Units or
or Other
Option
Stock That Stock That
Other Rights
Rights That
Exercise
Option
Have Not
Have Not
That Have Not
Have Not
Price
Expiration
Vested
Vested
Vested
Vested
($)
Date
(#)
($)(i)
(#)
($)(i)
(b)
—
—
—
—
6,300
124,362
—
—
1,050(c)
20,727
—
—
—
—
—
—
9,612(e)
189,741
—
—
1,602(f)
31,623
—
—
—
—
—
—
3,878(g)
76,552
—
—
—
—
4,854(h)
95,818

(a)

These options had a market vesting condition related to the resolution of a management stock loan program
when the share price reached the breakeven amount for participants. In 2013, the stock price exceeded the
required threshold and the management stock loan program was extinguished, resulting in these options vesting
for the CEO.

(b)

These awards are LTIP awards granted in the form of performance-based RSUs in fiscal 2020 (October 18, 2019).
The vesting requirements of this award are described in the preceding Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

(c)

These awards are LTIP awards granted in the form of service-based RSUs in fiscal 2020 (October 18, 2019) which
are expected to vest on August 31, 2022. The vesting conditions for this award are described in the preceding
Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

(d)

On January 25, 2019, Mr. Whitman and Mr. Young each received a supplemental service-based LTIP award,
which vests two years from the grant date, or January 25, 2021.

(e)

These awards are LTIP awards granted in the form of performance-based RSUs in fiscal 2019 (October 1, 2018).
These shares vest based on the achievement of specified levels of Qualified Adjusted EBITDA and Subscription
and Related Sales. The original minimum threshold, target, and maximum award levels for the Qualified
Adjusted EBITDA tranche are achieved at $28.0 million, $35.0 million, and $40.0 million, respectively. The
minimum threshold, target, and maximum award levels for the Subscription and Related Sales tranche are
achieved at $145.0 million, $165.0 million, and $185.0 million. Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and
uncertainties related to the economic recovery from the pandemic, subsequent to August 31, 2020, the
Compensation Committee lengthened the service period for the performance-based tranches of the fiscal 2019
LTIP award by two years. The measurement period was extended from August 31, 2021 to August 31, 2023, and
the Qualified Adjusted EBITDA thresholds were each increased by $2.0 million from the amounts described
above. There were no changes to the Subscription and Related Sales tranches.

(f)

These awards are LTIP awards granted in the form of service-based RSUs in fiscal 2019 (October 1, 2018) that are
expected to vest on August 31, 2021. The terms of this tranche were not changed by the modifications described
in note (e) above.

(g)

These awards are LTIP awards granted in fiscal 2017 (October 18, 2016). The number of shares that may be
awarded under the RSUs to the participants is based on six individual vesting conditions that are divided into two
performance measures: (1) trailing four-quarter LTIP Adjusted EBITDA, which equals Adjusted EBITDA plus the
change in deferred revenue (less certain costs), and excludes the impact of foreign exchange and (2) increased All
Access Pass sales. Multi-year LTIP Adjusted EBITDA targets for this award (excluding the impact of fluctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates and STIP) are $36.7 million, $41.8 million and $47.7 million (70% of the award
shares), and the targets related to All Access Pass sales are $30.1 million, $35.4 million and 40.8 million (30% of
the award shares). As of August 31, 2020, participants had vested in all three tranches of 18,338 shares related to
All Access Pass sales and the first tranche of 42,789 shares related to LTIP Adjusted EBITDA. All other tranches
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of this award remain unvested. Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertainties related to the
economic recovery from the pandemic, subsequent to August 31, 2020, the Compensation Committee
lengthened the service period of the fiscal 2017 LTIP award by two years from August 31, 2022 to August 31,
2024. The remaining unvested Adjusted EBITDA tranche targets were each increased by $2.0 million to
$43.8 million and $49.7 million.
(h)

These awards are LTIP awards granted in fiscal 2016 (November 12, 2015). The number of shares that may be
awarded under the RSUs to the participants is based on six individual vesting conditions that are divided into
two performance measures: (1) trailing four-quarter LTIP Adjusted EBITDA, which equals Adjusted EBITDA
plus the change in deferred revenue (less certain costs), and excludes the impact of foreign exchange and (2)
increased sales of the Organization Development Suite (OD Suite) of offerings. The OD Suite is defined as
Leadership, Productivity and Trust offerings. Multi-year LTIP Adjusted EBITDA targets for this award (excluding
the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and STIP) are $36.0 million, $40.0 million and
$44.0 million (70% of the award shares), and the targets related to increased sales of the OD Suite are
$107.0 million, $116.0 million and $125.0 million (30% of the award shares). As of August 31, 2020, participants
had vested in all three tranches of 23,128 shares related to increased OD Suite sales and the first tranche of
53,964 shares related to LTIP Adjusted EBITDA. All other tranches of this award remain unvested. Due to the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertainties related to the economic recovery from the pandemic,
subsequent to August 31, 2020, the Compensation Committee lengthened the service period of the fiscal 2017
LTIP award by two years from August 31, 2021 to August 31, 2023. The remaining unvested Adjusted EBITDA
tranche targets were each increased by $2.0 million to $42.0 million and $46.0 million.

(i)

Values were determined by multiplying the target number of RSUs or other performance awards, or the number
of service-based RSUs, by the closing price per share of the Company’s common stock on the NYSE on August 31,
2020 of $19.74.

Fiscal 2020 Option Exercises and Stock Vested

Mr. Whitman
Mr. Young
Mr. Walker
Mr. Covey
Mr. Miller

Option Awards
Stock Awards
Number of Shares
Number of Shares
Acquired on
Value Realized on
Acquired on
Value Realized on
Exercise (#)
Exercise ($)(b)
Vesting (#)(c)
Vesting ($)(d)
(a)
218,750
7,595,000
76,731
1,514,670
131,250(a)
4,557,000
23,355
461,028
—
—
18,675
368,645
—
—
13,347
263,470
—
—
10,011
197,617

(a)

These options were exercised on a ‘‘net share’’ basis, meaning no cash was exchanged, on the exercise date. Based
on this method of exercise, the participants received the following gross (before income taxes) number of shares:
Mr. Whitman, 145,845 shares, and Mr. Young, 85,887 shares. As allowed by our stock-based incentive plans,
participants may choose to have shares withheld to cover income taxes. Both Mr. Whitman and Mr. Young
elected to have shares withheld to cover statutory income taxes on the exercise of these options.

(b)

The value realized on exercise was determined by multiplying the number of shares acquired on exercise by
$34.72, which was the closing share price of the Company’s common stock on the option exercise date. Both
Mr. Whitman and Mr. Young exercised their stock options on the same date.

(c)

The fiscal 2018 LTIP award vested on August 31, 2020. Participants were awarded shares based on the highest
level of rolling four quarter Qualified Adjusted EBITDA and Subscription and Related Sales during the three-year
period ended August 31, 2020 as well as a time-based tranche that vested at the completion of three years of
service.

(d)

The value realized on vesting was determined by multiplying the number of shares acquired upon vesting by
$19.74, which was the closing share price of the Company’s common stock on August 31, 2020.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control
Severance Benefits Upon Termination Without Cause
Our NEOs are subject to the same general (non-change-in-control) severance policies as all Franklin Covey
employees. Under our severance policy, Company employees, including each of the NEOs, who are terminated
involuntarily by the Company without cause receive a lump-sum payment equal to one week’s salary for every
$10,000 of their annual total targeted cash compensation. Additionally, we pay COBRA medical and dental premiums
for the term of the severance period. As a condition to receipt of severance benefits, the NEO must agree to abide by
specific non-compete, non-solicitation and confidentiality requirements. The target total severance payment equals
the target annual cash compensation plus target COBRA premiums for the severance period. The COBRA benefits are
generally limited to 18 months for all NEOs. The amounts below assume that each NEO experienced a qualifying
termination of employment on August 31, 2020 (the last business day of fiscal 2020).

Estimated Severance Amounts as of August 31, 2020

Name
Mr. Whitman
Mr. Young
Mr. Walker
Mr. Covey
Mr. Miller

Year
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020

Target
Total
Severance
Payment
($)
2,577,920
675,903
1,000,028
502,803
502,803

Base
Salary
($)
575,000
350,000
425,000
300,000
300,000

Target Annual
STIP
($)
575,000
235,000
284,750
200,000
200,000

Target
Annual Cash
Compensation
($)
1,150,000
585,000
709,750
500,000
500,000

Target
Severance
Compensation
(Excluding
COBRA)
($)
2,543,269
658,125
968,740
480,769
480,769

Target
COBRA
Premiums
($)
34,651
17,777
31,288
22,034
22,034

Change-in-Control Severance Benefit
The Company has entered into a change-in-control severance agreement with each NEO. Under the terms of the
agreements, upon the occurrence of a change-in-control and a qualifying termination, each NEO is entitled to a lump
severance payment equal to one time his current annual total targeted cash compensation, plus reimbursement of
premiums to secure medical benefit continuation coverage for a period of one year. The target total severance
payment equals the target annual cash compensation plus target COBRA premiums for the severance period. There
are no excise tax gross-ups provided under the agreements. The amounts below assume that each NEO incurred a
qualifying termination of employment on August 31, 2020.

Estimated Change-in-Control Severance Amounts as of August 31, 2020

Name
Mr. Whitman
Mr. Young
Mr. Walker
Mr. Covey
Mr. Miller

Year
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020

Target
Total
Severance
Payment
($)
1,165,668
600,668
732,665
522,915
522,915

Base
Salary
($)
575,000
350,000
425,000
300,000
300,000

Target Annual
STIP
($)
575,000
235,000
284,750
200,000
200,000

Target
Annual
Cash
Compensation
($)
1,150,000
585,000
709,750
500,000
500,000

Target
COBRA
Premiums for
12 Months
($)
15,668
15,668
22,915
22,915
22,915
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Compensation Committee Report
Our Compensation Committee reviewed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A), as prepared by
management of Franklin Covey, and discussed the CD&A with management of Franklin Covey. Based on the
Committee’s review and discussions, the Committee recommended to the Board that the CD&A be included in this
Proxy Statement and in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020.
Compensation Committee:
E. Kay Stepp, Chair
Dennis Heiner
Michael Fung
Anne Chow
Nancy Phillips

CEO Pay Ratio Disclosure
•

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act) requires the Company to
disclose the ratio of the CEO’s annual total compensation (under the Summary Compensation Table definition)
to that of the Company’s median employee (excluding the CEO) using the same methodology.

•

Our CEO’s compensation for fiscal 2020, as disclosed in the Summary Compensation Table, is $2,277,656.
The annual total compensation for our median employee is $81,650. The ratio between the CEO’s and median
employee’s annual total compensation as of August 31, 2020 is 28:1.

•

To determine the median employee, we prepared a list of our employee population as of June 30, 2020.
We included the global employee population (948 employees), whether employed on a full-time, part-time,
temporary or seasonal basis.

•

We established a consistently applied compensation measure inclusive of total cash paid from July 1, 2019
through June 30, 2020. We annualized compensation for employees hired during that time. Non-US employee
compensation was converted to US dollars based on applicable exchange rates as of June 30, 2020.

•

We believe that the ratio is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with Item 402(u) of SEC
Regulation S-K. Given the rule’s flexibility, the method the Company used to determine the median employee
may be different from its peers, so the ratios may not be comparable.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The following is the report of the Audit Committee with respect to our audited financial statements for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2020. The information contained in this report shall not be deemed ‘‘soliciting material’’ or otherwise
considered ‘‘filed’’ with the SEC, and such information shall not be incorporated by reference under the Exchange Act
except to the extent that we specifically incorporate such information by reference in such filing.
The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility for oversight of the quality and
integrity of the accounting, auditing, and reporting practices of the Company. The Audit Committee is comprised
entirely of independent directors and operates in accordance with a written charter, which was adopted by the Board
of Directors. A copy of that charter is available on our website at www.franklincovey.com. Each member of the Audit
Committee is ‘‘independent,’’ as required by the applicable listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange and the
rules of the SEC.
The Audit Committee oversees the Company’s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors.
The Company’s management has primary responsibility for the financial statements and reporting process, including
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The independent registered public accounting firm is
responsible for performing an integrated audit of the Company’s financial statements and internal control over
financial reporting in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.
In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with management the audited
financial statements to be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020.
This review included a discussion of the quality and the acceptability of the Company’s financial reporting and system
of internal controls, including the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements. The Audit Committee also
reviewed and discussed with the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm the audited financial
statements of the Company for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020, their judgments as to the quality and
acceptability of the Company’s financial reporting, and such other matters as are required to be discussed by Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board standards.
The Audit Committee obtained from the independent registered public accountants a formal written statement
describing all relationships between the auditors and the Company that might bear on the auditors’ independence
consistent with applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and discussed with the
auditors any relationships that may impact their objectivity and independence, and satisfied itself as to the auditors’
independence. The Audit Committee meets periodically with the independent registered public accounting firm, with
and without management present, to discuss the results of the independent registered public accounting firm’s
examinations and evaluations of the Company’s internal control and the overall quality of the Company’s financial
reporting.
Based upon the review and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended that the Company’s
audited financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
August 31, 2020, for filing with the SEC.
Date: November 3, 2020
Michael Fung, Chairman
Dennis G. Heiner
E. Kay Stepp
Derek C.M. van Bever
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OVERVIEW OF PROPOSALS
This Proxy Statement includes three proposals requiring shareholder action. Proposal No. 1 requests the election of
eight directors to the Board of Directors. Proposal No. 2 requests an advisory vote on executive compensation.
Proposal No. 3 requests the ratification of Deloitte & Touche, LLP as our independent registered public accounting
firm for fiscal 2020. Each of these proposals is discussed in more detail in the pages that follow.

PROPOSAL NO. 1
Election of Directors
At the Annual Meeting, eight directors are to be elected to serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders and
until their successors shall be duly elected and qualified. Our director nominees have a great diversity of experience
and bring to our Board a wide variety of skills, qualifications, and viewpoints that strengthen their ability to carry out
their oversight role on behalf of our shareholders. They have developed their skills and gained experience across a
broad range of industries and disciplines in both established and growth markets. The biographies contained in the
section of this Proxy Statement entitled, ‘‘Nominees for Election to the Board of Directors’’ describe the many areas of
individual expertise that each director nominee brings to our board.
Unless the shareholder indicates otherwise, each proxy will be voted in favor of the eight nominees listed below. Each
of the nominees is currently serving as a director of the Company. If any of the nominees should be unavailable to
serve, which is not now anticipated, the proxies solicited hereby will be voted for such other persons as shall be
designated by the present Board of Directors.

Vote Required
The eight nominees receiving the highest number of affirmative votes of the shares entitled to be voted for them, up to
the eight directors to be elected by those shares, will be elected as directors to serve until the next annual meeting of
shareholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no
effect on the election of directors.
Pursuant to the Company’s bylaws, any nominee for director who receives a greater number of votes ‘‘withheld’’ or
‘‘against’’ from his or her election than votes ‘‘for’’ his or her election shall immediately offer to tender his or her
resignation following certification of such shareholder vote. The Nominating Committee shall promptly consider the
director’s resignation offer and make a recommendation to the Board of Directors on whether to accept or reject the
offer. The Board of Directors shall act on the recommendation of the Nominating Committee and publicly disclose its
decision within 90 days following certification of the shareholder vote.

Recommendation of the Board
The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote FOR the election of Anne H. Chow, Michael Fung,
Dennis G. Heiner, Donald J. McNamara, Joel C. Peterson, Nancy Phillips, Derek C.M. van Bever, and Robert A.
Whitman.
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PROPOSAL NO. 2
Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation
In accordance with the requirements of Section 14A of the Exchange Act and the related rules of the SEC,
the Company is providing its shareholders with the opportunity to cast an advisory vote on executive compensation as
described below. We believe that it is appropriate to seek the views of shareholders on the design and effectiveness of
our executive compensation program.
The overall goal of our executive compensation program is to attract, motivate, and retain a talented and creative
team of executives who will provide leadership for our success in dynamic and competitive markets. The Company
seeks to accomplish this goal in a way that rewards performance and that is aligned with shareholders’ long-term
interests. We believe that our executive compensation program, which utilizes both short-term cash awards and
long-term equity awards, satisfies this goal and is strongly aligned with the long-term interest of our shareholders.
The Compensation Discussion and Analysis, as presented within this Proxy Statement, describes the Company’s
executive compensation program and the decisions made by the Compensation Committee during fiscal 2020 in more
detail. We believe that the compensation program for the Named Executive Officers is instrumental in helping the
Company achieve its financial goals. Please refer to the information contained in the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis as you consider this proposal.
We are asking the shareholders to vote on the following resolution:
RESOLVED, that the shareholders hereby approve the compensation of the Company’s Named Executive Officers, as
disclosed in this Proxy Statement pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K, including the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis, compensation tables, and narrative disclosure.
As an advisory vote, this proposal is not binding upon the Company. However, the Compensation Committee,
which is responsible for designing and administering our executive compensation program, values the opinions
expressed by shareholders in their vote on this proposal and will consider the outcome of the vote when making future
compensation decisions for the Named Executive Officers. We currently intend to include a shareholder advisory vote
on our executive compensation program each year at our annual meeting of shareholders.

Vote Required
Approval of Proposal No. 2 requires that the number of votes cast in favor of the proposal exceeds the number of votes
cast in opposition. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not have any effect on the outcome of this proposal.

Recommendation of the Board
The Board recommends that shareholders vote FOR Proposal No. 2.
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PROPOSAL NO. 3
Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Audit Committee has selected the independent registered public accounting firm Deloitte & Touche, LLP to audit
our financial statements for fiscal 2021. Deloitte began serving as our independent registered public accounting firm
in the third quarter of fiscal 2016. In making its selection, the Audit Committee took into account:
•

Deloitte’s knowledge of the Company’s business allows it to design and enhance its audit plan by focusing on
known and emerging risks, which creates efficiency and controls cost through iteration.

•

Deloitte has a global footprint and the expertise and capabilities necessary to handle the breadth and
complexity of our international business, accounting practices, and internal controls.

•

Deloitte generally attends each Audit Committee meeting and meets regularly in closed door sessions with
our Audit Committee so they can provide timely and candid feedback to the Committee regarding
accounting and control issues which may impact the Company.

•

Deloitte is an independent public accounting firm and is subject to oversight and inspection by the United
States Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), Big 4 peer reviews, and SEC regulations. The
results of these reviews are communicated to the Audit Committee.

•

Deloitte has significant policies and procedures in place to maintain its continued independence, including
mandatory lead audit partner rotation to balance fresh perspectives with the benefits of having a tenured
auditor with institutional knowledge.

The members of our Audit Committee believe that the continued retention of Deloitte as our independent registered
public accounting firm is in the best interests of our Company and our shareholders.

Principal Accountant Fees
The following table shows the fees accrued or paid to our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal
years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019:
Audit Fees(1)
Audit-Related Fees(2)
Tax Fees(3)
All Other Fees(4)

Fiscal 2020
$658,393
86,992
48,107
—
$793,492

Fiscal 2019
$648,414
13,500
48,694
—
$710,608

(1)

Audit fees represent fees and expenses for professional services provided in connection with the audit of our
consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting found in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K and reviews of our financial statements contained in Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q, accounting consultations on actual transactions, and audit services provided in connection with other
statutory filings.

(2)

Audit-Related Fees consist of fees for services related to registration statements and other transactions.

(3)

Tax Fees consisted primarily of fees and expenses for services related to tax compliance, tax planning, and tax
consulting.

(4)

Deloitte did not provide any ‘‘other services’’ during the periods presented.

The Audit Committee pre-approves all services to be performed by our independent registered public accountants
and subsequently reviews the actual fees and expenses paid to them. All of the audit-related services and tax services
provided by our independent registered public accounting firm during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019
were pre-approved by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has determined that the fees paid for non-audit
services are compatible with maintaining independence as our independent registered public accountants.
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The Board of Directors anticipates that one or more representatives of Deloitte will be present at the Annual Meeting,
will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so, and will be available to respond to appropriate
questions.

Vote Required
The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accountants
requires that the number of votes cast in favor of the proposal exceeds the number of votes cast in opposition.
Abstentions and broker non-votes will not have any effect on the outcome of this proposal.

Board Recommendation
The Board recommends that shareholders vote FOR the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the
Company’s independent registered public accountants.
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OTHER MATTERS
As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Board of Directors knows of no other matters to be presented for action at
the meeting. However, if any further business should properly come before the meeting, the persons named as proxies
in the accompanying form of proxy will vote on such business in accordance with their best judgment.

PROPOSALS OF SHAREHOLDERS
Requirements for Shareholder Proposals to be Considered for Inclusion in Our Proxy Materials
Shareholders may present proposals for inclusion in our proxy statement and form of proxy for the annual meeting of
shareholders to be held in calendar year 2022, provided that such proposals must be received by us, at our executive
offices (2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331) no later than August 23, 2021, provided that
this date may be changed in the event that the date of the annual meeting of shareholders to be held in calendar year
2021 is changed by more than 30 days from the date of the annual meeting of shareholders to be held in calendar year
2020. Such proposals must also comply with the requirements as to form and substance established by the SEC if such
proposals are to be included in our proxy statement and form of proxy.

Requirements for Shareholder Proposals to be Brought Before the Annual Meeting
Our bylaws provide that, except in the case of proposals made in accordance with Rule 14a-8, for shareholder
nominations to the Board of Directors or other proposals to be considered at an annual meeting of shareholders, the
shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of Franklin Covey not less than 60 nor
more than 90 calendar days prior to the anniversary of the date of the immediately preceding annual meeting. To be
timely for the annual meeting of shareholders to be held in calendar year 2022, a shareholder’s notice must be
delivered or mailed to, and received by, our Secretary at our executive offices (2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt
Lake City, Utah 84119-2331) between October 24, 2021 and November 23, 2021. However, in the event that the
annual meeting is called for a date that is not within 30 calendar days of the anniversary of the date on which the
immediately preceding annual meeting of shareholders was called, to be timely, notice by the shareholder must be so
received not earlier than the close of business on the 90th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close
of business on the later of either (i) the 60th day prior to such annual meeting, or (ii) the close of business on the tenth
day following the day on which notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of the
meeting was made by the Company, whichever occurs first. In no event will the public announcement of an
adjournment of an annual meeting of shareholders commence a new time period for the giving of a shareholder’s
notice as provided above. A shareholder’s notice to our Secretary must set forth the information required by our
bylaws with respect to each matter the shareholder proposes to bring before the annual meeting.
Pursuant to rules adopted by the SEC, if a shareholder intends to propose any matter for a vote at our annual meeting
to be held in calendar year 2022 but fails to notify us of that intention prior to November 6, 2021, then a proxy
solicited by the Board of Directors may be voted on that matter in the discretion of the proxy holder, provided that
this date may be changed in the event that the date of the annual meeting of shareholders to be held in calendar year
2022 is changed by more than 30 days from the date of the annual meeting of shareholders held in calendar year 2021.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
We file annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. These filings are
also available to the public from the SEC’s web site at http://www.sec.gov.
We will provide without charge to any person from whom a Proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors, upon
the written request of such person, a copy of our 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the financial
statements and schedules thereto (as well as exhibits thereto, if specifically requested), required to be filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Written requests for such information should be directed to Franklin
Covey Co., Investor Relations Department, 2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331,
Attn: Mr. Stephen D. Young.
You should rely only on the information contained in this Proxy Statement. We have not authorized anyone to provide
you with information different from that contained in this Proxy Statement. The information contained in this Proxy
Statement is accurate only as of the date of this Proxy Statement, regardless of the time of delivery of this Proxy
Statement.
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DIRECTIONS TO THE ANNUAL MEETING
N

Decker Lake Blvd.

Directions to FranklinCovey from Provo/South
♦
♦
♦
♦

♦
♦
♦
♦
♦

Take I-15 North to the 21st South Freeway; merge
onto the 21st South Freeway Westbound
Take the Redwood Road exit
Turn left (South) onto Redwood Road.
Turn right at Parkway Blvd. (2495 South), this
intersection has a traffic light, gas station on
corner
You will pass UPS on your right
FranklinCovey will be the block after UPS on your
right
2200 West Parkway Blvd., Salt Lake City, UT
84119
Park at the Washington Building, this building has
3 big flagpoles at the front door
Receptionist in the Washington building will be
able to help you

Redwood Road

Bangerter Highway

21st South Freeway

W Parkway Blvd.

Directions to Franklin Covey from Downtown/North
♦

If entering I-15 from 600 South on-ramp southbound

♦
♦
♦

Take the 21st South Freeway
Take the first exit off 21st South Freeway which is Redwood Road
Turn left (South) onto Redwood Road.

♦
♦

Turn right at Parkway Blvd. (2495 South), this intersection has a
traffic light, gas station on corner
You will pass UPS on your right

♦

FranklinCovey will be the block after UPS on your right

♦

2200 West Parkway Blvd., Salt Lake City, UT 84119

♦

Park at the Washington Building, this building has 3 big flagpoles at
the front door
Receptionist in the Washington building will be able to help you

♦

If you need further assistance or additional directions, please call our receptionist at (801) 817-1776.
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Appendix A

ADJUSTED EBITDA RECONCILIATION TO NET INCOME (LOSS)
For fiscal 2015 to fiscal 2020, Adjusted EBITDA means net income or loss excluding the impact of interest expense,
income tax expense, amortization, depreciation, share-based compensation expense, adjustments to the fair value of
contingent earn out liabilities, and certain other items. The Company references this non-GAAP financial measure in
its disclosure and decision making because it provides supplemental information that facilitates consistent internal
comparisons to the historical operating performance of prior periods and the Company believes it provides investors
with greater transparency to evaluate operational activities and financial results.

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to Adjusted EBITDA
(in thousands and unaudited)

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments:
Interest expense, net
Discount on related party receivable
Income tax provision (benefit)
Amortization
Depreciation
Stock-based compensation
Increase (decrease) to the fair value of contingent
earn-out liabilities
Gain from insurance settlement
Government COVID-19 assistance
Knowledge Capital wind-down costs
Impairment of assets
Costs to exit Japan publishing business
Restructuring costs
ERP system implementation costs
Business acquisition costs
Contract termination costs
Licensee transition costs

Fiscal Year Ended August 31,
2018
2017
2016

2020

2019

$ (9,435)

$ (1,023)

$ (5,887)

2015

$(7,172)

$ 7,016

$11,116

2,262
—
10,231
4,606
6,664
(573)

2,063
—
1,615
4,976
6,364
4,789

2,154
—
367
5,368
5,161
2,846

2,029
—
(3,737)
3,538
3,879
3,658

1,938
—
4,895
3,263
3,677
3,121

1,754
363
6,296
3,727
4,142
2,536

(49)
(933)
(514)
389
—
—
1,636
—
—
—

1,334
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
488
$20,676

1,014
—
—
—
—
—
—
855
—
—
—
$11,878

(1,936)
—
—
—
—
2,107
1,482
1,404
442
1,500
505
$ 7,699

1,538
—
—
—
—
—
776
448
—
—
222
$26,894

35
—
—
—
1,302
—
587
—
—
—
—
$31,858

$14,284
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PART I
Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains ‘‘forward-looking statements’’ within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the Exchange Act), and such forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Statements about
future sales, costs, margins, cost savings, foreign currency exchange rates, earnings, earnings per share, cash flows,
plans, objectives, expectations, growth, profitability, or recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic are forward-looking
statements based on management’s estimates, assumptions, and projections. Words such as ‘‘could,’’ ‘‘may,’’ ‘‘will,’’
‘‘should,’’ ‘‘likely,’’ ‘‘anticipates,’’ ‘‘expects,’’ ‘‘intends,’’ ‘‘plans,’’ ‘‘projects,’’ ‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘estimates,’’ and variations on such
words, including similar expressions, are used to identify these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements are only predictions, subject to risks and uncertainties, and actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in this, and other reports, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and elsewhere.
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties, and
assumptions that are difficult to predict. Risks, uncertainties, and other factors that might cause such differences,
some of which could be material, include, but are not limited to, the factors discussed under the section of this report
entitled ‘‘Risk Factors.’’
Forward-looking statements in this report are based on management’s current views and assumptions regarding future
events and speak only as of the date when made. Franklin Covey Co. undertakes no obligation to publicly update or
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as
required by federal securities laws.
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context requires otherwise, the terms ‘‘the Company,’’ ‘‘Franklin
Covey,’’ ‘‘us,’’ we,’’ and ‘‘our’’ refer to Franklin Covey Co. and its subsidiaries.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General Information
Franklin Covey is a global company focused on organizational performance improvement. Our mission is to ‘‘enable
greatness in people and organizations everywhere,’’ and our global structure is designed to help individuals and
organizations achieve sustained superior performance through changes in human behavior. From the foundational
work of Dr. Stephen R. Covey in leadership and personal effectiveness, and Hyrum W. Smith in productivity and time
management, we have developed deep expertise that extends to helping organizations and individuals achieve lasting
behavioral change. We believe that our clients are able to utilize our content and offerings to create cultures whose
hallmarks are high-performing, collaborative individuals, led by effective, trust building leaders who execute with
excellence and deliver measurably improved results for all of their key stakeholders.
The Company was incorporated in 1983 under the laws of the state of Utah, and we merged with the Covey
Leadership Center in 1997 to form Franklin Covey Co. Our consolidated net sales for the fiscal year ended August 31,
2020 totaled $198.5 million and our shares of common stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)
under the ticker symbol ‘‘FC.’’
Our fiscal year ends on August 31 of each year. Unless otherwise noted, references to fiscal years apply to the
12 months ended August 31 of the specified year.
The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah
84119-2331, and our telephone number is (801) 817-1776. Our website is www.franklincovey.com.

Business Development
Our business is currently structured around two divisions, the Enterprise Division and the Education Division. The
Enterprise Division consists of our Direct Office and International Licensee segments and is focused on selling our
offerings to corporations, governments, not-for-profits, and other related organizations. Franklin Covey offerings
delivered through the Enterprise Division are designed to help organizations and individuals achieve their own great
results. Our Education Division is centered around the principles found in the Leader in Me and is dedicated to
helping educational institutions build cultures that will produce great results, including increased student
performance, improved school culture, and increased parental and teacher involvement.
During 2016, we introduced the All Access Pass (AAP), which we believe is a ground-breaking subscription service
that allows our clients unlimited access to our content through an electronic portal. We believe the AAP is a
revolutionary and innovative way to deliver our content to clients of various sizes, including large, multinational
organizations, in a flexible and cost-effective manner. Clients may utilize complete offerings such as The 7 Habits of
Highly Effective People and The 5 Choices to Extraordinary Productivity, or use individual concepts from any of our
well-known offerings to create a custom solution to fit their organizational or individual training needs. Since the
introduction of the All Access Pass, we have invested in additional implementation specialists to provide our clients
with the direction necessary to create meaningful impact journeys using our tools and content. An impact journey is a
customized plan to utilize the content and offerings on the AAP to achieve a client’s specific goals and to provide them
with the keys to obtain maximum value from the pass. We have also translated All Access Pass materials into
numerous additional languages, which allows the AAP to be used effectively by multinational entities and provides for
greater international sales opportunities. The AAP is primarily sold through our Enterprise Division.
In our Education Division, we have launched the Leader in Me membership, which provides access to the Leader in
Me online service, and authorizes use of Franklin Covey’s proprietary intellectual property. The Leader in Me online
service provides access to student leadership guides, leadership lessons, illustrated leadership stories, and a variety of
other resources to enable an educational institution to effectively implement and utilize the Leader in Me program.
We believe that the tools and resources available through the Leader in Me membership will provide measurable
results that are designed to develop student leadership, improve school culture, and increase academic proficiency.
We believe that continued investments in personnel, content, and technological innovation are key to subscription
service renewals and the future growth of our offerings.

Franklin Covey 2020 Annual Report

Business

In addition to the internal development of our offerings as previously described, we have sought to grow our sales
through acquisitions of businesses and content licenses, and opening new international offices. Over previous years,
these activities have included the following:
•

License of ‘‘Multipliers’’ Leadership Content – During late fiscal 2019, we obtained a license to develop
and sell leadership offerings based on the bestselling book Multipliers by Liz Wiseman. We launched the new
programs based on Multipliers content in August 2020. The initial term of this license will expire on
August 31, 2029.

•

New Offices in Germany, Switzerland, and Austria – During fiscal 2019, we acquired the former
independent licensee that provided services in these countries and transitioned the operations into directly
owned offices. We believe that we will be able to significantly grow our business in these countries through
this acquisition.

Impact of COVID-19 on Franklin Covey
COVID-19 was first identified in China during December 2019, and subsequently declared a pandemic by the World
Health Organization. Since its discovery, COVID-19 has surfaced in nearly all regions of the world and has produced
travel restrictions and business slowdowns or shutdowns in affected areas. As a result, COVID-19 has impacted our
business globally, including our licensees, through office, government, and school closures. In particular, these
closures impacted our third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020 as described throughout this Annual Report on Form
10-K for fiscal 2020.
After strong financial performance during the first two quarters of fiscal 2020, our financial results in the third and
fourth quarters of fiscal 2020 were adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. We closed our corporate offices
and restricted travel to protect the health and safety of our associates and clients in an effort to slow the spread of the
pandemic. Our international direct offices also followed the same pattern of closures and restrictions on associate
travel and delivery of our offerings. These actions, and similar steps taken by most of our clients, resulted in decreased
sales during the third and fourth quarters as previously scheduled onsite events, client-facilitated presentations, and
coaching days were postponed or canceled.
However, during the widespread closure of offices, schools, and other gathering places, we accelerated our connection
and engagement with clients through the use of our digital delivery systems, including the All Access Pass in the
Enterprise Division and the Leader in Me subscription service in the Education Division. Our subscription service
clients are able to access content and programs from remote locations, which allows continued engagement of
personnel and students during long periods of displacement from normal working or classroom conditions. To be
successful in our industry, it is important to create effective learning environments for our clients and students, and
we believe our previous investments in digital and remote delivery modalities are key to surviving and then thriving in
the current environment. According to the Training magazine 2020 Training Industry Report, most companies expect
to retain at least some aspects of remote learning after the COVID-19 pandemic is over. We believe our ability to
deliver content and offerings over a broad array of modalities to suit a client’s needs will prove to be a valuable
strategic advantage, and we believe these capabilities will accelerate our recovery from the effects of the pandemic and
will generate increased opportunities in future periods.

Franklin Covey Services and Offerings
We operate globally with one common brand and a business model designed to enable us to provide clients around
the world with the same high level of service. To achieve this high level of service we have sales and support associates
in various locations around the United States and Canada, and operate wholly owned subsidiaries in Australia, China,
Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany, Switzerland, and Austria. In foreign locations where we do not have a directly
owned office, we may contract with independent licensee partners who deliver our content and provide services in
150 other countries and territories around the world.
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Our mission is to ‘‘enable greatness in people and organizations everywhere,’’ and we believe that we are experts at
solving certain pervasive, intractable problems, each of which requires a change in human behavior. We seek to
consistently deliver world-class content with the broadest and deepest distribution capabilities through the most
flexible content delivery modalities. We believe these characteristics distinguish us from our competitors as follows:
1.

World Class Content – Rather than rely on ‘‘flavor of the month’’ training fads, our content is
principle-centered and based on natural laws of human behavior and effectiveness. Our content is designed
to build new skillsets, establish new mindsets, and provide enabling toolsets. When our content is applied
consistently in an organization, we believe the culture of that organization will change to enable the
organization to achieve its own great purposes. Our content is well researched, subjected to numerous field
beta tests, and improved through a proven development process.

2.

Breadth and Scalability of Delivery Options – We have a wide range of content delivery options,
including: The All Access Pass and Leader in Me membership, other intellectual property licensing
arrangements, on-site training, training led through certified facilitators, on-line learning, blended learning,
and organization-wide transformational processes, including consulting and coaching services.

3.

Global Capability – We not only operate domestically with sales personnel in the United States and
Canada, but we also deliver content through our directly owned international offices and independently
owned international licensees who deliver our content in countries not covered by a directly owned office.
This capability allows us to deliver content to a wide range of customers, from large multinational
corporations to smaller local entities.

We hold ourselves responsible for and measure ourselves by our clients’ achievement of transformational results.
Further information about our content and services can be found on our website at www.franklincovey.com. However,
the information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute any part of this Annual
Report.

Seasonality
Our fourth quarter of each fiscal year typically has higher sales and operating income than other fiscal quarters
primarily due to increased revenues in our Education Division (when school administrators and faculty have
professional development days) and to increased sales that typically occur during that quarter from year-end incentive
programs. Overall, training sales are moderately seasonal because of the timing of corporate training, which is not
typically scheduled as heavily during holiday and certain vacation periods.

Our Industry and Clients
According to the Training magazine 2020 Training Industry Survey, the total size of the U.S. training industry is
estimated to be $82.5 billion. The training industry is highly fragmented and includes a wide variety of training and
service providers of varying sizes. We believe our competitive advantages in this industry stem from our fully
integrated principle-centered training offerings, our wide variety of delivery options, and various implementation tools
to help organizations and individuals measurably improve their effectiveness.
We operate in a highly competitive and rapidly changing global marketplace and compete with a variety of
organizations of various sizes that offer services comparable with ours. Based upon our annual sales, we believe that
we are a significant competitor in the performance skills and education market. Other significant comparative
companies that compete with our Enterprise Division include: Design Dimension International, GP Strategies Corp.,
LinkedIn Learning, Center for Creative Leadership, SkillSoft, and Vital Smarts. Our Education Division competes with
entities such as: Character Counts, Responsive Classroom, 7 Mindsets, Second Step, and K12.
We believe that the principal competitive factors in the industry in which we compete include the following:
•

Quality of offerings, services, and solutions

•

Skills and capabilities of people

•

Innovative training and consulting services combined with effective products
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•

Ability to add value to client operations

•

Reputation and client references

•

Pricing

•

Availability of appropriate resources

•

Global reach and scale

•

Branding and name recognition in our marketplace
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Given the relative ease of entry into the training market, the number of our competitors could increase, many of
whom may imitate existing methods of distribution, or could offer similar content and programs at lower prices.
However, we believe that we have several areas of competitive differentiation in our industry. We believe that our
competitive advantages include: (1) the quality of our content, as indicated by our strong gross margins, branded
content, and best-selling books; (2) the breadth of delivery options we are able to offer to customers for utilizing our
content, including the AAP and Leader in Me membership, digital presentations hosted by live presenters, live
presentations by our own training consultants, live presentations though Company certified client-employed
facilitators, intellectual property licensing, other web-based presentations, and film-based presentations; (3) our global
reach, which allows truly multinational clients to scale our content uniformly across the globe, through our mix of
direct offices and our global licensee network; and (4) the significant impact which our offerings can have on our
clients’ results.
We have a relatively broad base of clients, which includes thousands of organizational, governmental, educational, and
individual clients in both the United States and in other countries that are served through our directly owned
operations. We have thousands of additional organizational clients throughout the world which are served through
our global licensee partner network, and we believe that our content, in all its forms, delivers results that encourage
strong client loyalty. Our clients are in a broad array of industries and we are not dependent on a single client or
industry group. During the periods presented in this report, none of our clients were responsible for more than ten
percent of our consolidated revenues.

Our Intellectual Property
Our success has resulted in part from our proprietary content, methodologies, and other intellectual property rights.
We seek to protect our intellectual property through a combination of trademarks, copyrights, and confidentiality
agreements. We claim rights for over 640 trademarks in the United States and foreign countries, and we have obtained
registration in the United States and numerous foreign countries for many of our trademarks including FranklinCovey,
The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People, The 4 Disciplines of Execution, and The 7 Habits. We consider our trademarks
and other proprietary rights to be important and material to our business.
We claim over 220 registered copyrights, and own sole or joint copyrights on our books, manuals, text and other
printed information provided in our training programs, and other electronic media products, including audio and
video media. We may license, rather than sell, facilitator workbooks and other seminar and training materials in order
to protect our intellectual property rights therein. We place trademark and copyright notices on our instructional,
marketing, and advertising materials. In order to maintain the proprietary nature of our product information, we enter
into written confidentiality agreements with certain executives, product developers, sales professionals, training
consultants, other employees, and licensees.

Our Products and Sustainability
We offer training materials and related accessories in either digital or paper formats. Our printed training materials
are primarily comprised of paper, which we believe is a renewable and sustainable resource. We purchase our training
materials and related products from various vendors and suppliers located both domestically and internationally, and
we are not dependent upon any one vendor for the production of our training and related materials as the raw
materials for these products are readily available. Our training materials are primarily warehoused and distributed
from an independent warehouse facility located in Des Moines, Iowa.
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Human Capital
Our mission is to enable greatness in people and organizations everywhere. To fulfill that mission and successfully
implement our strategy, we must attract, develop, and retain highly qualified associates for each role in the
organization. Our goal is to have every employee feel they are a valued member of a winning team doing meaningful
work in an environment of trust. To accomplish this goal, we are focused on attracting, developing, and retaining talent
while looking through the lens of diversity, equity, and inclusion in each area. The following is a description of our
efforts to manage human capital within our organization.
Attracting Talent
Our recruiting team and hiring managers begin with the creation of detailed job descriptions, containing clearly
outlined skills and experience, necessary for success in each role. We believe these steps are essential to effectively
interview for identifiable skillsets and not just ‘‘personality fits.’’ We have historically attracted ‘‘mission driven’’ people
who care deeply about making a difference in the world. Our recruiting and hiring efforts cast a wide net when looking
for candidates by partnering with many groups and agencies including, alumni organizations, multiple diversity job
boards, diversity career fairs, the Utah Governor’s Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities and Business
Relations, and ElevatHER – an organization designed to promote women in leadership. Through these efforts, from
June 1, 2019 through May 31, 2020, which are the annual dates of our Affirmative Action Plan year, over 71 percent of
our new hires were women. Currently, over 64 percent of our employee population are women and over 76 percent of
our promotions during this same time period were women.
We also remain steadfast in our commitment to being an Affirmative Action Employer and have an objective to
increase the population of our Black, Indigenous, and People of Color (BIPOC) employees. In an effort to increase the
population of BIPOC employees, we have expanded our recruitment efforts. We hope to increase the number of
BIPOC applicants to ensure we are hiring the most qualified people while increasing our diversity. We are also actively
engaged in ensuring that out employee promotions are fair and equitable.
Developing Talent
We currently have approximately 940 associates, nearly all of whom are full-time employees, around the world who
are dedicated to providing the best service possible for our clients. The diverse and global makeup of our workforce
allows us to serve a variety of clients with different needs on a worldwide basis. We believe that creating an
environment which encourages continual learning and development is essential for us to maintain a high level of
service and to achieve our goal to have every employee feel they are a valued member of a winning team doing
meaningful work in an environment of trust. Franklin Covey is one of the premier training and consulting
organizations in the world, and we develop and deliver various offerings, including leadership and individual
effectiveness, to clients around the globe. Our associates have unlimited access to our content and training through
the All Access Pass, where they are able to experience the same high-quality solutions available to our clients. During
their first year, we encourage new associates to participate in our foundational offering, The 7 Habits of Highly
Effective People, which is used as the cultural operating system for our organization. We are currently delivering our
new Unconscious Bias training to our associates. This program is designed to strengthen organizations by promoting
the inclusion of various viewpoints from the natural talents and abilities of its people regardless of race, sexual
orientation, gender, religion, or other differences.
In the event an employee is struggling with reaching their goals or producing the results required of their role, a
thoughtful and thorough performance plan is created and implemented by their manager and our Chief People
Officer. The intent of the performance plan is to help the associate recalibrate and bring their performance up to
expectations. Through this transparent coaching process, struggling employees have been able to learn how to
improve their performance and become engaged, successful contributors in their role. We believe this process
strengthens our associate base while reducing the cost of finding and training new associates.
Retaining Talent
The war for talent is real, and talented people are always in high demand. During the period of June 1, 2019 through
May 31, 2020, our employee turnover rate in the United States and Canada was 10.7 percent, which we believe is
reasonable for our industry and the make-up of our workforce. To retain our associates, we believe it is critical to
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continually focus on making sure our employees are highly engaged and feel valued. We address these retention efforts
in a number of ways, including training our leaders in our solution entitled, The 6 Critical Practices for Leading a
Team. Our employee retention practices include holding consistent, effective one-on-one interviews, where leaders
regularly take time to connect with their employees, and to understand what is working well for them and what is not
working so well. Based on these interviews, leaders are encouraged to ‘‘clear the path’’ of those things which may be
holding the employee back. We are also focused on creating a culture of feedback, where feedback for both leaders and
employees is a normal and helpful part of how work gets done. We believe these efforts are key to creating an
atmosphere of continuous improvement.
Our compensation plans are audited periodically to confirm ongoing pay equity. We provide a generous personal time
off benefit as well as a flexible and inclusive holiday schedule, reflecting the diversity of our workforce and the
celebration of various cultural and religious affiliations. We also offer 100% salary continuance for up to 12 weeks in a
rolling 12-month period, for qualifying medical leaves, and provide many other ‘‘employee minded’’ benefits.
Our focus on human capital has been a hallmark of FranklinCovey for decades, understanding that people truly are a
company’s most valuable asset, and that culture is an organization’s ultimate competitive advantage. In 2017, our
Organization and Compensation Committee determined to make Talent Stewardship a standing agenda item at
committee meetings. The committee is actively involved in helping to determine best practices and implement new
and innovative ways to help us continually improve in attracting, developing, and retaining top talent for Franklin
Covey.

Information About Our Executive Officers
On November 7, 2019, we appointed Paul S. Walker as President and Chief Operating Officer of Franklin Covey Co.
and on November 1, 2020, Scott J. Miller transitioned from his role as Executive Vice-President of Thought
Leadership to that of an independent contractor and senior advisor to the Company’s thought leadership and
marketing operations. Each of the executive officers of Franklin Covey Co. listed below served with the described
responsibilities throughout the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020:
M. Sean Covey, 56, currently serves as President of the Franklin Covey Education Division, and has led the growth of
this Division from its infancy to its status today. The Education Division works with thousands of education entities
throughout the world in Higher Education and the K-12 market. Mr. Covey previously ran the Franklin Covey
international licensee network and has been an Executive Officer since September 2008. Sean also served as the
Executive Vice President of Innovations from 2003 to 2018, where he led the development of many of the Company’s
offerings, including the The 4 Disciplines of Execution and The Leader in Me. Prior to 2006, Sean ran the Franklin
Covey retail chain of stores. Previous to Franklin Covey, Sean worked for the Walt Disney Company, Trammel Crow
Ventures, and Deloitte & Touche Consulting. Mr. Covey is also a New York Times best-selling author and has
authored or coauthored several books, including The 4 Disciplines of Execution and the international bestseller
The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Teens. Sean graduated from Brigham Young University with a Bachelor’s degree in
English and earned an MBA from Harvard Business School.
Colleen Dom, 58, was appointed to be the Executive Vice-President of Operations in September 2013. Ms. Dom
began her career with the Company in 1985 and served as the first ‘‘Client Service Coordinator,’’ providing service and
seminar support for some of the Company’s very first clients. Prior to her appointment as an Executive Vice President,
Ms. Dom served as Vice President of Domestic Operations since 1997 where she had responsibility for the Company’s
North American operations, including client support, supply chain, and feedback operations. During her time at
Franklin Covey Co., Colleen has been instrumental in creating and implementing systems and processes that have
supported the Company’s strategic objectives and has more than 35 years of experience in client services, sales
support, operations, management, and supply chain. Due to her valuable understanding of the Company’s global
operations, Ms. Dom has been responsible for numerous key assignments that have enhanced client support,
optimized operations, and built capabilities for future growth. Prior to joining the Company, Colleen worked in retail
management and in the financial investment industry.
C. Todd Davis, 63, is an Executive Vice President and Chief People Officer, and has been an Executive Officer since
September 2008. Todd has over 30 years of experience in training, training development, sales and marketing, human
resources, coaching, and executive recruiting. He has been with Franklin Covey for the past 24 years. Previously,
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Mr. Davis was a Director of our Innovations Group where he led the development of core offerings including The 7
Habits of Highly Effective People – Signature Program. Todd also worked for several years as our Director of
Recruitment and was responsible for attracting, hiring, and retaining top talent for the organization. Prior to joining
Franklin Covey, Mr. Davis worked in the medical industry for 9 years where he recruited physicians and medical
executives along with marketing physician services to hospitals and clinics throughout the country. Todd is the author
of The Wall Street Journal’s best-selling book, Get Better: 15 Proven Practices to Build Effective Relationships at Work
and co-author of The Wall Street Journal’s best-selling book, Everyone Deserves A Great Manager – The 6 Critical
Practices for Leading A Team.
Scott J. Miller, 52, is the Executive Vice-President of Thought Leadership at Franklin Covey. Mr. Miller, who has been
with the Company for 24 years, was previously the Executive Vice-President of Business Development and Marketing
and has served as an executive of the Company since March 2012. Scott’s role as Executive Vice-President caps
12 years on our front line, working with thousands of client facilitators across many markets and countries. Prior to
his appointment as Vice-President of Business Development and Marketing, Mr. Miller served as the general manager
of our central regional sales office for six years. Scott originally joined the Covey Leadership Center in 1996 as a client
partner with the Education Division. Mr. Miller started his professional career with the Disney Development
Company, the real estate development division of the Walt Disney Company, in 1992. During his time with the Disney
Development Company, Scott identified trends and industry best practices in community development, education,
healthcare, architectural design, and technology. Mr. Miller received a Bachelor of Arts in Organizational
Communication from Rollins College in 1996.
Paul S. Walker, 45, is beginning his twenty-first year with Franklin Covey Co. Today, Mr. Walker serves as the
Company’s President and Chief Operating Officer. Paul began his career with the Company in 2000 in the role of
business developer, and quickly moved to become a Client Partner and then an Area Director. In 2007, Mr. Walker
became General Manager of the North America Central Region. In 2014, Paul assumed responsibility for the
Company’s United Kingdom operations in addition to his role as General Manager of the Central Region. In 2016,
Mr. Walker relocated to the Company’s Salt Lake City, Utah headquarters where, prior to his current role, he served as
Executive Vice President Global Sales and Delivery and as President of the Company’s Enterprise Division. Mr. Walker
graduated from Brigham Young University with a Bachelor of Arts in Communications.
Robert A. Whitman, 67, has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors since June 1999 and as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company since January 2000. Mr. Whitman previously served as a director of the Covey Leadership
Center from 1994 to 1997. Prior to joining us, Mr. Whitman served as President and Co-Chief Executive Officer of
The Hampstead Group from 1992 to 2000 and is a founding partner at Whitman Peterson. Mr. Whitman received his
Bachelor of Arts degree in Finance from the University of Utah and his MBA from the Harvard Business School.
Stephen D. Young, 67, joined FranklinCovey as Executive Vice President of Finance, was appointed Chief Accounting
Officer and Controller in January 2001, Chief Financial Officer in November 2002, and Corporate Secretary in March
2005. Prior to joining us, he served as Senior Vice-President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer, and director of
international operations for Weider Nutrition for seven years; as Vice-President of Finance at First Health for ten
years; and as an auditor at Fox and Company, a public accounting firm, for four years. Mr. Young has more than
40 years of accounting and management experience and is a Certified Public Accountant. Mr. Young was awarded a
Bachelor of Science in Accounting from Brigham Young University.

Available Information
We regularly file reports with the SEC. These reports include, but are not limited to, Annual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and security transaction reports on Forms 3, 4, or 5.
The SEC also maintains electronic versions of the Company’s reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information that the Company files with the SEC on its website at www.sec.gov.
The Company makes our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K, and other reports filed or furnished with the SEC available to the public, free of charge, through our website
at www.franklincovey.com. These reports are provided through our website as soon as is reasonably practicable after
we file or furnish these reports with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Our business environment, current domestic and international economic conditions, ongoing impacts from the
COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical circumstances, and other specific risks may affect our future business decisions and
financial performance. The matters discussed below may cause our future results to differ from past results or those
described in forward-looking statements and could have a material effect on our business, financial condition,
liquidity, results of operations, and stock price, and should be considered in evaluating our Company.
The risks included here are not exhaustive. Other sections of this report may include additional risk factors which
could adversely affect our business and financial performance. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly
changing global environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for management to
predict all such risk factors, nor can we assess the impact of all such risk factors on our business or the extent to which
any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.
COVID-19 Pandemic Risks
Our results of operations have been adversely affected and could be materially impacted in the future by the
COVID-19, or coronavirus, pandemic.
The global spread of COVID-19 has created significant volatility, uncertainty, and economic disruption during fiscal
2020. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our business, operations, and financial results will
depend on numerous evolving factors that we may not be able to accurately predict, including: the duration, scope,
and severity of the pandemic; the ability to create effective vaccines and effective therapeutic treatments;
governmental, business, and individuals’ actions that have been taken, and continue to be taken, in response to the
pandemic; the impact of the pandemic on worldwide economic activity and actions taken in response; the effect on
our clients, including educational institutions, and client demand for our services; our ability to sell and provide our
services and solutions, including the impact of travel restrictions and from people working from home; the ability of
our clients to pay for our services on a timely basis or at all; the ability to maintain sufficient liquidity and to access
credit and capital markets as needed; and any closure of our offices. Any of these events, or related conditions, could
cause or contribute to the risks and uncertainties described in this section of our Annual Report and could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and stock price.
Training Industry and Related Risks
We operate in an intensely competitive industry and our competitors may develop programs, services, or courses
that adversely affect our ability to sell our offerings.
The training and consulting services industry is intensely competitive with relatively easy entry. Competitors
continually introduce new programs, services, and delivery methods that may compete directly with our offerings, or
that may make our offerings uncompetitive or obsolete. Larger competitors may have superior abilities to compete for
clients and skilled professionals, reducing our ability to deliver quality work to our clients. Some of our competitors
may have greater financial and other resources than we do. In addition, one or more of our competitors may develop
and implement training courses or methodologies that may adversely affect our ability to sell our offerings and
products to new clients. Any one of these circumstances could have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain new
business and successfully deliver our services.
Our results of operations could be adversely affected by economic and political conditions and the effects of these
conditions on our clients’ businesses and their levels of business activity.
Global economic and political conditions affect our clients’ businesses and the markets in which they operate. Our
financial results are somewhat dependent on the amount that current and prospective clients budget for training. A
serious and/or prolonged economic downturn combined with a negative or uncertain political climate could adversely
affect our clients’ financial condition and the amount budgeted for training by our clients. These conditions may
reduce the demand for our services or depress the pricing of those services and have an adverse impact on our results
of operations. Changes in global economic conditions may also shift demand to services for which we do not have
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competitive advantages, and this could negatively affect the amount of business that we are able to obtain. Such
economic, political, and client spending conditions are influenced by a wide range of factors that are beyond our
control and that we have no comparative advantage in forecasting. If we are unable to successfully anticipate these
changing conditions, we may be unable to effectively plan for and respond to those changes, and our business could be
adversely affected.
Our business success also depends in part upon continued growth in the use of training and consulting services and
the renewal of existing contracts by our clients. In challenging economic environments, our clients may reduce or
defer their spending on new services and consulting solutions in order to focus on other priorities. At the same time,
many companies have already invested substantial resources in their current means of conducting their business and
they may be reluctant or slow to adopt new approaches that could disrupt existing personnel and/or processes. If
growth in the general use of training and consulting services in business or our clients’ spending on these items
declines, or if we cannot convince our clients or potential clients to embrace new services and solutions, our results of
operations could be adversely affected.
In addition, our business tends to lag behind economic cycles and, consequently, the benefits of an economic recovery
following a period of economic downturn may take longer for us to realize than other segments of the economy.
We have only a limited ability to protect our intellectual property rights, which are important to our success.
Our financial success is partially dependent on our ability to protect our proprietary offerings and other intellectual
property. The existing laws of some countries in which we provide services might offer only limited protection of our
intellectual property rights. To protect our intellectual property, we rely upon a combination of confidentiality
policies, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, as well as copyright and trademark laws. The steps we
take in this regard may not be adequate to prevent or deter infringement or other misappropriation of our intellectual
property, and we might not be able to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate and timely steps to enforce, our
intellectual property rights, especially in foreign jurisdictions.
The loss of proprietary content or the unauthorized use of our intellectual property may create greater competition,
loss of revenue, adverse publicity, and may limit our ability to reuse that intellectual property for other clients. Any
limitation on our ability to provide a service or solution could cause us to lose revenue-generating opportunities and
require us to incur additional expenses to develop new or modified solutions for future engagements.
We depend on key personnel, the loss of whom could harm our business.
Our future success will depend, in part, on the continued service of key executive officers and personnel. The loss of
the services of any key individuals could harm our business. Our future success also depends on our ability to identify,
attract, and retain additional qualified senior personnel. Competition for such individuals in our industry is intense,
and we may not be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel.
If we are unable to attract, retain, and motivate high-quality employees, including sales personnel and training
consultants, we may not be able to grow our business as projected or may not be able to compete effectively.
Our success and ability to grow are partially dependent on our ability to hire, retain, and motivate sufficient numbers
of talented people with the increasingly diverse skills needed to serve our clients and grow our business. Competition
for skilled personnel is intense at all levels of experience and seniority. There is a risk that we will find it difficult to
hire and retain a sufficient number of employees with the skills or backgrounds we require, or that it will prove
difficult to retain them in a competitive labor market. If we are unable to hire and retain talented sales and delivery
employees with the skills, and in the locations, we require, we might not be able to grow our business at projected
levels or may not be able to effectively deliver our content and services. If we need to hire additional personnel to
maintain a specified number of sales personnel or are required to re-assign personnel from other geographic areas, it
could increase our costs and adversely affect our profit margins. In addition, the inability of newly hired sales
personnel to achieve projected sales levels may inhibit our ability to attain anticipated growth.
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Our work with governmental clients exposes us to additional risks that are inherent in the government
contracting process.
Our clients include national, state, provincial, and local governmental entities, and our work with these governmental
entities has various risks inherent in the governmental contracting process. These risks include, but are not limited to,
the following:
•

Governmental entities typically fund projects through appropriated monies. While these projects are often
planned and executed as multi-year projects, the governmental entities usually reserve the right to change
the scope of, or terminate, these projects for lack of approved funding and other discretionary reasons.
Changes in governmental priorities or other political developments, including disruptions in governmental
operations, could result in changes in the scope of, or in termination of, our existing contracts.

•

Governmental entities often reserve the right to audit our contract costs, including allocated indirect costs,
and conduct inquiries and investigations of our business practices with respect to our government contracts.
Findings from an audit may result in our being required to prospectively adjust previously agreed upon rates
for our work, which may affect our future margins.

•

If a governmental client discovers improper activities in the course of audits or investigations, we may
become subject to various civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, which may include
termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspensions, or debarment
from doing business with other agencies of that government.

•

Political and economic factors such as pending elections, the outcome of elections, revisions to
governmental tax policies, sequestration, debt ceiling negotiations, and reduced tax revenues can affect the
number and terms of new governmental contracts signed.

The occurrences or conditions described above could affect not only our business with the particular governmental
agency involved, but also our business with other agencies of the same or other governmental entities. Additionally,
because of their visibility and political nature, governmental contracts may present a heightened risk to our
reputation. Any of these factors could have an adverse effect on our business or our results of operations.
Cybersecurity and Information Technology Risks
The All Access Pass and Leader in Me online service are internet-based platforms, and as such we are subject to
increased risks of cyber-attacks and other security breaches that could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
As part of selling subscription-based services, we collect, process, and retain a limited amount of sensitive and
confidential information regarding our customers. Because our subscription services are internet-based platforms, our
facilities and systems may be vulnerable to external or internal security breaches, acts of vandalism, computer viruses,
misplaced or lost data, stolen intellectual property, programming or human errors, or other similar events.
The access by unauthorized persons to, or the improper disclosure by us of, confidential information regarding our
customers or our own proprietary information, software, methodologies, and business secrets could result in
significant legal and financial exposure, damage to our reputation, or a loss of confidence in the security of our
systems, products, and services, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or
results of operations. To the extent we are involved in any future cyber-attacks or other breaches, our brand and
reputation could be affected, and these conditions could also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, or results of operations.
We could incur additional liabilities or our reputation could be damaged if we do not protect client data or if
our information systems are breached.
We are dependent on information technology networks and systems to process, transmit, and store electronic
information and to communicate between our locations around the world and with our clients. Security breaches of
this infrastructure could lead to shutdowns or disruptions of our systems and potential unauthorized disclosure of
confidential information. We are also required at times to manage, utilize, and store sensitive or confidential client or
employee data. As a result, we are subject to numerous U.S. and foreign jurisdiction laws and regulations designed to
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protect this information, such as the various U.S. federal and state laws governing the protection of individually
identifiable information. If any person, including any of our associates, negligently disregards or intentionally breaches
our established controls with respect to such data or otherwise mismanages or misappropriates that data, we could be
subject to monetary damages, fines, and/or criminal prosecution. Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential
client or employee data, whether through systems failure, employee negligence, fraud, or misappropriation could
damage our reputation and cause us to lose clients.
Legal requirements relating to the collection, storage, handling, and transfer of personal data continue to evolve. For
example, the European Union and the U.S. formally entered into a new framework in July 2016 that provided a
mechanism for companies to transfer data from European Union member states to the U.S. On July 16, 2020, the
Court of Justice of the European Union (the Court of Justice) invalidated the E.U.-U.S. Privacy Shield Framework on
the grounds that the Privacy Shield failed to offer adequate protections to E.U. personal data transferred to the United
States. On August 10, 2020, the U.S. Department of Commerce and the European Commission announced new
discussions to evaluate the potential for an enhanced E.U.-U.S. Privacy Shield framework to comply with the July 16
judgment of the Court of Justice. The Privacy Shield and other data protection mechanisms face a number of legal
challenges by both private parties and regulators, which may lead to uncertainty about the legal basis for data transfers
across the Atlantic. Ongoing legal reviews may result in burdensome or inconsistent requirements affecting the
location and movement of our customer and internal employee data as well as the management of that data.
Compliance may require changes in services, business practices, or internal systems that may result in increased costs,
lower revenue, reduced efficiency, or greater difficulty in competing with foreign-based firms. Failure to comply with
existing or new rules may result in significant penalties or orders to stop the alleged noncompliant activity.
In addition, during May 2018 the new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) became effective in the European
Union. The GDPR imposes strict requirements on the collection, use, security, and transfer of personal information in
and from European Union member states. The GDPR is designed to unify data protection within the European Union
under a single law, which may result in significantly greater compliance burdens and costs related to our European
Union operations and customers. Under GDPR, fines of up to 20 million Euros or up to four percent of the annual
global revenues of the infringer, whichever is greater, could be imposed. Although GDPR applies across the European
Union, local data protection authorities still have the ability to interpret GDPR, which may create inconsistencies in
application on a country-by-country basis. Furthermore, as the United Kingdom transitions out of the European
Union, we may encounter additional complexity with respect to data privacy and data transfers from the United
Kingdom. We have implemented new controls and procedures, including a team dedicated to data protection, to
comply with the Privacy Shield and the requirements of GDPR, which were effective for us in May 2018. However,
these new procedures and controls may not be completely effective in preventing unauthorized breaches of personal
data.
Other governmental authorities throughout the U.S. and around the world are considering similar types of legislative
and regulatory proposals concerning data protection. For example, in June 2018, the State of California enacted the
California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the CCPA), which was effective on January 1, 2020. The CCPA requires
companies that process information on California residents to make new disclosures to consumers about their data
collection, use and sharing practices, and allows consumers to opt out of certain data sharing with third parties and
provides a new cause of action for data breaches. However, legislators have stated that they intend to propose
amendments to the CCPA, and it remains unclear what, if any, modifications will be made to the CCPA or how it will
be interpreted. Additionally, the Federal Trade Commission and many state attorneys general are interpreting federal
and state consumer protection laws to impose standards for the online collection, use, dissemination and security of
data. Each of these privacy, security, and data protection laws and regulations could impose significant limitations,
require changes to our business, or restrict our use or storage of personal information, which may increase our
compliance expenses and make our business more costly or less efficient to conduct.
We employ global best practices in securing and monitoring code, applications, systems, processes and data, and our
security practices are regularly reviewed and validated by an external auditing firm. However, these efforts may be
insufficient to protect sensitive information against illegal activities and we may be exposed to additional liabilities
from the various data protection laws enacted within the jurisdictions where we operate.
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Our business is becoming increasingly dependent on information technology and will require additional cash
investments in order to grow and meet the demands of our clients.
Since the introduction of our subscription services, our dependence on the use of sophisticated technologies and
information systems has increased. Moreover, our technology platforms will require continuing cash investments by
us to expand existing offerings, improve the client experience, and develop complementary offerings. Our future
success depends in part on our ability to adapt our services and infrastructure while continuing to improve the
performance, features, and reliability of our services in response to the evolving demands of the marketplace. Failure
to adapt and improve these areas could have an adverse effect on our business, including our results of operations,
financial position, and cash flows.
Liquidity and Capital Resource Risks
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness, and we may be forced to take other
actions to satisfy our payment obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our indebtedness depends on our future performance,
including the performance of our subsidiaries, which will be affected by financial, business and economic conditions,
competition, and other factors. We are unable to control many of these factors, such as the general economy,
economic conditions in the industries in which we operate, and competitive pressures. Our cash flow may not be
sufficient to allow us to pay principal and interest on our indebtedness and to meet our other obligations. If our cash
flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay
investments and capital expenditures or to sell assets, seek additional capital, or restructure or refinance our
indebtedness. These alternative measures may be unsuccessful and we may not meet our scheduled debt service
obligations. In addition, the terms of existing or future debt agreements, including our 2019 Credit Facility and
subsequent modifications, may restrict us from pursuing any of these alternatives.
In the event that we need to refinance all or a portion of our outstanding indebtedness before maturity or as it
matures, we may not be able to obtain terms as favorable as the terms of our existing indebtedness or refinance our
existing indebtedness at all. If interest rates or other factors existing at the time of refinancing result in higher interest
rates upon refinancing, we will incur higher interest expense. Furthermore, if any rating agency changes our credit
rating or outlook, our debt and equity securities could be negatively affected, which could adversely affect our
financial condition and financial results.
Failure to comply with the terms and conditions of our credit facility may have an adverse effect upon our
business and operations.
Our secured credit agreement and subsequent modifications require us to be in compliance with customary
non-financial terms and conditions as well as specified financial ratios. Failure to comply with these terms and
conditions or maintain adequate financial performance to comply with specific financial ratios entitles the lender to
certain remedies, including the right to immediately call due any amounts owed on the credit agreement. Such events
would have an adverse effect upon our business and operations as there can be no assurance that we may be able to
obtain other forms of financing or raise additional capital on terms that would be acceptable to us.
We may need additional capital in the future, and this capital may not be available to us on favorable terms or
at all.
We may need to raise additional funds through public or private debt offerings or equity financings in order to:
•

Develop new services, programs, or offerings

•

Take advantage of opportunities, including business acquisitions

•

Respond to competitive pressures

Going forward, we will continue to incur costs necessary for the day-to-day operation and potential growth of the
business and may use our available revolving line of credit facility and other financing alternatives, if necessary, for
these expenditures. We obtained a new credit agreement in August 2019 with our existing lender that expires in
August 2024. We expect to regularly renew or amend our lending agreement in the future to maintain the availability
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of this credit facility. Additional potential sources of liquidity available to us include factoring receivables, issuance of
additional equity, or issuance of debt from public or private sources. If necessary, we will evaluate all of these options
and select one or more of them depending on overall capital needs and the associated cost of capital.
Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity could dilute current shareholders’ ownership percentage in us.
Furthermore, we may be unable to obtain the necessary capital on terms or conditions that are favorable to us, or at
all.
Public Company Risks
We may fail to meet analyst expectations, which could cause the price of our stock to decline.
Our common stock is publicly traded on the NYSE, and at any given time various securities analysts follow our
financial results and issue reports on us. These periodic reports include information about our historical financial
results as well as the analysts’ estimates of our future performance. The analysts’ estimates are based on their own
opinions and are often different from our estimates or expectations. If our operating results are below the estimates or
expectations of public market analysts and investors, our stock price could decline. If our stock price is volatile, we
may become involved in securities litigation following a decline in price. Any litigation could result in substantial costs
and a diversion of management’s attention and resources that are needed to successfully run our business.
Our business performance may not be sufficient for us to meet the financial guidance that we provide publicly.
We may provide financial guidance to the public based upon expectations regarding our financial performance. While
we believe that our annual financial guidance provides investors and analysts with insight into our view of the
Company’s future performance, such financial guidance is based on assumptions that may not always prove to be
accurate and may vary from actual results. If we fail to meet the full-year financial guidance that we provide, or if we
find it necessary to revise such guidance during the year, the market value of our common stock could be adversely
affected.
Our future quarterly operating results are subject to factors that can cause fluctuations in our stock price.
Historically, our stock price has experienced significant volatility. We expect that our stock price may continue to
experience volatility in the future due to a variety of potential factors that may include the following:
•

Fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations and cash flows

•

Increased overall market volatility

•

Variations between our actual financial results and market expectations

•

Changes in our key balances, such as cash and cash equivalents

•

Currency exchange rate fluctuations

•

Unexpected asset impairment charges

•

Increased or decreased analyst coverage

These factors may have an adverse effect upon our stock price in the future.
General Business Risks
Recent developments in international trade may have a negative effect on global economic conditions and our
business, financial results, and financial condition.
The United States recently proposed and enacted certain tariffs. In addition, there have been ongoing discussions and
activities regarding changes to other U.S. trade policies and treaties. In response, some countries in which we operate,
including China, are threatening to implement or have already implemented tariffs on U.S. imports or otherwise
imposed non-tariff barriers. These developments may have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions
and the stability of global financial markets, and they may significantly reduce global trade and, in particular, trade
between China and the United States. Any of these factors could depress economic activity, create anti-American
consumer sentiment, restrict our access to suppliers or customers, and have a material adverse effect on our business,
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financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, any actions by non-U.S. markets to implement further trade
policy changes, including limiting foreign investment or trade, increasing regulatory scrutiny or taking other actions
which impact U.S. companies’ ability to obtain necessary licenses or approvals could negatively impact our business.
Our global operations pose complex management, foreign currency, legal, tax, and economic risks, which we may
not adequately address.
We have sales offices in Australia, China, Japan, Germany, Switzerland, Austria, and the United Kingdom. We also
have licensed operations in numerous other foreign countries. As a result of these foreign operations and their impact
upon our financial statements, we are subject to a number of risks, including:
•

Restrictions on the movement of cash

•

Burdens of complying with a wide variety of national and local laws, including tax laws

•

The absence in some jurisdictions of effective laws to protect our intellectual property rights

•

Political instability

•

Currency exchange rate fluctuations

•

Longer payment cycles

•

Price controls or restrictions on exchange of foreign currencies

For instance, on June 23, 2016, the United Kingdom held a referendum in which a majority of voters chose to exit the
European Union, commonly referred to as ‘‘Brexit.’’ The outcome of this referendum produced significant currency
exchange rate fluctuations and volatility in global stock markets. The British government has commenced negotiations
to determine the terms of Brexit, but the terms have not yet been determined and the process and effects of such
separation remain uncertain. Given the lack of comparable precedent, the implications of Brexit or how such
implications might affect us are unclear. Brexit could, among other things, disrupt trade and the free movement of
data, goods, services, and people between the United Kingdom and the European Union or other countries as well as
create legal and global economic uncertainty. These and other potential implications of Brexit could adversely affect
our business and financial results.
Our global operations expose us to numerous and sometimes conflicting legal and regulatory requirements, and
violation of these regulations could harm our business.
Because we provide services to clients in many countries, we are subject to numerous, and sometimes conflicting,
regulations on matters as diverse as import/export controls, content requirements, trade restrictions, tariffs, taxation,
sanctions, government affairs, internal and disclosure control obligations, data privacy, and labor relations. Violations
of these regulations in the conduct of our business could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us or our officers,
prohibitions on doing business, and damage to our reputation. Violations of these regulations in connection with the
performance of our obligations to our clients also could result in liability for monetary damages, fines, unfavorable
publicity, and allegations by our clients that we have not performed our contractual obligations. Due to the varying
degrees of development of the legal systems of the countries in which we operate, local laws may be insufficient to
protect our rights.
In many parts of the world, including countries in which we operate, practices in the local business community might
not conform to international business standards and could violate anticorruption regulations, including the United
States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which prohibits giving anything of value intended to influence the awarding of
government contracts. Although we have policies and procedures to ensure legal and regulatory compliance, our
employees, licensee operators, and agents could take actions that violate these requirements. Violations of these
regulations could subject us to criminal or civil enforcement actions, including fines and suspension or
disqualification from United States federal procurement contracting, any of which could have an adverse effect on our
business.
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We have significant intangible assets, goodwill, and long-term asset balances that may be impaired if cash flows
from related activities decline.
Due to the nature of our business, we have significant amounts of intangible assets, including goodwill, resulting from
events such as the acquisition of businesses and the licensing of content. Our intangible assets are evaluated for
impairment based on qualitative factors or upon cash flows and estimated royalties from revenue streams
(indefinite-lived intangible assets) if necessary. Our goodwill is evaluated through qualitative factors and by comparing
the fair value of the reporting units to the carrying value of our net assets if necessary. Although our current sales, cash
flows, and market capitalization are sufficient to support the carrying basis of these long-lived assets, if our sales, cash
flows, or common stock price decline, we may be faced with significant asset impairment charges that would have an
adverse impact upon our results of operations.
The Company’s use of accounting estimates involves judgment and could impact our financial results.
Our most critical accounting estimates are described in Management’s Discussion and Analysis found in Item 7 of this
report under the section entitled ‘‘Use of Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies.’’ In addition, as discussed in
various footnotes to our financial statements as found in Item 8, we make certain estimates for loss contingencies,
including decisions related to legal proceedings and reserves. Because, by definition, these estimates and assumptions
involve the use of judgment, our actual financial results may differ from these estimates. If our estimates or
assumptions underlying such contingencies and reserves prove incorrect, we may be required to record additional
adjustments or losses relating to such matters, which would negatively affect our financial results.
Ineffective internal controls could impact our business and operating results.
Our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements because of its inherent
limitations, including the possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Even
effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, including any failure to implement
required new or improved controls, or if we experience difficulties in their implementation, our business and
operating results may be harmed and we could fail to meet our financial reporting obligations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of August 31, 2020, our principal executive offices in Salt Lake City, Utah occupy approximately 84,000 square feet
of leased office space that is accounted for as a financing arrangement, which expires in 2025. This facility
accommodates our executive team and corporate administration, as well as other professionals. The master lease
agreement on our principal executive offices contains six five-year renewal options that may be exercised at our
discretion. Additionally, we occupy leased sales and administrative offices both in the United States and various
countries around the world as shown below. These leased facilities are accounted for as operating leases.
We consider our existing facilities to be in good condition and suitable for our current and expected level of
operations in the upcoming fiscal year and in future periods.

U.S./Canada Sales Office
Columbus, Ohio

International Sales Offices
Banbury, England
Tokyo, Japan
China: Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, and Shenzhen

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, we are the subject of certain legal actions, which we consider routine to our business activities.
At August 31, 2020, we were not party to any litigation or legal proceeding that, in the current opinion of
management, could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.
However, due to the risks and uncertainties inherent in legal proceedings, actual results could differ from current
expectations.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol ‘‘FC.’’
We did not pay or declare dividends on our common stock during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020 or 2019. Any
determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent upon our
results of operations, financial condition, terms of our financing arrangements, and such other factors as the board
deems relevant. We currently anticipate that we will retain all available funds to repay our liabilities, finance future
growth and business opportunities, and to repurchase outstanding shares of our common stock.
As of October 31, 2020, we had 14,025,413 shares of common stock outstanding, which were held by 523 shareholders
of record. A number of our shareholders hold their shares in street name; therefore, we believe that there are
substantially more beneficial owners of our common stock.
Purchases of Common Stock by the Issuer
We did not have any purchases of our common stock during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020.
On November 15, 2019, our Board of Directors approved a new plan to repurchase up to $40.0 million of our
outstanding common stock. The previously existing common stock repurchase plan was canceled and the new
common share repurchase plan does not have an expiration date. Through August 31, 2020, we have purchased 5,000
shares of our common stock for $0.2 million under the terms of this Board approved plan.
The actual timing, number, and value of common shares repurchased under this plan will be determined at our
discretion and will depend on a number of factors, including, among others, general market and business conditions,
the trading price of common shares, and applicable legal requirements. We have no obligation to repurchase any
common shares under the authorization, and the repurchase plan may be suspended, discontinued, or modified at any
time for any reason.
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Performance Graph
The following graph demonstrates a five-year comparison of cumulative total returns for Franklin Covey Co. common
stock, the S&P SmallCap 600 Index, and the S&P 600 Commercial & Professional Services Index. The graph assumes
an investment of $100 on August 31, 2015 in each of our common stock, the stocks comprising the S&P SmallCap 600
Index, and the stocks comprising the S&P 600 Commercial & Professional Services Index. Each of the indices assumes
that all dividends were reinvested.
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The stock performance shown on the performance graph above is not necessarily indicative of future performance.
The Company will not make or endorse any predictions as to our future stock performance.
The performance graph above is being furnished solely to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to
Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, as amended, and
is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof,
regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The selected consolidated financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related footnotes as found in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
August 31,
In thousands, except per-share data
Income Statement Data:
Net sales
Gross profit
Income (loss) from operations
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

$198,456
145,370
3,058
796
(10,231)
(9,435)

$225,356
159,314
2,655
592
(1,615)
(1,023)

$209,758
148,289
(3,366)
(5,520)
(367)
(5,887)

$185,256
122,667
(8,880)
(10,909)
3,737
(7,172)

$200,055
133,154
13,849
11,911
(4,895)
7,016

$

$

$

$

$

(.68)

(.07)

(.43)

(.52)

.47

Balance Sheet Data:
Total current assets
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Long-term obligations
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

$101,664
15,611
205,437
51,056
145,984
59,453

$119,340
10,039
224,913
46,690
142,899
82,014

$100,163
12,935
213,875
50,936
133,375
80,500

$ 91,835
16,005
210,731
53,158
125,666
85,065

$ 89,741
13,713
190,871
48,511
97,156
93,715

Cash flows from operating activities

$ 27,563

$ 30,452

$ 16,861

$ 17,357

$ 32,665

(1)

(2)

Our fiscal 2020 financial results were impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, which adversely impacted sales during our third and fourth
quarters as governments and individuals implemented measures to slow the spread of the virus, including widespread shut downs of
economies, businesses, and schools. We reevaluated our deferred tax assets during fiscal 2020. Because of cumulative pre-tax losses over the
past three fiscal years, combined with the expected continued disruptions and negative impact to our business resulting from uncertainties
related to the recovery from the pandemic, we were unable to overcome accounting guidance that it is more-likely-than-not that insufficient
taxable income will be available to realize all of our deferred tax assets before they expire, primarily foreign tax credit carryforwards and a
portion of our net operating loss carryforwards. Accordingly, we added $11.3 million to the valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets in
fiscal 2020. For more information on our income taxes, refer to the notes to our financial statements found in Item 8 of this report on
Form 10-K.
During fiscal 2017 we decided to allow new All Access Pass agreements to receive updated content throughout the contracted period.
Accordingly, we defer substantially all AAP revenues at the inception of the agreements and recognize the revenue over the lives of the
arrangements. The transition to the AAP model resulted in significantly reduced revenues and operating income during fiscal 2017.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
The following management’s discussion and analysis is intended to provide a summary of the principal factors
affecting the results of operations, liquidity and capital resources, contractual obligations, and the critical accounting
policies of Franklin Covey Co. (also referred to as we, us, our, the Company, and Franklin Covey) and subsidiaries.
This discussion and analysis should be read together with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
related notes contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (Form 10-K) and the Risk Factors discussed in
Item 1A of this Form 10-K. Forward-looking statements in this discussion are qualified by the cautionary statement
under the heading ‘‘Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act Of 1995’’ contained
later in Item 7 of this Form 10-K.

Non-GAAP Measures
This management’s discussion and analysis includes the concepts of adjusted earnings before interest, income taxes,
depreciation, and amortization (Adjusted EBITDA) and ‘‘constant currency,’’ which are non-GAAP measures. We
define Adjusted EBITDA as net income or loss excluding the impact of interest expense, income taxes, intangible asset
amortization, depreciation, stock-based compensation expense, and certain other items such as adjustments to the fair
value of expected contingent consideration liabilities arising from business acquisitions. Constant currency is a
non-GAAP financial measure that removes the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and is
calculated by translating the current period’s financial results at the same average exchange rates in effect during the
prior year and then comparing this amount to the prior year.
We reference these non-GAAP financial measures in our decision making because they provide supplemental
information that facilitates consistent internal comparisons to the historical operating performance of prior periods
and we believe they provide investors with greater transparency to evaluate operational activities and financial results.
For a reconciliation of our segment Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, a comparable GAAP measure, please refer to
Note 16 Segment Information to our consolidated financial statements as presented in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
General Overview
Franklin Covey Co. is a global company focused on individual and organizational performance improvement. Our
mission is to ‘‘enable greatness in people and organizations everywhere,’’ and our worldwide resources are organized to
help individuals and organizations achieve sustained superior performance through changes in human behavior. We
believe that our content and services create the connection between capabilities and results. We believe that our
clients are able to utilize our content to create cultures whose hallmarks are high-performing, collaborative
individuals, led by effective, trust-building leaders who execute with excellence and deliver measurably improved
results for all of their key stakeholders.
In the training and consulting marketplace, we believe there are three important characteristics that distinguish us
from our competitors.
1.

World Class Content – Our content is principle-centered and based on natural laws of human behavior and
effectiveness. When our content is applied consistently in an organization, we believe the culture of that
organization will change to enable the organization to achieve their own great purposes. Our offerings are
designed to build new skillsets, establish new mindsets, and provide enabling toolsets.

2.

Breadth and Scalability of Delivery Options – We have a wide range of content delivery options,
including: the All Access Pass, the Leader in Me membership, and other intellectual property licenses, digital
online learning, on-site training, training led through certified facilitators, blended learning, and
organization-wide transformational processes, including consulting and coaching. We believe our
investments in digital delivery modalities over the past few years have enabled us to deliver our content to
clients in a high-quality learning environment whether those clients are working remotely or in a centralized
location.
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Global Capability – We have sales professionals in the United States and Canada who serve clients in the
private sector, in government, and in educational institutions; wholly owned subsidiaries in Australia, China,
Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany, Switzerland, and Austria; and we contract with independent licensee
partners who deliver our content and provide services in 150 countries and territories around the world.

We hold ourselves responsible for and measure ourselves by our clients’ achievement of transformational results.
We have some of the best-known offerings in the training industry, including a suite of individual-effectiveness and
leadership-development training content based on the best-selling books, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People, The
Speed of Trust, Multipliers, and The 4 Disciplines of Execution, and proprietary content in the areas of Execution, Sales
Performance, Productivity, Customer Loyalty, Leadership, and Education. We believe that our offerings help
individuals, teams, and entire organizations transform their results through achieving systematic, sustainable, and
measurable changes in human behavior. Our offerings are described in further detail at www.franklincovey.com. The
information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute a part of this annual report,
and the descriptions found therein should not be viewed as a warranty or guarantee of results.
Our fiscal year ends on August 31, and unless otherwise indicated, fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019, and fiscal 2018 refer to the
twelve-month periods ended August 31, 2020, 2019, 2018, and so forth.

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Fiscal 2020
COVID-19 was first identified in China during December 2019, and subsequently declared a pandemic by the World
Health Organization. Since its discovery, COVID-19 has surfaced in nearly all regions around the world and has
resulted in government-imposed travel restrictions and business slowdowns or shutdowns in affected areas. As a
result, COVID-19 has impacted our business globally, including our licensees, through office and school closures. In
particular, these closures impacted our third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020 as described throughout this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2020.
After strong financial performance during the first two quarters of fiscal 2020, our financial results in the third and
fourth quarters of fiscal 2020 were adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting closure of offices
and educational institutions throughout the United States and in the countries where we operate direct offices and
contract with licensee partners to deliver our offerings. We closed our corporate offices and restricted travel to protect
the health and safety of our associates and clients in an effort to slow the spread of the pandemic. Our international
direct offices also followed the same pattern of closures and restrictions on associate travel and delivery of our
offerings. These actions, and similar steps taken by most of our clients, resulted in decreased sales during the third and
fourth quarters as previously scheduled onsite events, client-facilitated presentations, and coaching days were
postponed or canceled.
Despite the difficult economic environment in the second half of fiscal 2020, we were pleased with the continued
strength of our subscription sales and the quick pivot to delivering content live-online and through our other digital
modalities. Our subscription service clients are able to access content and programs from remote locations, which
allows continued engagement of personnel and students during long periods of displacement from normal working or
classroom conditions. To be successful in our industry, it is important to create effective learning environments for
our clients and students, and we believe our previous investments in digital and remote delivery modalities are key to
surviving and then thriving in the current environment. According to the Training magazine 2020 Training Industry
Report, most companies expect to retain at least some aspects of remote learning after the COVID-19 pandemic is
over. We believe our ability to deliver content and offerings over a broad array of modalities to suit a client’s needs will
prove to be a valuable strategic advantage, and we believe these capabilities will accelerate our recovery from the
effects of the pandemic and will generate increased opportunities in future periods. However, our recovery from the
COVID-19 pandemic is dependent upon a number of factors, many of which are not within our control, such as the
timing of re-opening national, state, and local economies; continuing effects of the pandemic on client operations; and
other governmental responses to address the impacts of the pandemic. We will continue to monitor these
developments and their actual and potential impacts on our financial position, results of operations, and liquidity.
On March 27, 2020, in response to COVID-19, the United States government enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and
Economic Security Act (the CARES Act). The CARES Act is a relief package consisting of various stimulus measures,
such as tax payment deferrals, various business incentives, and makes certain technical corrections to the U.S. Tax
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Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. While beneficial to the economy and business overall, the enactment of the CARES Act
and similar legislation in other countries throughout the world did not have a material impact on our fiscal 2020
consolidated financial statements.

Financial Overview
Our fiscal 2020 financial results are a tale of two halves. After strong financial performance during the
first two quarters of fiscal 2020, our financial results in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020 were adversely
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Financial results in the first two quarters of fiscal 2020 showed strong growth
in revenues, operating results, and cash flows over the prior year. Consolidated sales through February 29, 2020 grew
8 percent, with Enterprise Division sales increasing $5.0 million, or 6 percent, and Education Division revenues
increasing $1.9 million, or 10 percent, compared with the prior year. Cash flows from operating activities increased
30 percent over the first two quarters of fiscal 2019. Then, as the COVID-19 outbreak expanded in March 2020 and
developed into a global pandemic, most of the world’s governments enacted strict measures to prevent people from
gathering or meeting in person. While we were able to continue to deliver content through our digital modalities and
recognize subscription revenues, the in-person meeting restrictions had a significant impact on all of our segment
operations during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020 as our clients transitioned to remote learning
environments and previously scheduled training and coaching events were postponed or canceled.
Although the second half of fiscal 2020 was a difficult economic environment, our revenues were favorably impacted
by the continued strength of our subscription business, including the All Access Pass (AAP) in the Enterprise Division
and the Leader in Me membership in the Education Division. Throughout the pandemic, our AAP sales have been
strong and resilient as new pass sales and multi-year contract sales increased over the prior year. During the third and
fourth quarters of fiscal 2020, All Access Pass sales grew 15 percent compared with the prior year. All Access Pass
revenue retention remained strong and was over 90 percent for fiscal 2020. Following the initial impact of the
pandemic, our U.S.\Canada and governmental clients quickly transitioned to our digital delivery options, and by July
our booking pace for add-on coaching and services was equal to that achieved in the prior year and then exceeded last
year’s pace through August. We remain optimistic that sales and revenue retention for All Access Pass subscription
sales, and the booking pace for AAP-related add-on services will continue to be strong in future periods. Our China
and Japan direct offices and many of our licensee partners had just started to sell the All Access Pass and had not
developed a strong base of subscription revenue at the onset of the pandemic. These operations were highly
dependent on the delivery of in-person training and stay-at-home restrictions made it necessary to reschedule nearly
all of their training and coaching events. As a result, sales declined disproportionately at these operations compared
with our U.S./Canada operations. However, these foreign offices are beginning to recover and we are optimistic that
international momentum will continue to rebuild in fiscal 2021. We were also encouraged by the performance of the
Education Division in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020. Despite the significant uncertainties in educational
funding as a result of the pandemic, nearly 2,200 schools renewed their Leader in Me memberships (a higher number
than in fiscal 2019) and the Company added 320 new schools to the Leader in Me program. We believe this
performance from the Education Division was remarkable in the current education and economic environment.
Our subscription revenue grew 16 percent in fiscal 2020 compared with the prior year. At August 31, 2020, we had
$68.9 million of deferred revenue compared with $65.8 million at August 31, 2019. Consolidated deferred revenue
reported above at August 31, 2020 and August 31, 2019 includes $2.2 million and $3.6 million, respectively, of deferred
revenue that was classified as long-term based on expected recognition. At August 31, 2020, our unbilled deferred
revenue grew 32 percent to $39.6 million compared with $29.9 million at the end of fiscal 2019. At August 31, 2020,
our deferred subscription revenue plus unbilled deferred subscription revenue totaled $100.2 million. Unbilled
deferred revenue represents business that is contracted, but unbilled and therefore excluded from our balance sheet.
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The following table sets forth our consolidated net sales by division and by reportable segment for the fiscal years
indicated (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
Enterprise Division:
Direct offices
International licensees
Education Division
Corporate and other
Consolidated sales

2020

% change

2019

% change

2018

$139,780
8,451

(11)
(34)

$157,754
12,896

8
(3)

$145,890
13,226

148,231
43,405
6,820

(13)
(11)
17

170,650
48,880
5,826

7
8
8

159,116
45,272
5,370

$198,456

(12)

$225,356

7

$209,758

Gross profit consists of net sales less the cost of services provided or the cost of goods sold. Our cost of sales includes
the direct costs of delivering content onsite at client locations, including presenter costs, materials used in the
production of training products and related assessments, assembly, manufacturing labor costs, and freight. Gross
profit may be affected by, among other things, the mix of services sold to clients, prices of materials, labor rates,
changes in product discount levels, and freight costs. Consolidated cost of sales in fiscal 2020 totaled $53.1 million
compared with $66.0 million in fiscal 2019. The decrease was primarily due to decreased sales in fiscal 2020 resulting
from the COVID-19 pandemic as described above. Our gross profit for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020 was
$145.4 million, compared with $159.3 million in fiscal 2019. Our gross margin, which is gross profit as a percent of
sales, increased to 73.3 percent compared with 70.7 percent primarily due to increased subscription and digital
delivery revenues when compared with the prior year.
Our operating expenses in fiscal 2020 decreased $14.3 million compared with fiscal 2019. The decrease was primarily
due to a $10.6 million decrease in selling, general, and administrative (SG&A) expenses, and a $5.4 million decrease in
stock-based compensation expense. These decreases were partially offset by $1.6 million of restructuring costs.
Decreased SG&A expense was primarily related to decreased variable compensation such as commissions, bonuses,
and incentives; decreased travel and entertainment; decreased contingent consideration liability expense; and cost
savings from various areas of the Company’s operations in response to the pandemic-related reduction in sales. We
reevaluate our stock-based compensation instruments at each reporting date. Due to the adverse impact of COVID-19
and uncertainties related to the expected recovery, we determined that certain tranches of previously granted
performance awards would not vest prior to their expiration. Based on our analyses, we reversed previously
recognized stock-based compensation expense for these tranches during the third quarter of fiscal 2020, which
resulted in a $0.6 million net credit to stock-based compensation for the year. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020
we restructured certain areas of our operations to reflect changes in our strategy and client needs. The restructuring
costs totaled $1.6 million, which were comprised of severance costs for impacted personnel.
Our fiscal 2020 income from operations improved to $3.1 million compared with $2.7 million in fiscal 2019. Fiscal
2020 pre-tax income was $0.8 million compared with $0.6 million in fiscal 2019, reflecting the items noted above.
Our effective income tax rate for fiscal 2020 was approximately 1,284 percent compared with an effective tax rate of
approximately 273 percent in fiscal 2019. The increased effective tax rate in fiscal 2020 was primarily due to
$11.3 million of additional income tax expense from an increase in the valuation allowance against our deferred
income tax assets, which was partially offset by a tax benefit resulting from the exercise of stock options by our CEO
and CFO. Our near break-even pre-tax income during fiscal years 2020 and 2019 greatly amplified the effect of
non-temporary items on our effective tax rate in those years.
Net loss for the year ended August 31, 2020 was $(9.4) million, or $(.68) per share, compared with a loss of $(1.0)
million, or $(.07) per share, in fiscal 2019. Our Adjusted EBITDA in fiscal 2020 totaled $14.3 million compared with
$20.6 million in fiscal 2019, reflecting the above-noted factors. In constant currency, our fiscal 2020 Adjusted EBITDA
was $14.7 million.
Further details regarding these items can be found in the comparative analysis of fiscal 2020 with fiscal 2019 as
discussed within this management’s discussion and analysis.

Franklin Covey 2020 Annual Report

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Our liquidity, financial position, and capital resources remained strong during fiscal 2020. At August 31, 2020, we had
$27.1 million of cash, with no borrowings on our $15.0 million revolving credit facility, compared with $27.7 million of
cash at August 31, 2019. Cash flows from operating activities remained strong and totaled $27.6 million for fiscal 2020.
For further information regarding our liquidity and cash flows, refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources discussion
found in this management’s discussion and analysis.
For a discussion of the results of operations and changes in financial condition for fiscal 2019 compared with fiscal
2018, refer to Part II, Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
in our fiscal 2019 Form 10-K, which was filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 14, 2019.

Key Growth Objectives
As economies and businesses reopen and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, we are optimistic that opportunities
for growth and expansion will return both domestically and internationally. In addition to recovery from the
pandemic, we believe the following key factors will drive our growth in fiscal 2021 and beyond:
•

Best in Class Content and Solutions – We believe that our offerings are based on best-in-class content
driven by best-selling books and world-class thought leadership. Our content is focused on performance
improvement through behavior-changing outcome oriented training. These offerings are designed to build
great and enduring organizations, build winning cultures, promote execution on major strategic initiatives,
build leaders at all levels of an organization, and increase the individual and interpersonal effectiveness of
people. Our vision is to profoundly impact the way billions of people throughout the world live, work, and
achieve their own great purposes. We believe ongoing investment in our existing and new content will allow
us to achieve this vision.

•

New Subscription Service Sales and the Renewal of Existing Client Contracts – Prior to the onset of the
COVID-19 pandemic, we invested heavily in digital delivery of our content through our All Access Pass and
Leader in Me subscription services. These digital delivery platforms allow our content and offerings to be
accessible at scale in a wide variety of organizations and schools, and provide compelling value propositions
to our clients. As organizations implement and utilize the content on the AAP and schools realize the
benefits of the Leader in Me program, we believe that we create durable strategic relationships with our
clients that encourage the renewal of subscription contracts. We are focused on building strategic
relationships with both new and existing clients to provide new subscription sales opportunities and renewal
or expansion of existing subscription services with current clients.

•

Expand our Global Reach and Distribution – We are focused on consistently increasing the number of
new client partners, consultants, coaches, and implementation specialists to increase our global reach and
sales opportunities. We have recently opened direct offices in Germany, Switzerland, and Austria, and we
continue to seek out strong international licensees who can adapt and deliver our offerings in diverse
geographic and cultural regions. We believe our existing client partner model is a key driver of future growth
as new client partners on average break even during their first year and make significant contributions to
sales growth thereafter. At August 31, 2020, we had 254 client partners compared with 245 at the end of
fiscal 2019.

•

Most Impactful Thought Leadership – We believe that our offerings address some of the most significant
challenges that organizations and individuals face. However, we are not comfortable resting on past
successes and we seek to engage individuals who can provide timely and impactful thought leadership on a
variety of topics. Over the past couple of years we have released six new bestselling books, including Get
Better, Everyone Deserves a Great Manager, and Leading Loyalty. During fiscal 2020 we developed and
released new offerings based on the bestselling book Multipliers, by Liz Wiseman. We also released a new
offering entitled Unconscious Bias and will be releasing a new book to support this offering in early fiscal
2021. To increase the visibility of our thought leadership, we have increased the number of books that we
publish each year and we have significantly expanded our presence in podcasts, relevant white papers, and
digital media. We believe our ongoing efforts to strengthen our thought leadership will provide added
opportunities in the training marketplace.
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Other key factors that influence our operating results include: the number of organizations that are active customers;
the number of people trained within those organizations; the continuation or renewal of existing services contracts,
especially subscription renewals; the availability of budgeted training spending at our clients and prospective clients,
which, in certain content categories, can be significantly influenced by general economic conditions; client satisfaction
with our offerings and services; the number and productivity of our international licensee operations; and our ability
to manage operating costs necessary to develop and provide meaningful offerings and related products to our clients.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth, for the fiscal years indicated, the percentage of total sales represented by the line items
through income or loss before income taxes in our consolidated statements of operations. This table should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying discussion and analysis, the consolidated financial statements, and the related
notes to the consolidated financial statements (amounts in percentages).
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

2018

Sales
Cost of sales

100.0
26.7

100.0
29.3

100.0
29.3

Gross profit
Selling, general, and administrative
Stock-based compensation
Restructuring costs
Depreciation
Amortization

73.3
65.5
(0.3)
0.8
3.4
2.3

70.7
62.4
2.1
—
2.8
2.2

70.7
65.9
1.4
—
2.4
2.6

Total operating expenses

71.7

69.5

72.3

1.6

1.2

(1.6)

0.0
(1.2)
—

0.0
(1.0)
0.1

0.0
(1.2)
0.2

0.4

0.3

(2.6)

Income (loss) from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Discount accretion on related party receivables
Income (loss) before income taxes

FISCAL 2020 COMPARED WITH FISCAL 2019 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Enterprise Division
Direct Offices Segment
The Direct Office segment includes our sales personnel that serve clients in the United States and Canada; our directly
owned international offices in Japan, China, the United Kingdom, Australia, Germany, Switzerland, and Austria; our
government services office; and other groups such as our coaching operations and books and audio media sales. The
following comparative information is for our Direct Offices segment for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
SG&A expenses
Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended
August 31, 2020

% of
Sales

Year Ended
August 31, 2019

% of
Sales

Change

$139,780
31,636

100.0
22.6

$157,754
40,999

100.0
26.0

$(17,974)
(9,363)

108,144
90,450

77.4
64.7

116,755
97,300

74.0
61.7

(8,611)
(6,850)

$ 17,694

12.7

$ 19,455

12.3

$ (1,761)

Sales. Our Direct Office segment had a strong start to fiscal 2020 in the first and second quarters of the fiscal year.
For the first two quarters of fiscal 2020, our U.S./Canada sales grew by $4.0 million, or 9 percent; government sales
increased by $1.2 million, or 18 percent; and international direct office revenue grew by $0.3 million, or two percent,
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despite the early closure of our offices in China at the onset of COVID-19. During the third and fourth quarters of
fiscal 2020, our Direct Office segment sales were adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and restrictions on
in-person training and gatherings. However, sales of the Company’s AAP subscription service remained strong and
increased 15 percent in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020 compared with the prior year, and revenue
retention remained above 90 percent for fiscal 2020. We were very encouraged by sales of the All Access Pass in the
second half of fiscal 2020 as clients were able to successfully utilize the digital delivery options available through the
AAP. Our foreign direct offices were significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic as each of our foreign offices
were closed for portions of the third and fourth quarters as mandated by their national governments. As previously
mentioned, our China and Japan offices had just started to sell AAP and had not built a significant base of deferred
subscription revenue. As a result, these offices were highly impacted by the closure of offices and restrictions on
in-person gatherings and were a disproportionate share of the Direct Office decreased sales. For fiscal 2020, our
foreign direct office sales decreased $10.8 million or 28 percent, compared with the prior year and foreign exchange
rates had a $0.3 million unfavorable impact on our direct office sales during the fiscal year. We anticipate the events of
fiscal 2020 will accelerate our Direct Offices’ transition to the All Access Pass in future periods, especially in China and
Japan. While we are optimistic about the future of our direct office channel and AAP revenues, our future financial
performance is highly dependent upon economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and the opening of national
and regional economies.
Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased due to sales activity during fiscal 2020 as described above. Direct Office gross
margin increased primarily due to the mix of services and products sold during fiscal 2020, which featured increased
subscription sales as a percent of total sales and decreased onsite and facilitator sales.
SG&A Expenses. Direct Office operating expenses decreased primarily due to reduced variable associate costs,
including commissions, incentives, and bonuses on lower sales and reduced travel costs during the second half of the
year. These reductions were partially offset by associate costs from new sales and support personnel during the year.
Foreign exchange rates had a $0.1 million adverse impact on our direct office segment operating results during fiscal
2020.
International Licensees Segment
In countries or foreign locations where we do not have a directly owned office, our training and consulting services are
delivered through independent licensees. The following comparative information is for our international licensee
operations for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
SG&A expenses
Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended
August 31, 2020

% of
Sales

Year Ended
August 31, 2019

% of
Sales

Change

$8,451
1,772

100.0
21.0

$12,896
2,665

100.0
20.7

$(4,445)
(893)

6,679
4,273

79.0
50.6

10,231
4,159

79.3
32.3

(3,552)
114

$2,406

28.4

$ 6,072

47.0

$(3,666)

Sales. International licensee revenues are primarily comprised of royalty revenues received from our licensee
partners. For fiscal 2020, our licensee revenues were impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, which significantly
reduced sales in the second half of the year as many licensee countries enacted economic and social restrictions that
prohibited in-person presentations. Prior to the full onset of the pandemic, our international licensee royalty revenue
during the first two quarters of fiscal 2020 increased by $0.2 million compared with the prior year. Many of our
international licensees had just started to sell the All Access Pass at the onset of the pandemic and did not have a
substantial base of deferred subscription revenue as these operations were primarily dependent upon live onsite
training and coaching. Due to the benefits of the All Access Pass, including its digital delivery platform and high
revenue retention rates, we believe that our licensees will accelerate their transition to the All Access Pass in future
periods, which we believe will provide significant benefits for our licensee partners and their clients.
Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased due to an overall decrease in licensee revenues during fiscal 2020 as described
above. Licensee gross margin remained strong in fiscal 2020 and was consistent with the prior year.
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SG&A Expenses. International licensee SG&A expenses increased primarily due to additional bad debt expense
related to expected collection issues in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. Foreign exchange rates had an
insignificant impact on our licensee sales and results of operations during fiscal 2020.

Education Division
Our Education Division is comprised of our domestic and international Education practice operations (focused on
sales to educational institutions) and includes our widely acclaimed Leader in Me program. The following comparative
information is for our Education Division in the periods indicated (in thousands):

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
SG&A expenses
Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended
August 31, 2020

% of
Sales

Year Ended
August 31, 2019

% of
Sales

Change

$43,405
16,306

100.0
37.6

$48,880
18,507

100.0
37.9

$(5,475)
(2,201)

27,099
27,189

62.4
62.6

30,373
26,820

62.1
54.9

(3,274)
369

(0.2)

$ 3,553

7.3

$(3,643)

$

(90)

Sales. Growth in our Education Division during the first half of fiscal 2020 was offset by decreased sales during the
third and fourth quarters, which are generally the busiest months for our Education Division, resulting from the
COVID-19 pandemic. Despite the significant headwinds faced by educational institutions during the third and fourth
quarters as schools closed, teaching moved online, and budgets were constrained, nearly 2,200 existing Leader in Me
schools renewed their Leader in Me subscriptions (a number higher than in fiscal 2019) and 320 new schools became
Leader in Me schools. We believe these were remarkable achievements in the current education and economic
environment. During fiscal 2020, Leader in Me subscription revenues increased 11 percent compared with the prior
year and our coaches delivered two percent more coaching days as clients pivoted to live on-line delivery of these days.
Although pandemic-related issues slowed the growth of new schools entering into Leader in Me agreements in fiscal
2020, we are optimistic that continued demand for the Leader in Me program will drive sales growth in future periods.
As of August 31, 2020, the Leader in Me program is used in over 4,200 schools and in over 50 countries.
Gross Profit. Education segment cost of sales and gross profit decreased primarily due to sales activity as previously
described. Education Division gross margin remained strong at 62.4 percent and was consistent with the prior year’s
62.1 percent.
SG&A Expenses. Education division SG&A expense increased primarily due to investments in additional sales and
sales-related personnel in late fiscal 2019 and early fiscal 2020 to fuel growth that was eventually dampened by the
continuing COVID-19 pandemic, and increased bad debt expense. These increased costs were partially offset by
reduced travel and commission expense resulting from travel restrictions and reduced revenues. Education Division
results of operations were adversely impacted by $0.2 million of unfavorable exchange rates compared with the prior
year.

Other Expenses
Restructuring Costs – During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020 we restructured certain information technology,
corporate operational, and marketing functions. We incurred $1.6 million of severance costs related to these
restructuring activities. At August 31, 2020, we had $1.2 million of remaining accrued restructuring costs, which are
expected to be paid during fiscal 2021.
Depreciation – Depreciation expense increased $0.3 million compared with fiscal 2019 primarily due to the addition
of new assets and investments in technology during fiscal 2020 and in prior years. Based on previous property and
equipment acquisitions, and expected capital additions during fiscal 2021, we expect depreciation expense will total
approximately $6.5 million in fiscal 2021.
Amortization – Our amortization expense decreased $0.4 million compared with the prior year primarily due to the
full amortization of certain intangible assets. We expect the amortization of intangible assets will total approximately
$4.5 million during fiscal 2021.
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Income Taxes
Our effective income tax rate for fiscal 2020 was approximately 1,284 percent compared with an effective tax rate of
approximately 273 percent in fiscal 2019. The increased effective tax rate in fiscal 2020 was primarily due to
$11.3 million of additional income tax expense from an increase in the valuation allowance against our deferred
income tax assets, which was partially offset by the tax benefit resulting from the exercise of stock options by our CEO
and CFO. Our near break-even pre-tax income during fiscal years 2020 and 2019 greatly amplified the effect of
non-temporary items on our effective tax rate in those years.
Although we paid $2.1 million in cash for income taxes during fiscal 2020, we anticipate that our total cash paid for
income taxes over the coming three to five years will be less than our total income tax provision as we utilize available
net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred income tax assets.

QUARTERLY RESULTS
The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly consolidated financial data for the fiscal years ended
August 31, 2020 and 2019. The quarterly consolidated financial data reflects, in the opinion of management, all
normal and recurring adjustments necessary to fairly present the results of operations for such periods. Results of any
one or more quarters are not necessarily indicative of continuing trends (in thousands, except for per-share amounts).
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2020 (unaudited)
November 30

February 29

May 31

August 31

Net sales
Gross profit
Selling, general, and administrative
Restructuring costs
Depreciation
Amortization
Income (loss) from operations
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss)

$58,613
42,029
39,399
—
1,619
1,170
(159)
(760)
(544)

$53,745
38,666
36,221
—
1,653
1,170
(378)
(922)
1,097

$ 37,105
26,821
24,150
—
1,652
1,164
(145)
(748)
(10,968)

$48,994
37,854
29,636
1,636
1,739
1,102
3,741
3,226
980

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted

$

$

$

$

(.04)

.08

(.79)

.07

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2019 (unaudited)
November 30

February 28

May 31

August 31

Net sales
Gross profit
Selling, general, and administrative
Depreciation
Amortization
Income (loss) from operations
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss)

$53,829
36,783
34,644
1,554
1,238
(653)
(1,257)
(1,357)

$50,356
35,366
35,925
1,697
1,300
(3,556)
(3,927)
(3,517)

$56,006
39,664
38,713
1,556
1,259
(1,864)
(2,418)
(2,024)

$65,165
47,502
36,037
1,558
1,179
8,728
8,194
5,875

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

$

$

$

(.10)
(.10)

(.25)
(.25)

(.14)
(.14)

.42
.41

In normal operating years, our fourth quarter typically has higher sales and operating income than other fiscal
quarters primarily due to increased revenues in our Education Division (when school administrators and faculty have
professional development days) and from increased sales that typically occur during that quarter resulting from
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year-end incentive programs. Overall, training sales are moderately seasonal because of the timing of corporate
training, which is not typically scheduled as heavily during holiday and certain vacation periods. Quarterly fluctuations
may also be affected by other factors including the introduction of new offerings, pandemics and other natural
disasters, business acquisitions, the addition of new organizational customers, and the elimination of underperforming
offerings.
For more information on our quarterly results of operations, refer to our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q as filed with
the SEC. Our quarterly reports for the periods indicated are available free of charge at www.sec.gov.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Introduction
Our cash balance at August 31, 2020 totaled $27.1 million, with no borrowings on our $15.0 million revolving credit
facility. Of our $27.1 million in cash at August 31, 2020, $12.2 million was held outside the U.S. by our foreign
subsidiaries. We routinely repatriate cash from our foreign subsidiaries and consider cash generated from foreign
activities a key component of our overall liquidity position. Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from the
sale of services in the normal course of business and available proceeds from our credit facility. Our primary uses of
liquidity include payments for operating activities, capital expenditures (including curriculum development), debt
payments, contingent consideration payments from the prior acquisition of businesses, working capital expansion,
and purchases of our common stock.
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the past three
years (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

2018

Total cash provided by (used for):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash

$ 27,563
(11,865)
(16,557)
297

$30,452
(6,873)
(5,932)
(101)

$ 16,861
(10,634)
(4,679)
(319)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$17,546

$ 1,229

(562)

Our Current Credit Agreement
On August 7, 2019, we entered into a new credit agreement (the 2019 Credit Agreement) with our existing lender,
which replaced the amended and restated credit agreement, dated March 2011. The 2019 Credit Agreement provides
up to $25.0 million in term loans and a $15.0 million revolving line of credit, which expires in August 2024. Upon
entering into the 2019 Credit Agreement, we borrowed $20.0 million through a term loan and used the proceeds to
repay all indebtedness under the Original Credit Agreement. During November 2019, we borrowed the remaining
$5.0 million term loan available on the 2019 Credit Agreement.
In anticipation of potential covenant compliance issues associated with the COVID-19 pandemic and the uncertainty
of the economic recovery, on July 8, 2020, we entered into the First Modification Agreement to the 2019 Credit
Agreement. The primary purpose of the First Modification Agreement is to provide temporary alternative borrowing
covenants for the fiscal quarters ending August 31, 2020 through May 31, 2021. These new covenants consist of the
following:
1.

Minimum Liquidity – We must maintain consolidated minimum liquidity of not less than $13.0 million from
August 31, 2020 through February 28, 2021 and $8.0 million at May 31, 2021.

2.

Minimum Adjusted EBITDA – We must maintain rolling four-quarter Adjusted EBITDA not less than the
amount set forth below at the end of the specified quarter (in thousands).
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QUARTER ENDING

AMOUNT

August 31, 2020
November 30, 2020
February 28, 2021
May 31, 2021

$11,000
8,500
5,000
15,000

Adjusted EBITDA for purposes of this calculation is not the same as generally reported by the Company in
its quarterly earnings. The amounts in the table above exclude amortization of capitalized development costs
which is classified in cost of sales.
3.

Capital Expenditures – We may not make capital expenditures, including capitalized development costs, in
an amount exceeding $8.5 million in aggregate for any fiscal year.

In addition to the new financial covenants described above, we are prohibited from making certain restricted
payments, including dividend payments on our common stock and open-market purchases of our common stock until
we have been in compliance with the previously existing financial covenants for two consecutive quarters.
In the event of noncompliance with these financial covenants and other defined events of default, the lender is entitled
to certain remedies, including acceleration of the repayment of any amounts outstanding on the 2019 Credit
Agreement. At August 31, 2020, we believe that we were in compliance with the terms and covenants applicable to the
2019 Credit Agreement and the First Modification Agreement.
The previously existing financial covenants on the 2019 Credit Agreement, which include (i) a Funded Indebtedness to
Adjusted EBITDAR Ratio of less than 3.00 to 1.00; (ii) a Fixed Charge Coverage ratio not less than 1.15 to 1.00; (iii) an
annual limit on capital expenditures (excluding capitalized curriculum development costs) of $8.0 million; and
(iv) consolidated accounts receivable of not less than 150% of the aggregate amount of the outstanding borrowings on
the revolving line of credit, the undrawn amount of outstanding letters of credit, and the amount of unreimbursed
letter of credit disbursements remain in effect except for the quarterly periods covered by the First Modification
Agreement.
In addition to our term loan obligations, we have a long-term lease on our corporate campus that is accounted for as a
financing obligation. For further information on our leasing obligations, refer to the notes to our consolidated
financial statements as presented in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.
The following discussion is a description of the primary factors affecting our cash flows and their effects upon our
liquidity and capital resources during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Our primary source of cash from operating activities was the sale of services and products to our customers in the
normal course of business. The primary uses of cash for operating activities were payments for selling, general, and
administrative expenses, payments for direct costs necessary to conduct training programs, payments to suppliers for
materials used in training manuals sold, and to fund working capital needs. For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020,
our cash provided by operating activities was $27.6 million compared with $30.5 million in fiscal 2019. The decrease
was primarily due to changes in working capital balances during fiscal 2020. Our collection of accounts receivable
remained strong during fiscal 2020, despite the COVID-19 pandemic, and provided a significant amount of cash to
support operations, pay our obligations, and make critical investments. Although we defer the recognition of AAP and
other subscription revenues over the lives of the underlying contracts, we invoice the annual contract amount and
collect the associated receivable at the inception of the agreement.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities and Capital Expenditures
Our cash used for investing activities during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020 totaled $11.9 million. The primary
uses of cash for investing activities included additional investments in the development of our offerings, purchases of
property and equipment in the normal course of business, and the purchase of a note receivable from a bank used as
consideration for an amended license agreement with FC Organizational Products (FCOP).
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We spent $5.1 million during fiscal 2020 on the development of various content and offerings. During fiscal 2020 we
developed additional offerings for our Education Division and leadership content based on the best-selling book
Multipliers, by Liz Wiseman. The new Multipliers content was launched in August 2020. We believe continued
investment in our content and offerings is critical to our future success and we anticipate that our capital spending for
curriculum development will total $4.5 million during fiscal 2021.
Our purchases of property and equipment totaled $4.2 million in fiscal 2020, and consisted primarily of computer
hardware, new furnishings to replace assets destroyed by a flood at our corporate headquarters, software, and
leasehold improvements on leased office space. Our previous and ongoing investments in our digital delivery
modalities, including the AAP and Leader in Me subscription services proved valuable as many of our clients have
moved to remote workplaces due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We will continue to invest in hardware and software to
improve our digital delivery modalities, and currently anticipate that our purchases of property and equipment will
total approximately $2.8 million in fiscal 2021.
In November 2019, we purchased $2.6 million of notes payable from a bank that were the obligations of FCOP. We
exchanged $3.2 million of receivables from FCOP, including the note payable purchased from the bank, to modify the
term and royalty provisions of a long-term licensing agreement that is expected to increase our cash flows over the
duration of the license agreement. The licensing arrangement was assumed by Franklin Planner Corp., a new
unrelated entity that purchased substantially all of the assets of FCOP in November 2019 (Refer to Note 17 to our
consolidated financial statements for more information).

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020, we used $16.6 million of net cash for financing activities. Our primary
uses of financing cash during fiscal 2020 included $14.0 million for purchases of our common stock for treasury,
$7.3 million for principal payments on our term loans and financing obligation, and $1.3 million of cash used to pay
contingent consideration liabilities from previous business acquisitions. These uses of cash were partially offset by
proceeds from a $5.0 million term loan which was available on our 2019 Credit Agreement, and $1.0 million of
proceeds from participants in our employee stock purchase plan.
In December 2019, we purchased 284,608 shares of our common stock from Knowledge Capital for $10.1 million prior
to the distribution of Knowledge Capital assets to its investors. This purchase of shares from Knowledge Capital was
completed under a separate Board of Directors authorization and is not included in the November 15, 2019
authorized purchase plan described below. We also purchased 109,896 shares of our common stock that were
withheld for statutory income taxes on stock-based compensation instruments, primarily stock options, which were
exercised during fiscal 2020. These withheld shares were valued at the market price on the date that the shares were
distributed to participants. The total fair value of the withheld shares was $3.7 million.
On November 15, 2019, our Board of Directors approved a new plan to repurchase up to $40.0 million of the
Company’s outstanding common stock. The previously existing common stock repurchase plan was canceled and the
new common share repurchase plan does not have an expiration date. Our uses of financing cash during fiscal 2021
are expected to include required payments on our term loans and financing obligation, contingent consideration
payments from previous business acquisitions, and may include purchases of our common stock for treasury.
However, the timing and amount of common stock purchases is dependent on a number of factors, including available
resources, and we are not obligated to make purchases of our common stock during any future period.

Sources of Liquidity
We expect to meet our projected capital expenditures, repay amounts borrowed on our 2019 Credit Agreement,
service our existing financing obligation, and meet other working capital requirements during fiscal 2021 from current
cash balances, future cash flows from operating activities, and available borrowings from our revolving line of credit.
Going forward, we will continue to incur costs necessary for the day-to-day operation and potential growth of the
business and may use our available revolving line of credit and other financing alternatives, if necessary, for these
expenditures. At August 31, 2020, we had $15.0 million of available borrowing capacity on our revolving line of credit.
Our 2019 Credit Agreement expires in August 2024 and we expect to renew and amend the 2019 Credit Agreement
on a regular basis to maintain the long-term borrowing capacity of this credit facility. Additional potential sources of
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liquidity available to us include factoring receivables, issuance of additional equity, or issuance of debt from public or
private sources. If necessary, we will evaluate all of these options and select one or more of them depending on overall
capital needs and the associated cost of capital. The COVID-19 pandemic has created uncertainty in capital markets,
which may limit our ability to access liquidity on terms favorable to us, or at all.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash generated by operating activities, and availability of
external funds as described above, will be sufficient for us to maintain our operations over the next 12 months.
However, our ability to maintain adequate capital for our operations in the future is dependent upon a number of
factors, including sales trends, macroeconomic activity, our ability to contain costs, levels of capital expenditures,
collection of accounts receivable, and other factors. Some of the factors that influence our operations are not within
our control, such as general economic conditions and the introduction of new offerings or technology by our
competitors. We will continue to monitor our liquidity position and may pursue additional financing alternatives, as
described above, to maintain sufficient resources for future growth and capital requirements. However, there can be
no assurance such financing alternatives will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.

Contractual Obligations
We have not structured any special purpose entities, or participated in any commodity trading activities, which would
expose us to potential undisclosed liabilities or create adverse consequences to our liquidity. Required contractual
payments primarily consist of repayment of term loan obligations; lease payments on our corporate headquarters
campus (reported as a financing obligation); short-term purchase obligations for inventory items and other products
and services used in the ordinary course of business; expected contingent consideration payments from business
acquisitions; and minimum lease payments. At August 31, 2020, our expected payments on these obligations over the
next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):
Contractual Obligations
(1)

Term loans payable to bank
Required lease payments on corporate
campus
Purchase obligations
Jhana contingent consideration payments(2)
Minimum operating lease payments
RGP contingent consideration payments(2)
Total expected contractual obligation
payments
(1)
(2)

Fiscal
2021

Fiscal
2022

Fiscal
2023

Fiscal
2024

Fiscal
2025

$ 5,605

$ 5,430

$ 5,255

$5,080

$

3,798
4,761
845
751
816

3,874
—
998
208
—

3,952
—
1,128
121
—

$16,576

$10,510

$10,456

Thereafter

Total

—

$—

$21,370

4,031
—
381
97
—

3,301
—
—
87
—

—
—
—
14
—

18,956
4,761
3,352
1,278
816

$9,589

$3,388

$14

$50,533

Payment amounts shown include interest at 3.5 percent, which is the current rate on our term loan obligations under the 2019 Credit
Agreement and the First Modification Agreement.
The payment of contingent consideration resulting from prior business acquisitions is based on current estimates and projections. We
reassess the fair value of estimated contingent consideration payments each quarter based on available information. The actual payment of
contingent consideration amounts may differ in amount and timing from those shown in the table.

Our contractual obligations presented above exclude uncertain tax positions totaling $1.6 million for which we cannot
make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of payment. For further information regarding our
uncertain tax positions, refer to the notes to our consolidated financial statements as presented in Part II, Item 8 of
this report on Form 10-K.

USE OF ESTIMATES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. The significant accounting policies that we used to prepare our consolidated financial
statements are outlined primarily in Note 1 and in Note 2 (revenue recognition policies) to the consolidated financial
statements, which are presented in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of those accounting
policies require us to make assumptions and use judgments that may affect the amounts reported in our consolidated
financial statements. Management regularly evaluates its estimates and assumptions and bases those estimates and

89

90

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Franklin Covey 2020 Annual Report

assumptions on historical experience, factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, and
requirements under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, including changes in economic and political
conditions and other circumstances that are not within our control, but which may have an impact on these estimates
and our actual financial results.
The following items require the most significant judgment and often involve complex estimates:

Revenue Recognition
We account for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606). For the All Access Pass, judgment is required to determine whether the intellectual property
and web-based functionality and content are considered distinct and accounted for separately, or not distinct and
accounted for together.
We have determined to account for the AAP as a single performance obligation and recognize the associated
transaction price ratably over the term of the underlying contract beginning on the commencement date of each
contract, which is the date the Company’s platforms and resources are made available to the customer. This
determination was reached after considering that our web-based functionality and content, in combination with our
intellectual property, each represent inputs that transform into a combined output that represents the intended
outcome of the AAP, which is to provide a continuously accessible, customized, and dynamic learning and
development solution only accessible through the All Access Pass platform.
Judgment is required to determine the stand-alone selling price (SSP) for each distinct performance obligation in a
revenue contract. Where we have more than one distinct performance obligation, we must allocate the transaction
price to each performance obligation based on its relative SSP. The SSP is the price which we would sell a promised
product or service separately to a customer. In determining the SSP, we consider the size and volume of transactions,
price lists, historical sales, and contract prices. We may modify our pricing from time-to-time in the future, which
could result in changes to the stand-alone selling price.

Stock-Based Compensation
Our shareholders have approved performance-based long-term incentive plans (LTIPs) that provide for grants of
stock-based performance awards to certain managerial personnel and executive management as directed by the
Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The number of common shares that are vested
and issued to LTIP participants is variable and is based upon the achievement of specified performance objectives
during defined service periods. Due to the variable number of common shares that may be issued under the LTIP, we
reevaluate our LTIP grants on a quarterly basis and adjust the expected vesting dates and number of shares expected
to be awarded based upon actual and estimated financial results of the Company compared with the performance
goals set for the award. Adjustments to the number of shares awarded, and to the corresponding compensation
expense, are made on a cumulative basis at the adjustment date based upon the new estimated probable number of
common shares to be awarded.
The analysis of our LTIP awards contains uncertainties because we are required to make assumptions and judgments
about the timing and eventual number of shares that will vest in each LTIP grant. The assumptions and judgments
that are essential to the analysis include forecasted sales and operating income levels during the LTIP service periods.
These forecasted amounts may be difficult to predict over the life of the LTIP awards due to changes in our business,
such as from the introduction of subscription-based services, or other external factors, such as the COVID-19
pandemic, and their impact on our financial results. Events such as these may leave some previously approved
performance measures obsolete or unattainable. The evaluation of LTIP performance awards and the corresponding
use of estimated amounts may produce additional volatility in our consolidated financial statements as we record
cumulative adjustments to the estimated service periods and number of common shares to be awarded under the LTIP
grants as described above. For example, the impact of and expected recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic resulted
in a significant reversal of previously recognized performance award stock-based compensation expense during the
third quarter of fiscal 2020.

Franklin Covey 2020 Annual Report

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Accounts Receivable Valuation
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. Our allowance for doubtful
accounts calculations contain uncertainties because the calculations require us to make assumptions and judgments
regarding the collectability of customer accounts, which may be influenced by a number of factors that are not within
our control, such as the financial health of each customer. We regularly review the collectability assumptions of our
allowance for doubtful accounts calculation and compare them against historical collections. Adjustments to the
assumptions may either increase or decrease our total allowance for doubtful accounts and may adversely impact our
financial results. For example, a 10 percent increase to our allowance for doubtful accounts at August 31, 2020 would
decrease our reported income from operations by approximately $0.4 million.
For further information regarding the calculation of our allowance for doubtful accounts, refer to the notes to our
financial statements as presented in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.

Valuation of Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Intangible assets that are deemed to have an indefinite life and goodwill balances are not amortized, but rather are
tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more often if events or circumstances indicate that a potential
impairment exists. The Covey trade name intangible asset originated from the merger with the Covey Leadership
Center in 1997 and has been deemed to have an indefinite life. This intangible asset is quantitatively tested for
impairment using the present value of estimated royalties on trade name related revenues, which consist primarily of
training seminars and related products, and international licensee royalties.
Goodwill is recorded when the purchase price for an acquisition exceeds the estimated fair value of the net tangible
and identified intangible assets acquired. Under current accounting guidance, an annual or interim goodwill
impairment test is performed by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, and an
impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value.
Due to the impact of COVID-19, we tested goodwill for impairment during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 and at
August 31, 2020 at the reporting unit level using a quantitative approach. The estimated fair value of each reporting
unit was calculated using a combination of the income approach (discounted cash flows) and the market approach
(using market multiples derived from a set of companies with comparable market characteristics). The estimated fair
values of the reporting units from these approaches were weighted in the determination of the total fair value.
On an interim basis, we consider whether events or circumstances are present that may lead to the determination that
goodwill may be impaired. These circumstances include, but are not limited to, the following:
•

significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;

•

significant change in the manner of our use of acquired assets or the strategy for the overall business;

•

significant change in prevailing interest rates;

•

significant negative industry or economic trend;

•

significant change in market capitalization relative to book value; and/or

•

significant negative change in market multiples of the comparable company set.

If, based on events or changing circumstances, we determine it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit does not exceed its carrying value, we would be required to test goodwill for impairment.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include revenue growth rates and operating margins used to calculate
projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, future economic and market conditions, and determination
of appropriate market comparables. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable, but
that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from those estimates. In addition, we
make certain judgments and assumptions in allocating shared assets and liabilities to determine the carrying values for
each of our reporting units. The timing and frequency of our goodwill impairment tests are based on an ongoing
assessment of events and circumstances that would indicate a possible impairment. Based on the results of our
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goodwill impairment testing during fiscal 2020, we determined that no impairment existed at August 31, 2020, as each
reportable operating segment’s estimated fair value exceeded its carrying value. We will continue to monitor our
goodwill and intangible assets for impairment and conduct formal tests when impairment indicators are present.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived tangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. We use an estimate
of undiscounted future net cash flows of the assets over their remaining useful lives in determining whether the
carrying value of the assets is recoverable. If the carrying values of the assets exceed the anticipated future cash flows
of the assets, we calculate an impairment loss. The impairment loss calculation compares the carrying value of the
asset to the asset’s estimated fair value, which may be based upon discounted cash flows over the estimated remaining
useful life of the asset. If we recognize an impairment loss, the adjusted carrying amount of the asset becomes its new
cost basis, which is then depreciated or amortized over the remaining useful life of the asset. Impairment of long-lived
assets is assessed at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows that are independent from other
groups of assets.
Our impairment evaluation calculations contain uncertainties because they require us to make assumptions and apply
judgment in order to estimate future cash flows, forecast the useful lives of the assets, and select a discount rate that
reflects the risk inherent in future cash flows. Although we have not made any material recent changes to our
long-lived assets impairment assessment methodology, if forecasts and assumptions used to support the carrying value
of our long-lived tangible and finite-lived intangible assets change in the future, significant impairment charges could
result that would adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Acquisitions and Contingent Consideration Liabilities
We record acquisitions resulting in the consolidation of an enterprise using the purchase method of accounting.
Under this method, the acquiring company records the assets acquired, including intangible assets that can be
identified and named, and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The
purchase price in excess of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. If the
assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed, are greater than the purchase price paid, then a bargain purchase has
occurred and the Company will recognize the gain immediately in earnings. Among other sources of relevant
information, we use independent appraisals or other valuations to assist in determining the estimated fair values of the
assets and liabilities. Various assumptions are used in the determination of these estimated fair values including
discount rates, market and volume growth rates, product or service selling prices, cost structures, royalty rates, and
other prospective financial information.
Additionally, we are required to reassess the fair value of contingent consideration liabilities resulting from business
acquisitions at each reporting period. Although subsequent changes to the contingent consideration liabilities do not
affect the goodwill generated from the acquisition transaction, the valuation of expected contingent consideration
often requires us to estimate future sales and/or profitability. These estimates require the use of numerous
assumptions, many of which may change frequently and lead to increased or decreased operating income in future
periods. For instance, during fiscal 2020 we recorded approximately $49,000 of net decreases to the fair value of our
contingent consideration liabilities compared with $1.3 million of increases during fiscal 2019. Changes to the fair
value of contingent consideration liabilities are recorded as a component of selling, general, and administrative
expenses.

Income Taxes
We regularly evaluate our United States federal and various state and foreign jurisdiction income tax exposures. We
account for certain aspects of our income tax provision using the provisions of ASC 740-10-05, which addresses the
determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the
financial statements. We may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not
that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the
position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the
largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon final settlement. The provisions of
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ASC 740-10-05 also provide guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest, and penalties on income taxes,
accounting for income taxes in interim periods, and require increased disclosure of various income tax items. Taxes
and penalties are components of our overall income tax provision.
We record previously unrecognized tax benefits in the financial statements when it becomes more likely than not
(greater than a 50 percent likelihood) that the tax position will be sustained. To assess the probability of sustaining a
tax position, we consider all available evidence. In many instances, sufficient positive evidence may not be available
until the expiration of the statute of limitations for audits by taxing jurisdictions, at which time the entire benefit will
be recognized as a discrete item in the applicable period.
Our unrecognized tax benefits result from uncertain tax positions about which we are required to make assumptions
and apply judgment to estimate the exposures associated with our various tax filing positions. The calculation of our
income tax provision or benefit, as applicable, requires estimates of future taxable income or losses. During the course
of the fiscal year, these estimates are compared to actual financial results and adjustments may be made to our tax
provision or benefit to reflect these revised estimates. Our effective income tax rate is also affected by changes in tax
law and the results of tax audits by various jurisdictions. Although we believe that our judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable, actual results could differ, and we could be exposed to losses or gains that could be
material.
We establish valuation allowances for deferred tax assets when we estimate it is more likely than not that the tax assets
will not be realized. The determination of whether valuation allowances are needed on our deferred income tax assets
contains uncertainties because we must project future income, including the use of tax-planning strategies, by
individual tax jurisdictions. Changes in industry and economic conditions and the competitive environment may
impact the accuracy of our projections. We regularly assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized
and determine if adjustments to our valuation allowance are necessary.
For example, in consideration of the relevant accounting guidance, we reevaluated our deferred tax assets during fiscal
2020 and considered both positive and negative evidence in determining whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of our deferred tax assets will be realized. Because of the cumulative pre-tax losses over the past three
fiscal years, combined with the expected continued disruptions and negative impact to our business resulting from
uncertainties related to the recovery from the pandemic, we were unable to overcome accounting guidance indicating
that it is more-likely-than-not that insufficient taxable income will be available to realize all of our deferred tax assets
before they expire, which are primarily foreign tax credit carryforwards and a portion of our net operating loss
carryforwards. Accordingly, we increased the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets in fiscal 2020.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Refer to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for information on recent accounting pronouncements.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
We are registered in states in which we do business that have a sales tax and we collect and remit sales or use tax on
sales made in these jurisdictions. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations has not had a material effect
on our operations.

INFLATION AND CHANGING PRICES
Inflation has not had a material effect on our operations. However, future inflation may have an impact on the price of
materials used in the production of training products and related accessories, including paper and related raw
materials. We may not be able to pass on such increased costs to our customers.
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995
Certain statements made by the Company in this report are ‘‘forward-looking statements’’ within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended
(the Exchange Act). Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, any statement that may predict, forecast,
indicate, or imply future results, performance, or achievements, and may contain words such as ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘anticipate,’’
‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘estimate,’’ ‘‘project,’’ or words or phrases of similar meaning. In our reports and filings we may make
forward-looking statements regarding, among other things, our expectations about future sales levels and financial
results, expected effects from the COVID-19 pandemic, including effects on how we conduct our business and our
results of operations, the timing and duration of the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, future training and
consulting sales activity, expected benefits from the All Access Pass and the electronic delivery of our content,
anticipated renewals of subscription offerings, the impact of new accounting standards on our financial condition and
results of operations, the amount and timing of capital expenditures, anticipated expenses, including SG&A expenses,
depreciation, and amortization, future gross margins, the release of new services or products, the adequacy of existing
capital resources, our ability to renew or extend our line of credit facility, the amount of cash expected to be paid for
income taxes, our ability to maintain adequate capital for our operations for at least the upcoming 12 months, the
seasonality of future sales, future compliance with the terms and conditions of our line of credit, the ability to borrow
on our line of credit, expected collection of accounts receivable, estimated capital expenditures, and cash flow
estimates used to determine the fair value of long-lived assets. These, and other forward-looking statements, are
subject to certain risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking
statements. These risks and uncertainties are disclosed from time to time in reports filed by us with the SEC, including
reports on Forms 8-K, 10-Q, and 10-K. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the matters
discussed in Item 1A of this annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020, entitled ‘‘Risk
Factors.’’ In addition, such risks and uncertainties may include unanticipated developments in any one or more of the
following areas: cybersecurity risks; unanticipated costs or capital expenditures; delays or unanticipated outcomes
relating to our strategic plans; dependence on existing products or services; the rate and consumer acceptance of new
product introductions, including the All Access Pass; competition; the impact of foreign exchange rates; the number
and nature of customers and their product orders, including changes in the timing or mix of product or training
orders; pricing of our products and services and those of competitors; adverse publicity; and other factors which may
adversely affect our business.
The risks included here are not exhaustive. Other sections of this report may include additional factors that could
adversely affect our business and financial performance. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly
changing environment. New risk factors may emerge and it is not possible for our management to predict all such risk
factors, nor can we assess the impact of all such risk factors on our business or the extent to which any single factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking
statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not rely on forward-looking statements as a
prediction of actual results.
The market price of our common stock has been and may remain volatile. In addition, the stock markets in general
have experienced increased volatility. Factors such as quarter-to-quarter variations in revenues and earnings or losses
and our failure to meet expectations could have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock. In
addition, the price of our common stock can change for reasons unrelated to our performance. Due to our relatively
low market capitalization, the price of our common stock may also be affected by conditions such as a lack of analyst
coverage and fewer potential investors.
Forward-looking statements are based on management’s expectations as of the date made, and the Company does not
undertake any responsibility to update any of these statements in the future except as required by law. Actual future
performance and results will differ and may differ materially from that contained in or suggested by forward-looking
statements as a result of the factors set forth in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and elsewhere in our filings with the SEC.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market Risk of Financial Instruments
We are exposed to financial instrument market risk primarily through fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rates. To manage risks associated with foreign currency exchange and interest rates, we may make limited
use of derivative financial instruments. Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from one or more
underlying financial instruments. As a matter of policy, our derivative instruments are entered into for periods
consistent with the related underlying exposures and do not constitute positions that are independent of those
exposures. In addition, we do not enter into derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes, nor are we party
to any leveraged derivative instrument. However, during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, we
were not party to any foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swap agreements, or similar derivative instruments.

Foreign Exchange Sensitivity
Due to the global nature of our operations, we are subject to risks associated with transactions that are denominated
in currencies other than the United States dollar, as well as the effects of translating amounts denominated in foreign
currencies to United States dollars as a normal part of the reporting process. The objective of our foreign currency risk
management activities is to reduce foreign currency risk in the consolidated financial statements. In order to manage
foreign currency risks, we may make limited use of foreign currency forward contracts and other foreign currency
related derivative instruments.

Interest Rate Sensitivity
Our long-term liabilities primarily consist of term loans payable obtained from the lender on our 2019 Credit
Agreement, a long-term lease agreement (financing obligation) associated with the previous sale of our corporate
headquarters, amounts borrowed on our revolving credit facility, deferred income taxes, and contingent consideration
payments resulting from our business acquisitions. Our overall interest rate sensitivity is primarily influenced by any
amounts borrowed on term loans or on our revolving line of credit facility, and the prevailing interest rate on these
instruments. The effective interest rate on the term loans and our revolving line of credit facility was 3.5 percent at
August 31, 2020, and we may incur additional expense if interest rates increase in future periods. For example, a one
percent increase in the interest rate on our term loans payable at August 31, 2020 would result in approximately
$0.2 million of additional interest expense in fiscal 2021. We did not have borrowings on our revolving credit facility at
August 31, 2020. Our financing obligation has a payment structure equivalent to a long-term leasing arrangement
with a fixed interest rate of 7.7 percent. Our other long-term liabilities do not include an interest component.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Franklin Covey Co.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Franklin Covey Co. and subsidiaries (the ‘‘Company’’)
as of August 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2020, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended August 31, 2020, of the
Company and our report dated November 16, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements
and included an explanatory paragraph related to the Company's change in method of accounting for revenue from
contracts with customers in fiscal year 2019 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Salt Lake City, Utah
November 16, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Franklin Covey Co.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Franklin Covey Co. and subsidiaries (the
‘‘Company’’) as of August 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 31, 2020, and the
related notes (collectively referred to as the ‘‘financial statements’’). In our opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of August 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 31, 2020, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2020, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated November 16, 2020, expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for revenue from
contracts with customers in fiscal year 2019 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, using the modified retrospective approach.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Salt Lake City, Utah
November 16, 2020
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AUGUST 31,
In thousands, except per-share data

2020

2019

$ 27,137
56,407
2,974
3,646
11,500
101,664

$ 27,699
73,227
3,481
3,906
11,027
119,340

15,723
47,125
24,220
1,094
15,611
$205,437

18,579
47,690
24,220
5,045
10,039
$224,913

$

$

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,159 and $4,242
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred income tax assets
Other long-term assets

Liabilities And Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of term notes payable
Current portion of financing obligation
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Deferred subscription revenue
Other deferred revenue
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Term notes payable, less current portion
Financing obligation, less current portion
Other liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Total liabilities

5,000
2,600
5,622
—
59,289
7,389
22,628
102,528

5,000
2,335
9,668
764
56,250
5,972
23,555
103,544

15,000
14,048
9,110
5,298
145,984

15,000
16,648
7,527
180
142,899

1,353
211,920
49,968
641
(204,429)
59,453
$205,437

1,353
215,964
59,403
269
(194,975)
82,014
$224,913

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.05 par value; 40,000 shares authorized, 27,056 shares issued
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Treasury stock at cost, 13,175 shares and 13,087 shares
Total shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

2018

$198,456
53,086

$225,356
66,042

$209,758
61,469

Gross profit

145,370

159,314

148,289

Selling, general, and administrative
Stock-based compensation
Restructuring costs
Depreciation
Amortization

129,979
(573)
1,636
6,664
4,606

140,530
4,789
—
6,364
4,976

138,280
2,846
—
5,161
5,368

In thousands, except per-share amounts
Net sales
Cost of sales

Income (loss) from operations

3,058

2,655

(3,366)

56
(2,318)
—

37
(2,358)
258

104
(2,676)
418

796
(10,231)

592
(1,615)

(5,520)
(367)

$ (9,435)

$ (1,023)

$ (5,887)

$

$

$

Interest income
Interest expense
Discount accretion on related-party receivables
Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average number of common shares:
Basic and diluted
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS:
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of income tax benefit
(provision) of $16, $(5), and $(75)
Comprehensive loss

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

(0.68)

13,892

$ (9,435)
372
$ (9,063)

(0.07)

13,948

(0.43)

13,849

$ (1,023)

$ (5,887)

(72)

(326)

$ (1,095)

$ (6,213)
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

2018

$ (9,435)

$ (1,023)

$ (5,887)

11,270
3,949
9,094
(573)
(49)
331

11,359
4,954
(1,051)
4,789
1,334
—

10,525
5,280
(2,535)
2,846
1,014
—

17,142
552
26
(767)
(5,464)
2,806
(794)
(525)
27,563

(1,770)
(260)
535
32
2,932
8,828
889
(1,096)
30,452

(5,679)
157
213
(1,335)
1,746
11,613
109
(1,206)
16,861

(4,183)
(5,082)
(2,600)
—
(11,865)

(4,153)
(2,688)
—
(32)
(6,873)

(6,528)
(2,998)
—
(1,108)
(10,634)

14,870
(14,870)
5,000
(5,000)
(2,335)
(13,971)
(1,297)
1,046
(16,557)
297
(562)
27,699
$ 27,137

82,282
(93,619)
20,000
(12,813)
(2,092)
(12)
(653)
975
(5,932)
(101)
17,546
10,153
$ 27,699

93,391
(86,431)
—
(6,250)
(1,868)
(2,006)
(2,323)
808
(4,679)
(319)
1,229
8,924
$ 10,153

$

2,057
2,280

$ 1,778
2,386

$

2,512
2,655

$

35
4,009
3,246
—

$

$

1,018
—
—
—

In thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of capitalized curriculum development costs
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation expense
Change in the fair value of contingent consideration liabilities
Amortization of right-of-use operating lease assets
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquired businesses:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable, net
Decrease (increase) in inventories
Decrease in receivable from related party
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase in deferred revenue
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable/receivable
Decrease in other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized curriculum development costs
Purchase of note receivable from bank (Note 17)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Net cash used for investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from line of credit borrowings
Payments on line of credit borrowings
Proceeds from term notes payable financing
Principal payments on term notes payable
Principal payments on financing obligation
Purchases of common stock for treasury
Payment of contingent consideration liabilities
Proceeds from sales of common stock held in treasury
Net cash used for financing activities
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment financed by accounts payable
License rights acquired through royalties payable financing
Use of notes receivable to modify revenue contract (Note 17)
Consideration for business acquisition from liabilities of acquiree

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

In thousands
Balance at August 31, 2017
Issuance of common stock from
treasury
Purchase of treasury shares
Restricted share award
Stock-based compensation
Cumulative translation
adjustments
Net loss

Common
Stock
Shares

Common
Stock
Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

27,056

$ 1,353

$ 212,484

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Treasury
Stock
Shares

Treasury
Stock
Amount

$ 69,456

$ 667

(13,414)

$ (198,895)

337
(105)
23

4,510
(2,006)
348

(13,159)

(196,043)

(3,702)
(348)
2,846
(326)
(5,887)

Balance at August 31, 2018
Issuance of common stock from
treasury
Purchase of treasury shares
Restricted share award
Stock-based compensation
Cumulative translation
adjustments
Cumulative effect of new
accounting principle
Net loss

27,056

Balance at August 31, 2019
Issuance of common stock from
treasury
Purchase of treasury shares
Restricted share award
Stock-based compensation
Cumulative translation
adjustments
Net loss

27,056

Balance at August 31, 2020

27,056

1,353

211,280

63,569

341

321

43
1
28

(426)
4,789

654
(12)
426

(72)
(3,143)
(1,023)
1,353

215,964

59,403

269

(3,138)
(333)
(573)

(13,087)

(194,975)

291
(400)
21

4,184
(13,971)
333

(13,175)

$(204,429)

372
(9,435)
$1,353

$211,920

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$49,968

$ 641
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Franklin Covey Co. (hereafter referred to as we, us, our, or the Company) is a global company specializing in
organizational performance improvement. We help individuals and organizations achieve results that require a change
in human behavior and our mission is to ‘‘enable greatness in people and organizations everywhere.’’ We have some of
the best-known offerings in the training industry, including a suite of individual-effectiveness and
leadership-development training and products based on the best-selling books, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People,
The Speed of Trust, The Leader In Me, The Four Disciplines of Execution, and Multipliers, and proprietary content in
the areas of Execution, Sales Performance, Productivity, Customer Loyalty, and Educational improvement. Our
offerings are described in further detail at www.franklincovey.com and elsewhere in this report. Through our
organizational research and curriculum development efforts, we seek to consistently create, develop, and introduce
new services and products that help individuals and organizations achieve their own great purposes.

Fiscal Year
Our fiscal year ends on August 31 of each year and our fiscal quarters end on the last day of November, February, and
May. Unless otherwise noted, references to fiscal years apply to the 12 months ended August 31 of the specified year.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and our wholly-owned
subsidiaries, which consist of Franklin Development Corp., and our offices in Japan, China, the United Kingdom,
Australia, Germany, Switzerland, and Austria. Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in
consolidation.

Pervasiveness of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity, revenues,
and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made in our prior period financial statements to conform with the current period
presentation. On our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the fiscal years ended
August 31, 2019 and 2018, we have separately presented stock-based compensation, which was previously included
within selling, general, and administrative expense (Note 12).

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Some of our cash is deposited with financial institutions located throughout the United States of America and at banks
in foreign countries where we operate subsidiary offices, and at times may exceed insured limits. We consider all
highly liquid debt instruments with a maturity date of three months or less to be cash equivalents. We did not hold a
significant amount of investments that would be considered cash equivalent instruments at either August 31, 2020 or
2019. Of our $27.1 million in cash at August 31, 2020, $12.2 million was held outside the U.S. by our foreign
subsidiaries. We routinely repatriate cash from our foreign subsidiaries and consider cash generated from foreign
activities a key component of our overall liquidity position.
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Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, cost being determined using the first-in, first-out
method. Elements of cost in inventories generally include raw materials and direct labor. Cash flows from the sale of
inventory are included in cash flows provided by operating activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows. Our
inventories are comprised primarily of training materials, books, and training-related accessories, and consisted of the
following (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Finished goods
Raw materials

2020

2019

$2,947
27

$3,434
47

$2,974

$3,481

Provision is made to reduce excess and obsolete inventories to their estimated net realizable value. In assessing the
valuation of our inventories, we make judgments regarding future demand requirements and compare these estimates
with current and committed inventory levels. Inventory requirements may change based on projected customer
demand, training curriculum life-cycle changes, and other factors that could affect the valuation of our inventories.

Other Current Assets
Significant components of our other current assets were as follows (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Deferred commissions
Other current assets

2020

2019

$ 8,897
2,603

$ 8,337
2,690

$11,500

$11,027

We defer commission expense on subscription-based sales and recognize the commission expense with the
recognition of the corresponding revenue.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation expense, which includes depreciation on our corporate
campus that is accounted for as a financing obligation (Note 7), is calculated using the straight-line method over the
lesser of the expected useful life of the asset or the contracted lease period. We generally use the following depreciable
lives for our major classifications of property and equipment:
Description

Useful Lives

Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Computer hardware and software
Furniture, fixtures, and leasehold improvements

20 years
5 – 7 years
3 – 5 years
5 – 7 years

Our property and equipment were comprised of the following (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Land and improvements
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Computer hardware and software
Furniture, fixtures, and leasehold improvements
Less accumulated depreciation

2020

2019

$ 1,312
30,038
900
29,691
9,129

$ 1,312
30,038
1,162
28,665
8,409

71,070
(55,347)
$ 15,723

69,586
(51,007)
$ 18,579
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We expense costs for repairs and maintenance as incurred. Gains and losses resulting from the sale of property and
equipment are recorded in income or (loss) from operations. Depreciation of capitalized subscription portal costs is
included in depreciation expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
During fiscal 2018, we capitalized $0.1 million of interest expense in connection with the installation of our new
enterprise resource planning system and the development of our improved All Access Pass (AAP) portal.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived tangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. We use an estimate
of undiscounted future net cash flows of the assets over the remaining useful lives in determining whether the carrying
value of the assets is recoverable. If the carrying values of the assets exceed the anticipated future cash flows of the
assets, we recognize an impairment loss equal to the difference between the carrying values of the assets and their
estimated fair values. Impairment of long-lived assets is assessed at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable
cash flows that are independent from other groups of assets. The evaluation of long-lived assets requires us to use
estimates of future cash flows. If forecasts and assumptions used to support the realizability of our long-lived tangible
and finite-lived intangible assets change in the future, significant impairment charges could result that would
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Goodwill Impairment Testing
Intangible assets that are deemed to have an indefinite life and acquired goodwill are not amortized, but rather are
tested for impairment on an annual basis or more often if events or circumstances indicate that a potential
impairment exists. The Covey trade name intangible asset has been deemed to have an indefinite life. This intangible
asset is tested for impairment using qualitative factors or the present value of estimated royalties on trade name
related revenues, which consist primarily of training seminars and work sessions, international licensee sales, and
related products. Based on the fiscal 2020 evaluation of the Covey trade name, we believe the fair value of the Covey
trade name substantially exceeds its carrying value. No impairment charges were recorded against the Covey trade
name during the periods presented in this report.
Goodwill is recorded when the purchase price for an acquisition exceeds the estimated fair value of the net tangible
and identified intangible assets acquired. An annual (or interim test if events and circumstances indicate a test should
be performed) goodwill impairment test is performed by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying
amount, and an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting
unit’s fair value. We tested goodwill for impairment at August 31, 2020 at the reporting unit level using a quantitative
approach. The estimated fair value of each reporting unit was calculated using a combination of the income approach
(discounted cash flows) and the market approach (using market multiples derived from a set of companies with
comparable market characteristics).
On an interim basis, we consider whether events or circumstances are present that may lead to the determination that
goodwill may be impaired. If, based on events or changing circumstances, we determine it is more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit does not exceed its carrying value, we are required to test goodwill for impairment.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include revenue growth rates and operating margins used to calculate
projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, future economic and market conditions, and determination
of appropriate market comparables. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable, but
that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from those estimates. In addition, we
make certain judgments and assumptions in allocating shared assets and liabilities to determine the carrying values for
each of our reporting units. The timing and frequency of our goodwill impairment tests are based on an ongoing
assessment of events and circumstances that would indicate a possible impairment. Based on the results of our
goodwill impairment testing, we determined that no impairment existed at either of August 31, 2020 or 2019 as each
reporting unit’s estimated fair value exceeded its carrying value. We will continue to monitor our goodwill and
intangible assets for impairment and conduct formal tests when impairment indicators are present. For more
information regarding our intangible assets and goodwill, refer to Note 5.
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Capitalized Curriculum Development Costs
During the normal course of business, we develop training courses and related materials that we sell to our clients.
Capitalized curriculum development costs include certain expenditures to develop course materials such as video
segments, course manuals, and other related materials. Our capitalized curriculum development spending in fiscal
2020, which totaled $5.1 million, was primarily for various Education practice offerings and courses for the All Access
Pass, including new Multipliers content. Curriculum costs are capitalized when there is a major revision to an existing
course that requires a significant re-write of the course materials. Costs incurred to maintain existing offerings are
expensed when incurred. In addition, development costs incurred in the research and development of new offerings
and software products to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed are expensed as incurred until economic and
technological feasibility has been established.
Capitalized development costs are amortized over three- to five-year useful lives, which are based on numerous
factors, including expected cycles of major changes to our content. Capitalized curriculum development costs are
reported as a component of other long-term assets in our consolidated balance sheets and totaled $8.1 million and
$7.0 million at August 31, 2020 and 2019. Amortization of capitalized curriculum development costs is reported as a
component of cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Accrued Liabilities
Significant components of our accrued liabilities were as follows (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Accrued compensation
Other accrued liabilities

2020

2019

$ 9,597
13,031

$14,003
9,552

$22,628

$23,555

Contingent Consideration Payments from Business Acquisitions
Business acquisitions may include contingent consideration payments based on various future financial measures
related to the acquired entity. Contingent consideration is required to be recognized at fair value as of the acquisition
date. We estimate the fair value of these liabilities based on financial projections of the acquired company and
estimated probabilities of achievement. Based on updated estimates and projections, the contingent consideration
liabilities are adjusted at each reporting date to their estimated fair value. Changes in fair value subsequent to the
acquisition date are reported in selling, general, and administrative expense in our consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss, and may have a material impact on our operating results. Variations in the fair
value of contingent consideration liabilities may result from changes in discount periods or rates, changes in the
timing and amount of earnings estimates, and changes in probability assumptions with respect to the likelihood of
achieving various payment criteria.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
The functional currencies of our foreign operations are the reported local currencies. Translation adjustments result
from translating our foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements into United States dollars. The balance sheet accounts
of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the balance
sheet dates. Revenues and expenses are translated using average exchange rates for each month during the fiscal year.
The resulting translation differences are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in
shareholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction losses totaled $0.1 million, $0.2 million, and $0.5 million for the
fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, and are included as a component of selling, general,
and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Revenue Recognition
We account for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which we adopted on September 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective
method (see also Note 2).
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Prior to the adoption of Topic 606, we recognized revenue when: 1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement existed,
2) delivery of the product occurred or the services were rendered, 3) the price to the customer was fixed or
determinable, and 4) collectability was reasonably assured. These principles governed our revenue recognition policies
and procedures for fiscal 2018 as presented in this report. For training and service sales, these conditions were
generally met upon presentation of the training seminar or delivery of the consulting services based upon daily rates.
For most of our product sales, these conditions were met upon shipment of the product to the customer. For
intellectual property license sales, the revenue recognition conditions were generally met at the later of delivery of the
content to the client or the effective date of the arrangement. Our subscription revenues from the All Access Pass and
the Leader in Me membership were recognized over the duration of the underlying contracts since our clients had the
right to content updates during the contracted period.
Revenue recognition for multiple-element arrangements required judgment to determine if multiple elements existed,
whether elements could be accounted for as separate units of accounting, and if so, the fair value for each of the
elements. A deliverable constituted a separate unit of accounting when it had standalone value to our clients. We
entered into arrangements that included various combinations of multiple training offerings, consulting services, and
intellectual property licenses. The timing of delivery and performance of the elements typically varied from contract to
contract. Generally, these items qualified as separate units of accounting because they had value to the customer on a
standalone basis. We determined the fair value to be used for allocating revenue to the elements based on
(i) vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (VSOE), (ii) third-party evidence (TPE), and (iii) best estimate of
selling price (BESP).
Our international strategy includes the use of licensees in countries where we do not have a wholly-owned direct
office. Licensee companies are unrelated entities that have been granted a license to translate our content and
offerings, adapt the content to the local culture, and sell our content in a specific country or region. Licensees are
required to pay us royalties based upon a percentage of their sales to clients. We recognize royalty income each period
based upon the sales information reported to us from our licensees. Refer to the disaggregated revenue information
presented in Note 16 for our royalty revenues in the fiscal years presented in this report.
Revenue is recognized as the net amount to be received after deducting estimated amounts for discounts and product
returns.

Stock-Based Compensation
We record the compensation expense for all stock-based payments, including grants of stock options and the
compensatory elements of our employee stock purchase plan, in our consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss based upon their fair values over the requisite service period. For more information on our
stock-based compensation plans, refer to Note 12.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs
All shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recorded as a component of net sales. All costs incurred related
to the shipping and handling of products are recorded in cost of sales.

Advertising Costs
Costs for advertising are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs included in selling, general, and administrative
expenses totaled $3.3 million, $4.6 million, and $6.9 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018.

Restructuring Costs
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, we restructured certain information technology, central operations, and
marketing functions. We incurred $1.6 million of severance costs related to these restructuring activities. At
August 31, 2020, we had $1.2 million of remaining accrued restructuring costs, which are expected to be paid during
fiscal 2021.
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Income Taxes
Our income tax provision has been determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income taxes.
Under this approach, deferred income taxes represent the future tax consequences expected to occur when the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. The income tax provision represents income taxes
paid or payable for the current year plus the change in deferred taxes during the year. Deferred income taxes result
from differences between the financial and tax bases of our assets and liabilities and are adjusted for tax rates and tax
laws when changes are enacted. A valuation allowance is provided against deferred income tax assets when it is more
likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. Interest and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions are recognized as components of income tax benefit or expense in our consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
We may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position
will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has
a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.
We provide for income taxes, net of applicable foreign tax credits, on temporary differences in our investment in
foreign subsidiaries, which consist primarily of unrepatriated earnings.

Comprehensive Loss
Comprehensive loss includes changes to equity accounts that were not the result of transactions with shareholders.
Comprehensive loss is comprised of net income or loss and other comprehensive income and loss items. Our other
comprehensive income and losses generally consist of changes in the cumulative foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of tax.

Accounting Pronouncements Issued and Adopted
Leases
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842),
which supersedes FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 840, Leases. The new guidance requires
lessees to recognize a lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset for all leases greater than 12 months.
Recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses depends upon whether the lease is classified as a finance or
operating lease. We adopted the new lease guidance prospectively on September 1, 2019. As part of the adoption of
ASU 2016-02, we elected to apply the package of practical expedients, which allows us to not reassess prior
conclusions related to lease classification, not to recognize short-term leases on our balance sheet, and not to separate
lease and non-lease components for our leases. On September 1, 2019, the adoption of ASU 2016-02 resulted in the
recognition of $1.5 million of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on our consolidated balance sheets for operating
leases. For lessors, accounting for leases is substantially the same as in prior periods and there was no impact from the
adoption of ASU 2016-02 for those leases where we are the lessor. Refer to Note 8, Leases for further information on
our leasing activity.
The lease on our corporate campus has historically been accounted for as a financing obligation and related building
asset on our consolidated balance sheets, as the contract did not meet the criteria for application of sale-leaseback
accounting under previous leasing guidance. In transition to Topic 842, we reassessed whether the contract met the
sale criteria under the new leasing standard. Based on this assessment, we determined that the sale criteria under the
new leasing standard was not met and we will continue to account for the corporate campus lease as a finance
obligation on our consolidated balance sheet in future periods.
Revenue Recognition
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). This new
standard was issued in conjunction with the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and is designed to
create a single, principles-based process by which all businesses calculate revenue. The core principle of this standard
is that an entity should recognize revenue for the transfer of goods or services equal to the amount that it expects to be
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entitled to receive for those goods or services. The new standard replaces numerous individual, industry-specific
revenue rules found in generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. We adopted ASU No. 2014-09
on September 1, 2018 using the ‘‘modified retrospective’’ approach. Under this transition method, we applied the new
standard to contracts that were not completed as of the adoption date and recognized a cumulative effect adjustment
which reduced our retained earnings by $4.1 million ($3.1 million, net of tax) on September 1, 2018, which primarily
consisted of initial licensing fees on international locations. The comparative period information for fiscal 2018 has
not been restated and continues to be presented according to accounting standards for revenue recognition in effect
during that fiscal year.
The primary impact of ASU No. 2014-09 on our revenue recognition policies is a change in the way we account for
our initial license fee associated with licensing an international location. The Company previously recorded the
non-refundable initial license fee from licensing an international location as revenue at the time the license period
begins if all other revenue requirements had been met. However, under Topic 606, the Company recognizes revenue
on the upfront license fees over the duration of the contract.
Under Topic 606, we account for the All Access Pass as a single performance obligation and recognize the associated
transaction price on a straight-line basis over the term of the underlying contract. This determination was reached
after considering that our web-based functionality and content, in combination with our intellectual property, each
represent inputs that transform into a combined output that represents the intended outcome of the AAP, which is to
provide a continuously accessible, customized, and dynamic learning and development solution only accessible
through the AAP platform.
We do not expect the accounting for fulfillment costs or costs incurred to obtain a contract to be materially affected in
any period due to the adoption of ASU 2014-09. Refer to Note 2 for further details regarding our revenue recognition
accounting policies under Topic 606.
The cumulative after-tax effects of the changes made to our consolidated balance sheet from the adoption of
Topic 606 were as follows (in thousands):
August 31,
2018

Assets:
Other current assets
Deferred income tax assets

$10,893
3,222

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity:
Deferred subscription revenue
Other deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Retained earnings

47,417
4,471
5,501
63,569

ASC 606
Adjustments

$

September 1,
2018

109
1,005

$11,002
4,227

1,453
555
2,249
(3,143)

48,870
5,026
7,750
60,426

The following line items in our consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss were impacted by the
adoption of the new revenue recognition standard for the year ended August 31, 2019 (in thousands, except per-share
data):
August 31,
2019
As Reported

August 31,
2019
Without ASC 606

Impact of
ASC 606

Net sales
Cost of sales
Selling, general, and administrative
Income tax provision
Net loss

$225,356
66,042
140,530
(1,615)
(1,023)

$225,222
66,042
140,540
(1,580)
(1,132)

$134
—
(10)
(35)
109

Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted

$

$

(0.07)

(0.08)
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Selected consolidated balance sheet line items as of August 31, 2019, which were impacted by the adoption of the new
standard, were as follows (in thousands):
August 31,
2019
As Reported

August 31,
2019
Without ASC 606

Assets:
Other current assets
Deferred income tax assets
Total assets

$ 11,027
5,045
224,913

$ 10,908
4,075
223,824

$

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity:
Deferred subscription revenue
Other deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Retained earnings
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

$ 56,250
5,972
7,527
59,403
224,913

$ 55,247
5,417
4,961
62,438
223,824

$ 1,003
555
2,566
(3,035)
1,089

Impact of
ASC 606

119
970
1,089

The adoption of ASC Topic 606 did not have a material impact on our cash flows from operating, investing, or
financing activities.

Accounting Pronouncements Issued Not Yet Adopted
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This accounting standard changes the methodology for measuring credit
losses on financial instruments, including trade accounts receivable, and the timing of when such losses are recorded.
ASU No. 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2019. Early adoption is permitted for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2018. We expect to adopt the provisions of ASU No. 2016-13 on September 1, 2020 and do not expect
this guidance to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations, and disclosures.
Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software
(Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That
Is a Service Contract (ASU 2018-15). This guidance clarifies the accounting for implementation costs in a cloud
computing arrangement that is a service contract and aligns the requirements for capitalizing those costs with the
capitalization requirements for costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. The new standard is
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and early adoption is permitted. We are
currently evaluating the effects, if any, the adoption of ASU 2018-15 may have on our financial position, results of
operations, cash flows, or disclosures.

2. REVENUE RECOGNTION
We account for revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, which was adopted on September 1, 2018 using the
modified retrospective method (Note 1). We earn revenue from contracts with customers primarily through the
delivery of our All Access Pass and the Leader in Me membership subscription offerings, through the delivery of
training days and training course materials (whether digitally or in person), and through the licensing of rights to sell
our content into geographic locations where the Company does not maintain a direct office. We also earn revenues
from leasing arrangements that are not accounted for under Topic 606. Returns and refunds are generally immaterial,
and we do not have any significant warranty obligations.
Under Topic 606, we recognize revenue upon the transfer of control of promised products and services to customers
in an amount equal to the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. Although
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rare, if the consideration promised in a contract includes variable amounts, we evaluate the estimate of variable
consideration to determine whether the estimate needs to be constrained. We include the variable consideration in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is probable a significant reversal of the amount of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur.
We determine the amount of revenue to be recognized through application of the following steps:
•

Identification of the contract with a customer

•

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

•

Determination of the transaction price

•

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

•

Recognition of revenue when the Company satisfies the performance obligations

Taxes assessed by a government authority that are collected from a customer are excluded from net revenue.

Services and Products
We deliver Company-led training days from our offerings, such as The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People, at a
customer’s location or live-online based upon a daily consultant rate and a set price for training materials. These
revenues are recognized as the training days occur and the services are performed. Customers also have the option to
purchase training materials and present our offerings through internal facilitators and not through the use of a
Franklin Covey consultant. Revenue is recognized from these product sales when the materials are shipped. Shipping
revenues associated with product sales are recorded in revenue with the corresponding shipping cost being recorded
as a component of cost of sales.

Subscription Revenues
Subscription revenues primarily relate to the Company’s All Access Pass and the Leader in Me membership offerings.
We have determined that it is most appropriate to account for the AAP as a single performance obligation and
recognize the associated transaction price ratably over the term of the underlying contract beginning on the
commencement date of each contract, which is the date the Company’s platforms and resources are made available to
the customer. This determination was reached after considering that our web-based functionality and content, in
combination with our intellectual property, each represent inputs that transform into a combined output that
represents the intended outcome of the AAP, which is to provide a continuously accessible, customized, and dynamic
learning and development solution only accessible through the AAP platform.
We typically invoice our customers annually upon execution of the contract or subsequent renewals. Amounts that
have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and in unearned revenue or revenue, depending on whether
transfer of control has occurred.
Our Leader in Me offering is bifurcated into a portal membership obligation and a coaching delivery obligation. We
have determined that it is appropriate to recognize revenue related to the portal membership over the term of the
underlying contract and to recognize revenue from coaching as those services are performed. The combined contract
amount is recorded in deferred subscription revenue until the performance obligations are satisfied. Any additional
coaching or training days which are contracted independent of the Leader in Me membership are recorded as revenue
in accordance with our general policy for services and products as previously described.

Royalties
Our international strategy includes the use of licensees in countries where we do not have a wholly-owned direct
office. Licensee companies are unrelated entities that have been granted a license to translate our content and
offerings, adapt the content to the local culture, and sell our content in a specific country or region. Licensees are
required to pay us royalties based upon a percentage of their sales to clients. We recognize royalty income each
reporting period based upon the sales information reported to us from our licensees. When sales information is not
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received from a particular licensee at the end of a reporting period, the Company estimates the amount of royalties to
be received for the period that is being reported based upon prior forecasts and historical performance. These
estimated royalties are recorded as revenue and are adjusted in the subsequent period.
The primary impact of ASU No. 2014-09 on our financial statements is a change in the way we account for the initial
license fee associated with licensing an international location. The Company previously recorded the non-refundable
initial license fee from licensing an international location as revenue at the time the license period began if all other
revenue requirements had been met. However, under Topic 606, we recognize revenue on the upfront fees over the
term of the initial contract.

Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations
We periodically enter into contracts that include multiple performance obligations. A performance obligation is a
promise in a contract to transfer products or services that are distinct, or that are distinct within the context of the
contract. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue
when the performance obligation is satisfied. Determining whether products and services meet the distinct criteria
that should be accounted for separately or combined as one unit of accounting requires significant judgment.
When determining whether goods and services meet the distinct criteria, we consider various factors for each
agreement including the availability of the services and the nature of the offerings and services. We allocate the
transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price (SSP) basis. Judgment is
required to determine the SSP for each distinct performance obligation. The SSP is the price which the Company
would sell a promised product or service separately to a customer. In determining the SSP, we consider the size and
volume of transactions, price lists, historical sales, and contract prices. We may modify our pricing from time-to-time
in the future, which could result in changes to the SSP.

Contract Balances
As described above, subscription revenue is generally recognized ratably over the term of the underlying contract
beginning on the commencement date of each agreement. The timing of when these contracts are invoiced, cash is
collected, and revenue is recognized impacts our accounts receivable and deferred revenue accounts. We generally bill
our clients in advance for subscription offerings or within the month that the training and products are delivered. As
such, consideration due to the Company for work performed is included in accounts receivable and we do not have a
significant amount of contract assets. Our receivables are generally collected within 30 to 120 days but typically no
longer than 12 months. Deferred revenue primarily consists of billings or payments received in advance of revenue
being recognized from our subscription offerings. Furthermore, our clients, to expend funds in a particular budget
cycle, may prepay for services or products which are also a component of our consolidated deferred revenue. Our
deferred revenue totaled $68.9 million at August 31, 2020 and $65.8 million at August 31, 2019, of which $2.2 million
and $3.6 million were classified as components of other long-term liabilities at August 31, 2020 and August 31, 2019,
respectively. The amount of deferred revenue that was generated from subscription offerings totaled $60.6 million at
August 31, 2020 and $58.2 million at August 31, 2019. During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019, we
recognized $86.5 million and $74.7 million of previously deferred subscription revenue.

Remaining Performance Obligations
When possible, we enter into multi-year non-cancellable contracts which are invoiced either upon execution of the
contract or at the beginning of each annual contract period. Topic 606 introduced the concept of remaining
transaction price which represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized, including unearned revenue
and unbilled amounts that will be recognized as revenue in future periods. Transaction price is influenced by factors
such as seasonality, the average length of the contract term, and the ability of the Company to continue to enter
multi-year non-cancellable contracts. At August 31, 2020 we had $100.2 million of remaining performance
obligations, including $60.6 million of deferred revenue related to our subscription offerings. The remaining
performance obligation does not include other deferred revenue as amounts included in other deferred revenue
include items such as deposits that are generally refundable at the client’s request prior to the satisfaction of the
obligation.
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Costs Capitalized to Obtain Contracts
We capitalize the incremental costs of obtaining non-cancellable subscription revenue, primarily from the All Access
Pass and the Leader in Me membership offerings. These incremental costs consist of sales commissions paid to our
sales force and include the associated payroll taxes and fringe benefits. As the same commission rates are paid
annually when the customer renews their contract, the capitalized commission costs are generally amortized ratably
on an annual basis consistent with the recognition of the corresponding subscription revenue. At August 31, 2020, we
have capitalized $9.7 million of direct commissions, of which $8.9 million is included in other current assets and
$0.8 million is in other long-term assets based on the expected recognition of the commission expense. At August 31,
2019, we had $9.0 million of capitalized direct sales commissions with $8.3 million included in other current assets
and $0.7 million included in other long-term liabilities. During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020, we capitalized
$13.7 million of commission costs to obtain revenue contracts and amortized $13.0 million of deferred commissions
to selling, general, and administrative expense.
During fiscal 2020, we recorded $3.2 million of consideration paid for an amendment to the license agreement with
FC Organizational Products (Note 17) as a capitalized cost of the license and will reduce our royalty revenue from this
license agreement by amortizing this amount over the remainder of the initial term of the license agreement, which
ends in approximately 30 years.
Refer to Note 16 (Segment Information) to these consolidated financial statements for our disaggregated revenue
information.

3. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS
On December 5, 2018, we purchased all of the equity of Leadership Institut GmbH, a Munich, Germany based
company with wholly owned subsidiary companies in Switzerland and Austria. Leadership Institut GmbH previously
operated as an independent licensee that provided our training and products to Germany, Switzerland, and Austria
(GSA). We transitioned the GSA licensee operation into a directly owned office operation during fiscal 2019. The
purchase price was $0.2 million in cash, plus $0.8 million in forgiveness of liabilities owed to the Company from the
pre-existing relationship at the purchase date. There is no contingent or other additional consideration associated
with the purchase of the former GSA licensee. We accounted for the acquisition of Leadership Institut Gmbh as a
business combination in the second quarter of fiscal 2019. We incurred costs for severance, legal, and other related
acquisition expenses which totaled $0.5 million and were expensed in selling, general, and administrative expense
during fiscal 2019. The acquisition of the GSA licensee provides us the opportunity to operate a directly owned office
in one of the world’s largest economic markets and is expected to provide significant future growth opportunities. The
total purchase price consisted of the following (in thousands):
Cash paid at closing
Accounts receivable from GSA licensee
Total purchase price

$159
798
$957

The major classes of assets and liabilities to which we have allocated the purchase price were as follows (in thousands):
Cash acquired
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Other long-term assets
Assets acquired

$ 127
564
80
45
741
27
11
1,595
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Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable

(208)
(383)
(47)

Liabilities assumed

(638)
$ 957

The allocation of the purchase price to the intangible assets acquired was as follows (in thousands):
Description
Reacquisition of license rights
Localized content
Customer relationships

Amount

Weighted
Average Life

$360
202
179

3 years
3 years
3 years

$741
We have included the financial results of the former GSA licensee in our financial results since the date of acquisition.
The acquisition of the former GSA licensee was immaterial to our financial statements and pro forma financial
information was not deemed necessary for this acquisition.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful
accounts represents our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the existing accounts receivable
balance, and we review the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on a regular basis. We determine the
allowance for doubtful accounts using historical write-off experience based on the age of the receivable balances,
current general economic conditions, and other specific factors which may delay collection, such as the COVID-19
pandemic. Receivable balances past due over 90 days, which exceed a specified dollar amount, are reviewed
individually for collectability. If the risk of non-collection increases for our receivable balances, there may be
additional charges to expense to increase the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the
potential for recovery is considered remote. We do not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to our
customers nor do we generally require collateral or other security agreements from our customers. Activity in our
allowance for doubtful accounts was comprised of the following for the periods indicated (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

2018

Beginning balance
Charged to costs and expenses
Deductions

$ 4,242
2,023
(2,106)

$3,555
1,212
(525)

$2,310
2,029
(784)

Ending balance

$ 4,159

$4,242

$3,555

Deductions on the foregoing table represent the write-off of amounts deemed uncollectible during the fiscal year
presented. Recoveries of amounts previously written off were insignificant for the periods presented.
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5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Intangible Assets
Our intangible assets were comprised of the following (in thousands):

AUGUST 31, 2020

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Finite-lived intangible assets:
Acquired content
License rights
Customer lists
Acquired technology
Trade names
Non-compete agreements and other

$ 62,327
32,137
20,280
3,568
2,036
759

$(50,749)
(21,321)
(18,926)
(3,568)
(1,759)
(659)

$11,578
10,816
1,354
—
277
100

121,107

(96,982)

24,125

Indefinite-lived intangible asset:
Covey trade name

23,000

—

23,000

$144,107

$(96,982)

$47,125

$ 62,307
28,099
20,266
3,568
2,036
758

$(48,449)
(20,063)
(18,450)
(3,149)
(1,602)
(631)

$13,858
8,036
1,816
419
434
127

117,034

(92,344)

24,690

AUGUST 31, 2019
Finite-lived intangible assets:
Acquired content
License rights
Customer lists
Acquired technology
Trade names
Non-compete agreements and other
Indefinite-lived intangible asset:
Covey trade name

23,000
$140,034

—

23,000

$(92,344)

$47,690

Our intangible assets are amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset. The range of remaining estimated useful
lives and weighted-average amortization period over which we are amortizing the major categories of finite-lived
intangible assets at August 31, 2020 were as follows:
Category of Intangible Asset
Acquired content
License rights
Customer lists
Acquired technology
Trade names
Non-compete agreements and other

Range of Remaining
Estimated Useful Lives

Weighted Average
Original Amortization Period

1 to 7 years
2 to 9 years
1 to 6 years
None
1 to 3 years
1 to 7 years

25 years
26 years
12 years
3 years
5 years
4 years
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Our aggregate amortization expense from finite-lived intangible assets totaled $4.6 million, $5.0 million, and
$5.4 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018. Amortization expense from our intangible
assets over the next five years is expected to be as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

$4,492
4,025
3,054
3,054
3,053

Multipliers License Rights
We obtained an exclusive license (with certain exceptions) to develop and sell leadership offerings based on the
bestselling book Multipliers, by Liz Wiseman. We launched the new Multipliers-based offerings in August 2020, which
started minimum required royalty payments of $0.6 million per year through the expiration of the initial term of the
license on August 31, 2029. The initial term of the Multipliers license may be extended over an additional five years,
subject to the provisions of the license agreement. In August 2020, we recorded an increase to our intangible assets of
$4.0 million, which is the present value of the minimum required royalty payments discounted at 5.0 percent. We will
amortize the Multipliers license rights on a straight-line basis over the initial license period, which ends on August 31,
2029.

Goodwill
There were no changes to our consolidated goodwill balance during fiscal 2020 and we do not have any accumulated
impairment charges against the carrying value of our goodwill. At August 31, 2020 and 2019, goodwill was allocated to
our segments as shown below (in thousands):
Direct offices
International licensees
Education practice

$16,825
5,065
2,330
$24,220

6. TERM LOANS PAYABLE AND REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT
On August 7, 2019, we entered into a new credit agreement (the 2019 Credit Agreement) with our existing lender,
which replaced the amended and restated credit agreement dated March 2011 (the Original Credit Agreement). The
2019 Credit Agreement provides up to $25.0 million in term loans and a $15.0 million revolving line of credit. Upon
entering into the 2019 Credit Agreement, we borrowed $20.0 million of the available term loan and used the proceeds
to repay all indebtedness under the Original Credit Agreement.
During November 2019, we borrowed the remaining $5.0 million of available term loan capacity on the 2019 Credit
Agreement.
The 2019 Credit Agreement is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and certain of our subsidiaries,
and contains customary representations, warranties, and covenants. We incurred approximately $0.1 million of legal
fees to obtain the 2019 Credit Agreement.
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First Modification Agreement
To address potential covenant compliance issues associated with the uncertainties surrounding the economic recovery
from the COVID-19 pandemic, on July 8, 2020, we entered into the First Modification Agreement to the 2019 Credit
Agreement. The primary purpose of the First Modification Agreement is to provide temporary alternative borrowing
covenants for the fiscal quarters ending August 31, 2020 through May 31, 2021. These new covenants consist of the
following:
1.

Minimum Liquidity – We must maintain consolidated minimum liquidity of not less than $13.0 million from
August 31, 2020 through February 28, 2021 and $8.0 million at May 31, 2021.

2.

Minimum Adjusted EBITDA – We must maintain rolling four-quarter adjusted earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization (Adjusted EBITDA) not less than the amount set forth below at the
end of the specified quarter (in thousands).
Quarter Ending

Amount

August 31, 2020
November 30, 2020
February 28, 2021
May 31, 2021

$11,000
8,500
5,000
15,000

Adjusted EBITDA for purposes of this calculation may not be the same as reported by the Company in our
earnings releases. The amounts in the table above exclude amortization of capitalized development costs
which is classified in cost of sales.
3.

Capital Expenditures – We may not make capital expenditures, including capitalized development costs, in
an amount exceeding $8.5 million in aggregate for any fiscal year.

In addition to the new financial covenants described above, we are prohibited from making certain restricted
payments, including dividend payments on our common stock and open-market purchases of our common stock until
we have been in compliance with the previously existing financial covenants for two consecutive quarters. The
available credit on the revolving line of credit remains the same as under the 2019 Credit Agreement.
Interest on all borrowings under the 2019 Credit Agreement is due and payable on the first day of each month. Our
interest rate under the First Modification Agreement increased to LIBOR plus 3.0 percent from LIBOR plus 1.85
percent under the original 2019 Credit Agreement. Our unused credit commitment fee under the First Modification
Agreement increased from 0.2 percent to 0.5 percent. The effective interest rate on our term loan obligations was 3.5
percent at August 31, 2020 and 4.1 percent at August 31, 2019.
In the event of noncompliance with these financial covenants and other defined events of default, the lender is entitled
to certain remedies, including acceleration of the repayment of any amounts outstanding on the 2019 Credit
Agreement. At August 31, 2020, we believe that we were in compliance with the terms and covenants applicable to the
2019 Credit Agreement and the First Modification Agreement.
The previously existing financial covenants, which include (i) a Funded Indebtedness to Adjusted EBITDAR Ratio of
less than 3.00 to 1.00; (ii) a Fixed Charge Coverage ratio not less than 1.15 to 1.00; (iii) an annual limit on capital
expenditures (excluding capitalized curriculum development costs) of $8.0 million; and (iv) consolidated accounts
receivable of not less than 150% of the aggregate amount of the outstanding borrowings on the revolving line of credit,
the undrawn amount of outstanding letters of credit, and the amount of unreimbursed letter of credit disbursements
remain in effect except for the quarterly periods covered by the First Modification Agreement.
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Term Loans Payable
As previously described, we have borrowed the available $25.0 million of term loans on the 2019 Credit Agreement.
Principal payments of $1.25 million are due and payable on the first day of each January, April, July, and October until
the term loans obligation is repaid in 2024. At August 31, 2020, the principal payments due on our term loans are as
follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024

$ 5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
$20,000

Revolving Line of Credit
The key terms and conditions of our revolving line of credit associated with the 2019 Credit Agreement are as follows:
•

Available Credit – $15.0 million less outstanding standby letters of credit, which totaled $10,000 at
August 31, 2020.

•

Maturity Date – August 7, 2024.

•

Interest Rate – The effective interest rate is LIBOR plus 3.0 percent per annum and the unused
commitment fee on the line of credit is 0.5 percent per annum. The interest rate and commitment fee were
modified by the First Modification Agreement as described above.

We did not have any borrowings on the revolving line of credit at either August 31, 2020 or 2019.

7. FINANCING OBLIGATION
We previously sold our corporate headquarters campus located in Salt Lake City, Utah, and entered into a 20-year
master lease agreement with the purchaser, an unrelated private investment group. The 20-year master lease
agreement contains six additional five-year renewal options that allow us to maintain our operations at the current
location for up to 50 years. Although the corporate headquarters facility was sold and we have no legal ownership of
the property, the applicable accounting guidance prohibited us from recording the transaction as a sale since we
subleased a significant portion of the property that was sold. In transition to the new lease accounting guidance in
ASC 842, we reassessed whether the contract met the sale criteria under the new leasing standard. Based on this
assessment, we determined that the sale criteria under the new leasing standard was not met and we will continue to
account for the corporate campus lease as a financing obligation on our consolidated balance sheet in future periods.
The financing obligation on our corporate campus was comprised of the following (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

Financing obligation payable in monthly installments of $315 at August 31, 2020,
including principal and interest, with two percent annual increases (imputed
interest at 7.7%), through June 2025
Less current portion

$16,648
(2,600)

$18,983
(2,335)

Total financing obligation,less current portion

$14,048

$16,648
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Future principal maturities of our financing obligation were as follows at August 31, 2020 (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$ 2,600
2,887
3,199
3,538
4,424
—
$16,648

Our remaining future minimum payments under the financing obligation in the initial 20-year lease term are as
follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total future minimum financing obligation payments
Less interest
Present value of future minimum financing obligation payments

$ 3,798
3,874
3,952
4,031
3,301
—
18,956
(3,620)
$15,336

The $1.3 million difference between the carrying value of the financing obligation and the present value of the future
minimum financing obligation payments represents the carrying value of the land sold in the financing transaction,
which is not depreciated. At the conclusion of the master lease agreement, the remaining financing obligation and
carrying value of the land will be offset and written off our consolidated financial statements.

8. LEASES
Lessee Obligations
In the normal course of business, we rent office space, primarily for international sales administration offices, in
commercial office complexes that are conducive to sales and administrative operations. We also rent warehousing and
distribution facilities that are designed to provide secure storage and efficient distribution of our training products,
books, and accessories, and certain office equipment such as copiers. All of these leases are classified as operating
leases. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of
the lease payments over the lease term. Since most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our
incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present
value of lease payments. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. For
operating leases, expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We do not have significant
amounts of variable lease payments.
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Some of our operating leases contain renewal options that may be exercised at our discretion after the completion of
the base rental term. At August 31, 2020, we had operating leases with remaining terms ranging from less than one
year to approximately five years. The amounts of assets and liabilities (in thousands) and other information related to
our operating leases follows:
Balance Sheet Caption
Assets:
Operating lease right of use assets
Liabilities:
Current:
Operating lease liabilities
Long-Term:
Operating lease liabilities

Other long-term assets

Accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

Amount
$1,203

695
508
$1,203

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term:
Operating leases (years)
Weighted Average Discount Rate:
Operating leases

2.7
4.2%

In fiscal 2020, we obtained $1.5 million of right-of-use operating lease assets in exchange for operating lease liabilities.
Future minimum lease payments under our operating leases at August 31, 2020, are as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total operating lease payments
Less imputed interest
Present value of operating lease liabilities

$ 751
208
121
97
87
14
1,278
(75)
$1,203

We recognize lease expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease agreement. Total rent expense recorded in
selling, general, and administrative expense from our lease agreements totaled $1.5 million, $1.5 million, and
$1.6 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018.
As previously disclosed in our fiscal 2019 Form 10-K under the prior guidance of ASC 840, minimum payments under
operating lease agreements as of August 31, 2019 were as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$ 752
472
112
97
79
92
$1,604
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Lessor Accounting
We have subleased the majority of our corporate headquarters campus located in Salt Lake City, Utah to multiple
tenants. These sublease agreements are accounted for as operating leases. We recognize sublease income on a
straight-line basis over the life of the sublease agreement. The cost basis of our corporate campus was $36.0 million,
which had a carrying value of $5.9 million at August 31, 2020. The following future minimum lease payments due to
us from our sublease agreements at August 31, 2020, are as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$ 3,965
3,720
2,085
1,551
1,292
—
$12,613

Sublease revenue totaled $3.9 million, $3.9 million, and $3.5 million during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020,
2019, and 2018.

9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Warehouse Outsourcing Contract
Effective July 1, 2016, we entered into a warehousing services agreement with an independent warehouse and
distribution company to provide product kitting, warehousing, and order fulfillment services at a facility in Des
Moines, Iowa. Under the terms of this contract, we paid a fixed charge of approximately $19,000 per month for
account management services and variable charges for other warehousing services based on specified activities,
including shipping charges. The warehouse charges may be increased each year of the contract based upon changes in
the Employment Cost Index. The original warehousing and distribution contract expired on June 30, 2019, and we
extended the contract with essentially the same terms until June 30, 2020. We are currently negotiating a new
warehouse services agreement with the same facility in Des Moines and expect that contract to be completed in fiscal
2021. Until a new agreement is reached, we are accounting for these services on a month-to-month basis.
During fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018, we expensed $2.1 million, $3.1 million, and $2.9 million for services provided
under the terms of our warehouse and distribution outsourcing contract. The total amount expensed each year
includes freight charges, which are billed to us based upon activity. Freight charges included in the warehouse and
distribution outsourcing costs totaled $1.3 million, $2.1 million, and $1.9 million during the fiscal years ended
August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018. Because of the variable component of the agreement, our payments for warehouse
and distribution services may fluctuate in the future due to changes in sales and levels of specified activities.

Purchase Commitments
During the normal course of business, we issue purchase orders to various vendors for products and services. At
August 31, 2020, we had open purchase commitments totaling $4.8 million for products and services to be delivered
primarily in fiscal 2021.

Letters of Credit
At August 31, 2020 and 2019, we had standby letters of credit totaling $10,000 and $0.1 million. These letters of credit
were required to secure commitments for certain insurance policies. No amounts were drawn on the letters of credit
at either August 31, 2020 or August 31, 2019.
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Legal Matters and Loss Contingencies
We are the subject of certain legal actions, which we consider routine to our business activities. At August 31, 2020, we
believe that, after consultation with legal counsel, any potential liability to us under these other actions will not
materially affect our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.

10. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock
We have 14.0 million shares of preferred stock authorized for issuance. At August 31, 2020 and 2019, no shares of
preferred stock were issued or outstanding.

Treasury Stock
On November 15, 2019, our Board of Directors approved a new plan to repurchase up to $40.0 million of our
outstanding common stock. The previously existing common stock repurchase plan was canceled and the new
common share repurchase plan does not have an expiration date. During fiscal 2020, we purchased 5,000 shares of our
common stock for $0.2 million under the terms of this Board approved plan. The actual timing, number, and value of
common shares repurchased under this plan will be determined at our discretion and will depend on a number of
factors, including, among others, general market and business conditions, the trading price of our common shares,
and applicable legal requirements. We have no obligation to repurchase any common shares under the authorization,
and the repurchase plan may be suspended, discontinued, or modified at any time for any reason.
The cost of common stock purchased for treasury as shown on our consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ending August 31, 2020 is comprised of 284,608 shares purchased from Knowledge Capital Investment Group
(Note 17), 109,896 shares withheld for statutory income taxes on various stock-based compensation plans, and 5,000
shares purchased under the terms of our fiscal 2020 Board-approved purchase plan described above. The shares
withheld for income taxes were valued at the market price on the date the stock-based plan shares were distributed to
participants, which totaled $3.7 million. For the fiscal years ended August 31, 2019 and 2018, we withheld 561 shares
and 104,699 shares for statutory taxes on stock-based compensation awards, which had a total market value of
approximately $12,000 and $2.0 million, respectively.

11. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The accounting standards related to fair
value measurements include a hierarchy for information and valuations used in measuring fair value that is broken
down into the following three levels based on reliability:
•

Level 1 valuations are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments that the Company
can access at the measurement date.

•

Level 2 valuations are based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for
the instrument, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability including
the following:

•

a.

quoted prices for similar, but not identical, instruments in active markets;

b.

quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active;

c.

inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the instrument; or

d.

inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or
other means.

Level 3 valuations are based on information that is unobservable and significant to the overall fair value
measurement.
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The book values of our financial instruments at August 31, 2020 and 2019 approximated their fair values. The
assessment of the fair values of our financial instruments is based on a variety of factors and assumptions.
Accordingly, the fair values may not represent the actual values of the financial instruments that could have been
realized at August 31, 2020 or 2019, or that will be realized in the future, and do not include expenses that could be
incurred in an actual sale or settlement. The following methods and assumptions were used to determine the fair
values of our financial instruments, none of which were held for trading or speculative purposes.
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Accounts Receivable – The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, and accounts
receivable approximate their fair values due to the liquidity and short-term maturity of these instruments.
Other Assets – Our other assets, including notes receivable, were recorded at the net realizable value of estimated
future cash flows from these instruments.
Debt Obligations – At August 31, 2020, our debt obligations consisted primarily of a variable-rate term note payable.
Our term note payable and revolving line of credit (Note 6) are negotiated components of our 2019 Credit Agreement,
which was completed in August 2019 and modified in July 2020. Accordingly, the applicable interest rates on the term
loan and revolving line of credit are reflective of current market conditions, and the carrying value of term loan and
revolving line of credit (when applicable) obligations therefore approximate their fair value.

Contingent Consideration Liabilities from Business Acquisitions
We have contingent consideration liabilities arising from previous business acquisitions. We measure the fair values of
our contingent consideration liabilities at each reporting date based on valuation models as described below. Changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration liabilities are recorded as components of our selling, general, and
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the
period of adjustment. The fair value of the contingent consideration liabilities from the acquisition of Robert Gregory
Partners (RGP) and Jhana Education (Jhana) changed as follows during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020
(in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
RGP contingent liability
Jhana contingent liability

2019

Change in
Fair Value

Payments

2020

$1,761
3,468

$(445)
396

$ (500)
(797)

$ 816
3,067

$5,229

$ (49)

$(1,297)

$3,883

At each quarterly reporting date, we estimate the fair value of the contingent liabilities from both the RGP and Jhana
acquisitions through the use of Monte Carlo simulations. Based on the timing of expected payments, all of the RGP
and $0.8 million of the Jhana contingent consideration liabilities were recorded as components of accrued liabilities on
our consolidated balance sheet at August 31, 2020. The remainder of our contingent consideration liabilities are
classified as other long-term liabilities. The following additional information is for our recurring contingent
consideration liabilities shown above.
Robert Gregory Partners – The purchase price of RGP included contingent consideration payments to its former
owners of up to $4.5 million, based on the achievement of specified levels of EBITDA and the delivery of ‘‘add-on
coaching services content’’ for our AAP as set forth in the purchase agreement. During fiscal 2019, we amended the
RGP acquisition agreement to reflect events and implementation issues that have occurred since the acquisition date.
The amended contract increased the contingent consideration liability from the RGP acquisition by $1.1 million
during the third quarter of fiscal 2019, but did not increase the total amount of contingent consideration potentially
payable to the former owners of RGP. The fair value of the RGP contingent consideration is considered a Level 3
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measurement because we estimate qualifying revenues and expected growth rates at each valuation date. The
measurement period of the RGP contingent consideration ends on May 31, 2021 and the following range of growth
rates were used to calculate the initial fair value of the contingent consideration:
Likely

Minimum

Maximum

RGP growth rate - Year 1
RGP growth rate - Year 2
RGP growth rate - Year 3

14.8%
10.0%
10.0%

(12.0)%
(12.0)%
(12.0)%

35.0%
35.0%
35.0%

Add-on services growth rate - Year 1
Add-on services growth rate - Year 2
Add-on services growth rate - Year 3

60.0%
50.0%
40.0%

(20.0)%
(20.0)%
(20.0)%

130.0%
130.0%
130.0%

Jhana Education – On July 11, 2017, we acquired the stock of Jhana. The purchase price included potential
contingent consideration of $7.2 million through the measurement period, which ends in July 2026. The fair value of
the Jhana contingent consideration is a Level 3 measurement because we estimate projected consolidated Company
and AAP sales over the measurement period. Changes in expected qualifying revenues over the measurement period
influence the timing and amount of these contingent payments to the former owners of Jhana.

12. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
Overview
We utilize various stock-based compensation plans as integral components of our overall compensation and associate
retention strategy. Our shareholders have approved various stock incentive plans that permit us to grant performance
awards, restricted stock awards, stock options, fully-vested stock awards, and employee stock purchase plan (ESPP)
shares. The Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the Compensation Committee)
has responsibility for the approval and oversight of our stock-based compensation plans.
On January 25, 2019, our shareholders approved the Franklin Covey Co. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the 2019 Plan),
which authorized an additional 700,000 shares of common stock for issuance to employees and members of the Board
of Directors as stock-based payments. A more detailed description of the 2019 Plan is set forth in our Definitive Proxy
Statement filed with the SEC on December 20, 2018. At August 31, 2020, the 2019 Plan had approximately 511,000
shares available for future grants.
Our employee stock purchase plan (ESPP) is administered under the terms of the Franklin Covey Co. 2017 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, which was approved by our shareholders at the annual meeting of shareholders held on
January 26, 2018. For additional information regarding the Franklin Covey Co. 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
please refer to our definitive Proxy Statement as filed with the SEC on December 22, 2017. At August 31, 2020, we had
approximately 862,000 shares available for purchase by plan participants under the terms of the current
shareholder-approved ESPP.
The total compensation expense of our stock-based compensation plans was as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
Performance awards
Restricted stock awards
Compensation cost of the ESPP
Fully vested stock awards

2020

2019

2018

$(1,518)
700
185
60

$3,853
700
176
60

$2,034
642
155
15

$ (573)

$4,789

$2,846

At each quarterly or annual reporting date, we evaluate number and probability of shares expected to vest in each of
our performance-based long-term incentive plan (LTIP) awards and adjust our stock-based compensation expense to
correspond with the number of shares expected to vest over the anticipated service period. Due to the significant
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our results of operations in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 and the
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uncertainties surrounding the recovery of the world’s economies and our business, we determined that the LTIP award
tranches which are based on qualified Adjusted EBITDA for our fiscal 2015, 2016, 2017, 2019, and 2020 LTIP awards
would not vest before the end of the respective service periods. We therefore reversed the previously recognized
stock-based compensation expense associated with these awards during fiscal 2020, which resulted in a credit to
stock-based compensation for the year.
No stock-based compensation was capitalized during the fiscal years presented in this report. We recognize forfeitures
of stock-based compensation instruments as they occur. During fiscal 2020, we issued 311,452 shares of our common
stock from shares held in treasury for various stock-based compensation arrangements. Our stock-based
compensation plans allow shares to be withheld from the award to pay statutory income tax liabilities. We withheld
109,896 shares of our common stock (Note 10) for statutory income taxes during fiscal 2020.
The following is a description of our stock-based compensation plans.

Performance Awards
The Compensation Committee has awarded various performance-based stock compensation awards to members of
our senior management as long-term incentive plan (LTIP) compensation. These awards vest to the participants based
upon the achievement of specified performance criteria. Compensation expense is recognized as we determine it is
probable that the shares will vest. Adjustments to compensation expense to reflect the timing of and the number of
shares expected to be awarded are made on a cumulative basis at the date of the adjustment. We reevaluate the
likelihood of shares vesting under performance awards at each reporting date.
No LTIP awards vested to participants during fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2019. The following is a description of our
performance-based LTIP awards as of August 31, 2020.
Fiscal 2020 LTIP Award – On October 18, 2019, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors granted a
new LTIP award to our executive officers and members of senior management. The fiscal 2020 LTIP award has three
tranches, which consist of the following: 1) shares that vest after three years of service; 2) the achievement of specified
levels of qualified Adjusted EBITDA; and 3) the achievement of specified levels of subscription service sales.
Twenty-five percent of a participant’s award vests after three years of service, and the number of shares awarded in
this tranche does not fluctuate based on financial measures. The number of shares granted in this tranche totals
25,101 shares. The remaining two tranches of the award are based on the highest rolling four-quarter levels of
qualified Adjusted EBITDA and subscription service sales achieved in the three-year period ended August 31, 2022.
The number of shares that will vest to participants for these two tranches is variable and may be 50 percent of the
award (minimum award threshold) up to 200 percent of the participant’s award (maximum threshold). The maximum
number of shares that may be awarded in connection with these tranches totals 150,630 shares. The fiscal 2020 LTIP
has a three-year life and expires on August 31, 2022.
Fiscal 2019 LTIP Award – On October 1, 2018, the Compensation Committee granted a performance-based LTIP
award to our executive officers and members of senior management, which is similar to the fiscal 2020 LTIP described
above. The fiscal 2019 LTIP award has three tranches, which consist of the following: 1) shares that vest after three
years of service; 2) the achievement of certain levels of qualified Adjusted EBITDA; and 3) the achievement of certain
levels of subscription service sales. Twenty-five percent of a participant’s award vests after three years of service, and
the number of shares awarded in this tranche will not fluctuate based on financial measures. The number of shares
granted in this tranche totals 36,470 shares. The remaining two tranches of the fiscal 2019 award are based on the
highest rolling four-quarter levels of qualified Adjusted EBITDA and subscription service sales achieved in the
three-year period ended August 31, 2021. The number of shares that will vest to participants for these two tranches is
variable and may be 50 percent of the award (minimum threshold) up to 200 percent of the participant’s award
(maximum threshold). The maximum number of shares that may be awarded in connection with these tranches totals
218,818 shares. The fiscal 2019 LTIP has a three-year life and expires on August 31, 2021.
Fiscal 2019 Time-Based Award – On January 25, 2019, the Compensation Committee approved an incentive plan
award for the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Chief People Officer that has a two-year time-based
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vesting (service) condition. A total of 11,915 shares were issued to the participants in connection with this award. The
fair value of this award was calculated by multiplying the number of shares times the closing price of the Company’s
common stock on the grant date, which was $24.54 per share. The fair value of this award totals $0.3 million, which is
being expensed evenly over the two-year service period.
Fiscal 2018 LTIP Award – On November 14, 2017, the Compensation Committee granted a performance-based LTIP
award to our executive officers and members of senior management. The fiscal 2018 LTIP award has three tranches,
which consist of the following: 1) shares that vest after three years of service; 2) the achievement of specified levels of
qualified Adjusted EBITDA; and 3) the achievement of specified levels of subscription service sales. Twenty-five
percent of a participant’s award vests after three years of service, and the number of shares awarded in this tranche will
not fluctuate based on financial measures. The number of shares granted in this tranche totals 42,883 shares. The
remaining two tranches of the fiscal 2018 award are based on the highest rolling four-quarter levels of qualified
Adjusted EBITDA and subscription service sales achieved in the three-year period ended August 31, 2020. The
number of shares that will vest to participants for these two tranches is variable and may be 50 percent of the award
up to 200 percent of the participant’s award. The maximum number of shares that may be awarded in connection with
these tranches totals 257,300 shares. Based on financial results achieved in the three-year period ended August 31,
2020, a total of 221,067 shares were earned by participants in the fiscal 2018 LTIP. The shares earned in the fiscal 2018
LTIP were distributed to participants in the first quarter of fiscal 2021.
Fiscal 2017 LTIP Award – On October 18, 2016, the Compensation Committee granted performance-based awards
for our executive officers and members of senior management. A total of 183,381 shares may be earned by the
participants based on six individual vesting conditions that are divided into two performance measures, trailing
four-quarter Adjusted EBITDA and trailing four-quarter gross All Access Pass sales. As of August 31, 2020, four
tranches of this award have vested, totaling 97,803 shares. The 2017 LTIP has a six-year life and expires on August 31,
2022.
Fiscal 2016 LTIP Award – The fiscal 2016 LTIP was granted on November 12, 2015, to our executive officers and
members of senior management. A total of 231,276 shares may be awarded to the participants based on six individual
vesting conditions that are divided into two performance measures, trailing four-quarter Adjusted EBITDA and
increased sales of Organizational Development Suite (OD Suite) offerings. The OD Suite is defined as Leadership,
Productivity, and Trust practice sales. As of August 31, 2020, four tranches of the fiscal 2016 LTIP have vested to
participants, totaling 123,348 shares. The 2016 LTIP has a six-year life and expires on August 31, 2021.
Fiscal 2015 LTIP Award – During fiscal 2015, the Compensation Committee granted a performance-based award for
our executive officers and certain members of senior management. A total of 112,464 shares were eligible to be
awarded to participants based on six individual vesting conditions that are divided into two performance measures,
trailing four-quarter Adjusted EBITDA and increased sales of OD Suite sales. As of August 31, 2020, a total of 59,980
shares, or four tranches, of the fiscal 2015 LTIP vested to participants. The 2015 LTIP had a six-year life that
concluded on August 31, 2020 and the remaining award tranches, totaling 52,484 shares, expired unvested to the
participants.

Restricted Stock Awards
The annual Board of Director restricted stock award, which is administered under the terms of the Franklin Covey Co.
2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan, is designed to provide our non-employee directors, who are not eligible to participate
in our employee stock purchase plan, an opportunity to obtain an interest in the Company through the acquisition of
shares of our common stock. Each eligible director is entitled to receive a whole-share grant equal to $100,000 with a
one-year vesting period, which is generally granted in January (following the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting) of each
year. Shares granted under the terms of this annual award may not be voted or participate in any common stock
dividends until they are vested.
We issued 21,420 shares, 28,525 shares, and 23,338 shares of our common stock to eligible members of the Board of
Directors during fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019, and fiscal 2018 as restricted stock awards. The fair value of shares awarded to
the directors was $0.7 million in each of fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019, and fiscal 2018 as calculated on the grant date of the
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awards. The corresponding compensation cost of each award is recognized over the service period of the award, which
is one year. The cost of the common stock issued from treasury for these awards was $0.3 million in fiscal 2020,
$0.4 million in fiscal 2019, and $0.3 million in fiscal 2018. The following information applies to our restricted stock
awards for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020:
Number of
Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair
Value Per Share

Restricted stock awards at August 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Vested

28,525
21,420
—
(28,525)

$24.54
32.68
—
24.54

Restricted stock awards at August 31, 2020

21,420

$32.68

At August 31, 2020, there was $0.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost on our restricted stock awards, which
is expected to be recognized over the remaining service period of approximately four months. The total recognized
income tax benefit from restricted stock awards totaled $0.2 million for each of the years ended August 31, 2020, 2019,
and 2018. The intrinsic value of our restricted stock awards at August 31, 2020 was $0.4 million.

Stock Options
We have an incentive stock option plan whereby options to purchase shares of our common stock may be issued to
key employees at an exercise price not less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of
grant. At August 31, 2020, there was no remaining unrecognized compensation expense related to our stock options
and the remaining stock options outstanding expire in January 2021. Information related to our stock option activity
during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020 is presented below:
Number of
Stock
Options

Weighted Avg.
Exercise
Price Per
Share

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(thousands)

Outstanding at August 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

568,750
—
(350,000)
—

$11.67
—
11.73
—

Outstanding at August 31, 2020

218,750

$11.57

0.4

$1,787

Options vested and exercisable at
August 31, 2020

218,750

$11.57

0.4

$1,787

The stock options exercised during fiscal 2020 were exercised on a net basis (no cash was paid to exercise the options)
and we withheld 102,656 shares of our common stock for statutory income taxes, which had a fair value of
$3.6 million. The intrinsic value of the exercised options totaled $8.0 million and we recognized an income tax benefit
of $1.8 million from the exercise of these options. No options were exercised during either fiscal 2019 or 2018.
The following additional information applies to our stock options outstanding at August 31, 2020:

Exercise Prices

Number
Outstanding at
August 31, 2020

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Options
Exercisable at
August 31, 2020

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$9.00
$10.00
$12.00
$14.00

31,250
62,500
62,500
62,500

0.4
0.4
0.4
0.4

$ 9.00
$10.00
$12.00
$14.00

31,250
62,500
62,500
62,500

$ 9.00
$10.00
$12.00
$14.00

218,750

218,750
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan
We have an employee stock purchase plan that offers qualified employees the opportunity to purchase shares of our
common stock at a price equal to 85 percent of the average fair market value of our common stock on the last trading
day of each quarter. ESPP participants purchased a total of 41,409 shares, 43,073 shares, and 40,941 shares our stock
during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, which had a corresponding cost basis of $0.6 million
each year. We received cash proceeds for these shares from ESPP participants totaling $1.0 million in fiscal 2020;
$1.0 million during fiscal 2019; and $0.8 million in fiscal 2018.

Fully Vested Stock Awards
We have a stock-based incentive program that is designed to reward our client partners and training consultants for
exceptional long-term performance. The program grants shares of our common stock to client partners who have
achieved certain cumulative sales goals and to training consultants who have delivered a specified number of training
days during their career. During fiscal 2020, four employees qualified for this award program; four individuals
qualified in fiscal 2019; and one individual qualified for this award in fiscal 2018.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Profit Sharing Plans
We have defined contribution profit sharing plans for our employees that qualify under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code. These plans provide retirement benefits for employees meeting minimum age and service
requirements. Qualified participants may contribute up to 75 percent of their gross wages, subject to certain
limitations. These plans also provide for matching contributions to the participants that are paid by the Company.
The matching contributions, which were expensed as incurred, totaled $2.3 million, $2.2 million, and $2.1 million
during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. We do not sponsor or participate in any
defined-benefit pension plans.

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan
We had a non-qualified deferred compensation (NQDC) plan that provided certain key officers and employees the
ability to defer a portion of their compensation until a later date. Deferred compensation amounts used to pay benefits
were held in a ‘‘rabbi trust,’’ which invested in insurance contracts, various mutual funds, and shares of our common
stock as directed by the plan participants. However, due to legal changes resulting from the American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004, we determined to cease compensation deferrals to the NQDC plan after December 31, 2004. Following
the cessation of deferrals to the NQDC plan, the number of participants remaining in the plan declined steadily, and
our Board of Directors decided to partially terminate the NQDC plan. Following this decision, all of the plan’s assets
were liquidated, the plan’s liabilities were paid, and the only remaining items in the NQDC plan are shares of our
common stock owned by the remaining plan participants. At August 31, 2020 and 2019, the cost basis of the shares of
our common stock held by the rabbi trust was $0.1 million and $0.2 million. Shares of our common stock held in the
rabbi trust are included as components of treasury stock on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

14. INCOME TAXES
Our provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

2020
$

(15)
(87)
(1,145)
(1,247)

2019
$

93
(14)
(2,745)
(2,666)

2018
$

29
210
(2,947)
(2,708)
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YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Operating loss carryforward
Adjustment for changes in U.S.income tax rates
Valuation allowance

2020

2019

2018

2,306
98
(77)
(50)
—
(11,261)

3,112
102
(120)
(1,625)
—
(418)

1,426
(314)
(281)
2,636
1,654
(2,780)

(8,984)

1,051

2,341

$(1,615)

$ (367)

$(10,231)
The allocation of our total income tax provision is as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss)

2020

2019

2018

$(10,231)
16

$(1,615)
(5)

$(367)
(75)

$(10,215)

$(1,620)

$(442)

2020

2019

2018

$ 3,062
(2,266)

$(1,910)
2,502

$(8,960)
3,440

$

$

$(5,520)

Income (loss) before income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
United States
Foreign

796

592

The differences between income taxes at the statutory federal income tax rate and the consolidated income tax rate
reported in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss were as follows:
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
Federal statutory income tax rate
State income taxes, net of federal effect
Effect of change in U.S. federal tax rate
Valuation allowance
Executive stock options
Foreign jurisdictions tax differential
Tax differential on income subject to both U.S. and foreign taxes
Uncertain tax positions
Non-deductible executive compensation
Non-deductible meals and entertainment
Payout of deferred compensation (NQDC)
Other

2020

2019

2018

(21.0)%
16.9
—
(1,412.9)
199.9
1.4
11.9
13.8
(18.2)
(22.3)
6.1
(59.3)

(21.0)%
(5.4)
—
(70.8)
—
(72.8)
(64.7)
34.0
(8.8)
(52.9)
0.3
(10.7)

25.7%
2.6
30.0
(50.4)
—
(6.8)
2.3
(5.1)
(2.7)
(8.9)
4.4
2.2

(1,283.7)%

(272.8)%

(6.7)%

Due to the near break-even amount of pre-tax income during fiscal 2020 and 2019, the effect of non-temporary items
on our effective income tax rate was greatly amplified.
In consideration of the relevant accounting guidance, we reevaluated our deferred tax assets during fiscal 2020 and
considered both positive and negative evidence in determining whether it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of our deferred tax assets will be realized. Because of the cumulative pre-tax losses over the past three fiscal years,
combined with the expected continued disruptions and negative impact to our business resulting from uncertainties
related to the recovery from the pandemic, we were unable to overcome accounting guidance indicating that it is
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more-likely-than-not that insufficient taxable income will be available to realize all of our deferred tax assets before
they expire, primarily foreign tax credit carryforwards and a portion of our net operating loss carryforwards. Based on
this assessment, we increased the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, which generated $11.3 million of
additional income tax expense in fiscal 2020.
The Tax Cut and Jobs Act (the 2017 Tax Act) was signed into law on December 22, 2017. The 2017 Tax Act
significantly revised the U.S. corporate income tax code by, among other things, lowering the statutory corporate tax
rate from 35 percent to 21 percent; eliminating certain deductions; imposing a mandatory one-time transition tax, or
deemed repatriation tax, on accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries as of 2017 that were previously tax deferred;
introducing new tax regimes; and changing how foreign earnings are subject to U.S. tax.
Since we have an August 31 fiscal year end, the lower corporate income tax rate was phased in, resulting in a U.S.
statutory federal rate of 25.7 percent for fiscal 2018 and a 21 percent rate for fiscal 2019 and subsequent years. Other
provisions of the 2017 Tax Act became effective for us in fiscal 2019, including limitations on the deductibility of
interest and executive compensation as well as anti-deferral provisions on Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income
(GILTI). We have elected to treat taxes due on future U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI as a current
period expense when incurred (the ‘‘period cost method’’).
In fiscal 2020, we recorded $0.2 million of income tax expense resulting from limitations added by the 2017 Tax Act
on the deductibility of executive compensation. Because of losses in foreign jurisdictions, we recorded no income tax
expense in fiscal 2020 under the GILTI provisions. During fiscal 2019, we recorded income tax expense of $0.3 million
under the GILTI provisions. We recorded $0.1 million of tax expense resulting from limitations added by the 2017 Tax
Act on the deductibility of executive compensation.
In fiscal 2018, we recorded income tax benefits totaling $1.7 million, including a one-time income tax benefit of
$0.9 million as of the date of enactment. We recognized $0.8 million of the one-time benefit from re-measuring our
net deferred tax liabilities at the reduced U.S. federal tax rate and $0.2 million of the benefit from other changes
enacted by the 2017 Tax Act. These benefits were partially offset by $0.1 million of expense from the deemed
repatriation of accumulated earnings from our foreign subsidiaries.
On September 1, 2017, we adopted the provisions of ASU 2016-09, which requires that the benefits of deductions
resulting from stock-based compensation in excess of the corresponding book expense be recorded as a component of
our income tax provision or benefit for the period, instead of being recorded to additional paid-in capital. In fiscal
2020, as a result of our CEO and CFO’s exercise of stock options, we recorded an income tax benefit of $1.8 million for
stock-based compensation deductions that were greater than the corresponding book expense. We recorded income
tax expense of $0.1 million in fiscal 2019 and an immaterial amount of income tax expense in fiscal 2018 for
stock-based compensation deductions that were less than the corresponding book expense.
The significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
Deferred income tax assets:
Foreign income tax credit carryforward
Net operating loss carryforward
Sale and financing of corporate headquarters
Bonus and other accruals
Stock-based compensation
Inventory and bad debt reserves
Deferred revenue
Other

2020

2019

$ 9,150
7,694
3,939
1,607
1,431
1,328
1,268
530

$ 8,140
7,516
4,431
1,622
1,973
1,376
829
264

Total deferred income tax assets
Less: valuation allowance

26,947
(15,076)

26,151
(3,815)

Net deferred income tax assets

11,871

22,336
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AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Intangibles step-ups – indefinite lived
Intangibles step-ups – finite lived
Intangible asset impairment and amortization
Deferred commissions
Property and equipment depreciation
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries
Other

(5,494)
(2,786)
(3,306)
(2,231)
(1,904)
(354)
—

(5,424)
(3,406)
(2,906)
(2,056)
(2,880)
(456)
(343)

(16,075)

(17,471)

Total deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income taxes

$ (4,204)

$ 4,865

Deferred income tax amounts are recorded as follows in our consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

Long-term assets
Long-term liabilities

$ 1,094
(5,298)

$5,045
(180)

Net deferred income tax asset (liability)

$(4,204)

$4,865

Our U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards were comprised of the following at August 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Loss Expires
August 31,

Amount

Loss
Deductions
in Prior
Years

December 31, 2014
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2016
July 15, 2017 Acquired NOL

2033
2034
2035
2036

$ 1,285
1,491
3,052
1,117

$(1,019)
—
—
—

$ (266)
(580)
—
—

August 31, 2017
August 31, 2018

2037
2038

6,945
16,361
10,506

(1,019)
(6,627)
—

(846)
(1,366)
—

5,080
8,368
10,506

$33,812

$(7,646)

$(2,212)

$23,954

Loss Carryforward
for Year Ended

Loss
Deductions
in Current
Year

Operating
Loss Carried
Forward
$

—
911
3,052
1,117

We have U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards generated in fiscal 2009 and before in various jurisdictions that
expire primarily between September 1, 2020 and August 31, 2029. The U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards
generated in fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2018 primarily expire on August 31, 2037 and 2038, respectively. The state net
operating loss carryforwards acquired through the purchase of Jhana Education stock expire between August 31, 2033
and August 31, 2036.

132 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Franklin Covey 2020 Annual Report

Our U.S. foreign income tax credit carryforwards were comprised of the following at August 31, 2020 (in thousands):
Credit Generated
in Fiscal Year Ended August 31,

Credit Expires
August 31,

Credits
Generated

Credits Used in
Prior Years

Credits Used in
Current Year

Credits Carried
Forward

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030

$ 3,445
2,563
2,815
1,378
1,422
1,569
1,804
1,727
1,578
1,010

$

(414)
(2,563)
(2,815)
(1,378)
(1,422)
(1,569)
—
—
—
—

$—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$3,031
—
—
—
—
—
1,804
1,727
1,578
1,010

$19,311

$(10,161)

$—

$9,150

In fiscal 2020, we increased our valuation allowance on our deferred income tax assets as previously explained. During
fiscal 2019, we determined that it was more likely than not that deferred income tax assets of certain foreign
subsidiaries would not be realized and we increased the valuation allowance accordingly. In fiscal 2018, we established
a valuation allowance of $3.0 million against our foreign tax credit carryforward from fiscal 2011, after concluding it is
more likely than not that the carryforward will expire unused at the end of fiscal 2021. Our emphasis of the All Access
Pass has generated, and will likely continue to generate, substantial amounts of deferred revenue for both book and tax
purposes. This situation has produced a cumulative U.S. domestic pre-tax loss for the past three fiscal years and a
more-likely-than-not presumption that insufficient taxable income will be available to realize the fiscal 2011 foreign
tax carryforward, which expires at the end of fiscal 2021.
Activity in our deferred income tax asset valuation allowance was as follows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

2018

Beginning balance
Charged to costs and expenses
Deductions

$ 3,815
11,269
(8)

$3,397
663
(245)

$ 612
3,035
(250)

Ending balance

$15,076

$3,815

$3,397

Except for the deferred tax assets subject to valuation allowances, we have determined that projected future taxable
income is adequate to allow for realization of all deferred tax assets. We considered sources of taxable income,
including reversals of taxable temporary differences, future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary
differences and carryforwards, and reasonable, practical tax-planning strategies to generate additional taxable income.
Based on the factors described above, we concluded that realization of our deferred tax assets, except those subject to
the valuation allowances described above, is more likely than not at August 31, 2020.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

2018

Beginning balance
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
Additions for tax positions in prior years
Reductions for tax positions of prior years resulting from the lapse of
applicable statute of limitations
Other reductions for tax positions of prior years

$1,895
172
10

$2,111
157
7

$2,359
27
367

Ending balance

$1,640

(289)
(148)

(370)
(10)
$1,895

(253)
(389)
$2,111
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The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate is $1.3 million at
August 31, 2020, and $1.6 million at August 31, 2019. Included in the ending balance of gross unrecognized tax
benefits at August 31, 2020 is $1.6 million related to individual states’ net operating loss carryforwards. Interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions are recognized as components of income tax expense. The net accruals and
reversals of interest and penalties increased or decreased our income tax expense by an insignificant amount in each of
fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019, and fiscal 2018. The balance of interest and penalties included in other long-term liabilities on
our consolidated balance sheets at each of August 31, 2020 and 2019 was $0.2 million.
During the next 12 months, we expect a decrease in unrecognized tax benefits totaling $0.1 million relating to
non-deductible expenses and state net operating loss deductions upon the lapse of the applicable statute of limitations.
We file United States federal income tax returns as well as income tax returns in various states and foreign
jurisdictions. The tax years that remain subject to examinations for our major tax jurisdictions are shown below.
2013-2020
2014-2020
2015-2020
2016-2020
2016-2020
2016-2020
2017-2020

Canada and Australia
Japan
Germany, Switzerland, and Austria
China
United Kingdom, Singapore
United States – state and local income tax
United States – federal income tax

15. LOSS PER SHARE
The following schedule shows the calculation of loss per share for the periods presented (in thousands, except
per-share amounts).
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net loss
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options and other stock-based awards
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding
EPS Calculations:
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted

2020

2019

2018

$ (9,435)

$ (1,023)

$ (5,887)

13,892

13,948

13,849

—

—

—

13,892

13,948

13,849

$ (0.68)

$ (0.07)

$ (0.43)

Since we incurred a net loss for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020, no potentially dilutive securities were included
in the calculation of our loss per share because the inclusion of these securities would be antidilutive. The number of
dilutive securities that would have been included at August 31, 2020 was approximately 65,000 shares. Other
securities, including performance stock-based compensation instruments, may have a dilutive effect on our future EPS
calculations if our financial results reach specified targets (Note 12).
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16. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Reportable Segments
Our sales are primarily comprised of training and consulting services and our internal reporting structure is
comprised of three reportable operating segments and a corporate services group. Our internal reporting structure
and reportable segments are organized primarily around the client channels which produce the Company’s revenues.
The following is a brief description of our reportable segments:
•

Direct Offices – This segment includes our sales personnel that serve the United States and Canada; our
international sales offices located in Japan, China, the United Kingdom, Australia, Germany, Switzerland,
and Austria; our governmental sales channel; our coaching operations; and our books and audio sales
channel.

•

International Licensees – This segment is primarily comprised of our international licensees’ royalty
revenues.

•

Education Practice – This group includes our domestic and international Education practice operations,
which are focused on sales to educational institutions.

•

Corporate and Other – Our corporate and other information includes royalty revenue from Franklin
Planner Corporation (Note 17), leasing operations, shipping and handling revenues, and certain corporate
administrative expenses.

We have determined that the Company’s chief operating decision maker continues to be the CEO, and the primary
measurement tool used in business unit performance analysis is Adjusted EBITDA, which may not be calculated as
similarly titled amounts calculated by other companies. For reporting purposes, our consolidated Adjusted EBITDA
can be calculated as our income or loss from operations excluding stock-based compensation, changes in the fair value
of contingent consideration liabilities from business acquisitions, restructuring charges, depreciation expense,
amortization expense, and certain other unusual or infrequent items.
Our operations are not capital intensive and we do not own any manufacturing facilities or equipment. Accordingly,
we do not allocate assets to the divisions for analysis purposes. Interest expense and interest income are primarily
generated at the corporate level and are not allocated. Income taxes are likewise calculated and paid on a corporate
level (except for entities that operate in foreign jurisdictions) and are not allocated for analysis purposes.
All prior period segment information has been revised to conform to our current organizational structure, assigned
responsibilities, and primary internal reports. We account for our segment information on the same basis as the
accompanying consolidated financial statements (in thousands).
Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2020
Enterprise Division:
Direct offices
International licensees
Education Division
Corporate and eliminations
Consolidated

Sales to External
Customers

Gross Profit

Adjusted
EBITDA

$139,780
8,451

$108,144
6,679

$17,694
2,406

148,231
43,405
6,820

114,823
27,099
3,448

$198,456

$145,370

20,100
(90)
(5,726)
$14,284
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Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2019
Enterprise Division:
Direct offices
International licensees
Education Division
Corporate and eliminations
Consolidated
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Sales to External
Customers

Gross Profit

Adjusted
EBITDA

$157,754
12,896

$116,755
10,231

$19,455
6,072

170,650
48,880
5,826

126,986
30,373
1,955

$225,356

$159,314

$20,606

$145,890
13,226

$108,140
10,031

$13,254
5,081

159,116
45,272
5,370

118,171
28,654
1,464

$209,758

$148,289

25,527
3,553
(8,474)

Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2018
Enterprise Division:
Direct offices
International licensees
Education Division
Corporate and eliminations
Consolidated

18,335
2,710
(9,167)
$11,878

A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to consolidated net loss is provided below (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,

2020

2019

2018

Segment Adjusted EBITDA
Corporate expenses

$ 20,010
(5,726)

$29,080
(8,474)

$21,045
(9,167)

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA
Stock-based compensation
Reduction (increase) in contingent consideration
liabilities
Restructuring costs
Gain from insurance settlement
Government COVID assistance
Knowledge Capital wind-down costs
ERP system implementation costs
Licensee transition costs
Depreciation
Amortization

14,284
573

20,606
(4,789)

11,878
(2,846)

49
(1,636)
933
514
(389)
—
—
(6,664)
(4,606)

(1,334)
—
—
—
—
—
(488)
(6,364)
(4,976)

(1,014)
—
—
—
—
(855)
—
(5,161)
(5,368)

Income (loss) from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Accretion of discount on related party receivable

3,058
56
(2,318)
—

2,655
37
(2,358)
258

(3,366)
104
(2,676)
418

796
(10,231)

592
(1,615)

(5,520)
(367)

$ (9,435)

$ (1,023)

$ (5,887)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
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Disaggregated Revenue
Our revenues are derived primarily from the United States. However, we also operate directly-owned offices or
contract with licensees to provide our services in various countries throughout the world. Our consolidated revenues
were derived from the following countries/regions (in thousands):
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,
Americas
Asia Pacific
Europe/Middle East/Africa

2020
$160,989
11,845
25,622
$198,456

2019
$173,784
14,457
37,115
$225,356

2018
$159,595
12,715
37,448
$209,758

The following table presents our revenue disaggregated by our significant revenue generating activities. Sales of
services and products include training and consulting services and related products such as training manuals.
Subscription sales include revenues from our subscription services such as the All Access Pass and Leader in Me
membership. We receive royalty revenue from our international licensees and from other sources such as book
publishing arrangements. Corporate royalties are amounts received from Franklin Planner Co. pursuant to a new
licensing arrangement obtained in fiscal 2020 (Note 17). Leases and other revenue is primarily comprised of lease
revenues from sub-leases for space at our corporate headquarters campus and from shipping and handling revenues
(in thousands).
Fiscal Year Ended
August 31, 2020
Enterprise Division:
Direct offices
International licensees
Education Division
Corporate and eliminations
Consolidated
Fiscal Year Ended
August 31, 2019
Enterprise Division:
Direct offices
International licensees
Education Division
Corporate and eliminations
Consolidated
Fiscal Year Ended
August 31, 2018
Enterprise Division:
Direct offices
International licensees
Education Division
Corporate and eliminations
Consolidated

Services and
Products

Subscriptions

Royalties

Leases and
Other

$ 75,580
1,411
76,991
15,107
—
$ 92,098

$60,954
—
60,954
25,587
—
$86,541

$ 3,246
7,040
10,286
2,711
1,985
$14,982

$

—
—
—
—
4,835
$4,835

$139,780
8,451
148,231
43,405
6,820
$198,456

$102,557
2,439
104,996
23,779
—
$128,775

$52,536
—
52,536
22,151
—
$74,687

$ 2,661
10,457
13,118
2,950
—
$16,068

$

—
—
—
—
5,826
$5,826

$157,754
12,896
170,650
48,880
5,826
$225,356

$100,730
2,484
103,214
26,061
—
$129,275

$42,465
—
42,465
15,587
—
$58,052

$ 2,695
10,742
13,437
3,624
—
$17,061

$

$145,890
13,226
159,116
45,272
5,370
$209,758

—
—
—
—
5,370
$5,370

Inter-segment sales were immaterial for the periods presented and were eliminated in consolidation.

Consolidated
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Other Geographic Information
At August 31, 2020, we had wholly owned direct offices in Australia, China, Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany,
Switzerland, and Austria. Our long-lived assets, excluding intangible assets and goodwill, were held in the following
locations for the periods indicated (in thousands):
AUGUST 31,
United States/Canada
Japan
China
United Kingdom
Germany, Switzerland, and Austria
Singapore
Australia

2020
$28,327
1,537
1,307
720
240
158
139
$32,428

2019
$31,129
1,456
441
207
10
370
164
$33,777

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Knowledge Capital Investment Group
In December 2019, Knowledge Capital Investment Group (Knowledge Capital), an investor which held 2.8 million
shares of our common stock stemming from its initial investment in Franklin Covey over 20 years ago, wound up its
operations and distributed its assets to investors. On December 9, 2019, prior to the distribution of its assets to
investors, we purchased 284,608 shares of our common stock from Knowledge Capital at $35.1361 per share, for an
aggregate purchase price of $10.1 million, including legal costs. Our CEO and a member of our Board of Directors
each owned a partnership interest in Knowledge Capital. At August 31, 2020, Knowledge Capital does not own any
shares of our common stock.

FC Organizational Products
We previously owned a 19.5 percent interest in FC Organizational Products (FCOP), an entity that purchased
substantially all of our consumer solutions business unit assets in fiscal 2008 for the purpose of selling planners and
related organizational products under a comprehensive licensing agreement. As a result of FCOP’s structure as a
limited liability company with separate owner capital accounts, we determined that our investment in FCOP was more
than minor and we were required to account for our investment in FCOP using the equity method of accounting. We
have not recorded our share of FCOP’s losses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss because we have impaired and written off investment balances, as defined within the applicable
accounting guidance, in excess of our share of FCOP’s losses.
Due to significant operating losses incurred after the establishment of FCOP, we reconsidered whether FCOP was a
variable interest entity as defined under ASC 810, and determined that FCOP was a variable interest entity. We further
determined that we were not the primary beneficiary of FCOP because we did not have the ability to direct the
activities that most significantly impact FCOP’s economic performance, which primarily consisted of the day-to-day
sale of planning products and related accessories, and we did not have an obligation to absorb losses or the right to
receive benefits from FCOP that could have been significant.
On November 4, 2019, FCOP sold substantially all of its assets to Franklin Planner Corporation (FPC), a new
unrelated entity, and FCOP was dissolved. FPC has continued FCOP’s business of selling planners and other related
consumer products based on the license agreement which granted FCOP the exclusive rights described below.
In connection with this transaction, we exchanged approximately $3.2 million of receivables from FCOP to amend the
term and royalty provisions of the existing license agreement. The $3.2 million of consideration included a
$2.6 million note receivable, which represented FCOP’s third-party bank debt that we purchased directly from the
bank on the transaction date. The amended license agreement grants the exclusive right to use certain of our
trademarks and other intellectual property in connection with certain consumer products and provides us with
minimum royalties of approximately $1.3 million per year. We are also entitled to receive additional variable royalties
if certain FPC financial metrics exceed specified levels. FPC assumed the amended license agreement from FCOP
upon the purchase of FCOP assets. We recorded the $3.2 million consideration for the amendment to the license
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agreement as a capitalized cost of the license agreement (Note 2) and will reduce our royalty revenue by amortizing
this amount over the remainder of the initial term of the license agreement, which ends in approximately 30 years.
During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020, we recognized $2.0 million of net royalty revenues from the amended
license agreement with FPC.
We do not have an ownership interest in FPC, do not have any obligation to provide additional subordinated support
to FPC, do not have control over the day-to-day operations of FPC, and accordingly do not account for FPC as a
variable interest entity. We receive payments for royalties and rented space from FPC. At August 31, 2020, we had
$1.7 million receivable from FPC and at August 31, 2019, we had $1.0 million receivable from FCOP, each of which are
recorded in current assets. Since most of FPC’s sales and cash flows are seasonal and occur between October and
January, we expect to receive the majority of the required cash payments for royalties and outstanding receivables
during our second and third quarters of each fiscal year. During fiscal 2020, we received $1.4 million of cash from FPC
as payment for royalties and reimbursable operating costs.

CoveyLink Acquisition and Contractual Payments
We previously acquired the assets of CoveyLink Worldwide, LLC (CoveyLink). CoveyLink conducts training and
provides consulting based upon the book The Speed of Trust by Stephen M.R. Covey, who is the brother of one of our
executive officers.
Prior to the acquisition date, CoveyLink had granted us a non-exclusive license for content related to The Speed of
Trust book and related training courses for which we paid CoveyLink specified royalties. As part of the CoveyLink
acquisition, we signed an amended and restated license for intellectual property that granted us an exclusive,
perpetual, worldwide, transferable, royalty-bearing license to use, reproduce, display, distribute, sell, prepare
derivative works of, and perform the licensed material in any format or medium and through any market or
distribution channel. We are required to pay Stephen M.R. Covey royalties for the use of certain intellectual property
developed by him. The amount expensed for these royalties totaled $1.6 million, $1.7 million, and $1.8 million during
the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018. As part of the acquisition of CoveyLink, we signed an amended
license agreement as well as a speaker services agreement. Based on the provisions of the speakers’ services agreement,
we pay Stephen M.R. Covey a portion of the speaking revenues received for his presentations. We expensed
$0.8 million, $1.2 million, and $0.9 million for payment on these presentations during the fiscal years ended
August 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. We had $0.2 million and $0.6 million accrued for these royalties and speaking fees at
August 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which were included as components of accrued liabilities on our consolidated
balance sheets.

Acquired License Rights for Intellectual Property
During fiscal 2017, we acquired the license rights for certain intellectual property owned by Higher Moment, LLC for
$0.8 million. The intellectual property is in part based on works authored and developed by Dr. Clayton Christensen, a
well-known author and lecturer, who was a member of our Board of Directors prior to his passing in January 2020.
However, Dr. Christensen did not have an ownership interest in Higher Moment, LLC. The initial license period is
five years and the agreement may be renewed for successive five-year periods for $0.8 million at each renewal date.
The agreement may be terminated by either party at any time, but if we choose to terminate the agreement prior to
the third renewal date, we are required to pay $0.3 million to Higher Moment, LLC.

Other Related Party Transactions
We pay an executive officer of the Company a percentage of the royalty proceeds received from the sales of certain
books authored by him in addition to his annual salary. During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018,
we expensed $0.1 million, $0.1 million, and $0.2 million for these royalties. We had an insignificant amount accrued to
this executive officer at August 31, 2020 and $0.1 million accrued at August 31, 2019 as payable under the terms of
these arrangements. These amounts are included as components of accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance
sheets.
We pay a company owned by the brother of a member of our executive management team for the production of video
segments used in our offerings. During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019, we paid $1.0 million and
$0.8 million to this company for services provided.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be
disclosed in the Company’s reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this report, is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures are also designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated
to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
An evaluation was conducted under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period
covered by this report.
Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of
the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The management of Franklin Covey Co. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting for the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) and all related information appearing in
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
1.

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;

2.

provide reasonable assurance that the transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures
are being made only in accordance with the authorization of management and/or of our Board of Directors; and

3.

provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of any unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness in future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using
the criteria set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework as issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 COSO Framework). Based upon this evaluation, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Our independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has audited the consolidated financial
statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K and, as part of their audit, has issued an audit report, included
herein, on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Their report is included in Item 8 of this
Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f))
during the fourth quarter ended August 31, 2020 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Certain information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled ‘‘Nominees for Election
to the Board of Directors,’’ ‘‘Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports,’’ ‘‘Corporate Governance,’’ and ‘‘Board of Director
Committees and Meetings’’ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of shareholders, which is
scheduled to be held on January 22, 2021. The definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Executive
officer biographies may be found in Item 1, under the section entitled ‘‘Information About Our Executive Officers,’’ of
this report on Form 10-K.
The Board of Directors has determined that one of the Audit Committee members, Mr. Michael Fung, is a ‘‘financial
expert’’ as defined in Regulation S-K 407(d)(5) adopted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our
Board of Directors has also determined that Mr. Fung is an ‘‘independent director’’ as defined by the NYSE.
We have adopted a code of ethics for our senior financial officers that include the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief
Financial Officer, and other members of our financial leadership team. This code of ethics is available on our website
at www.franklincovey.com. We intend to satisfy any disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information
on our web site at the address and location specified above.

Franklin Covey 2020 Annual Report

Form 10-K 141

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled ‘‘Compensation Discussion
and Analysis,’’ ‘‘Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,’’ and ‘‘Compensation Committee
Report’’ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on
January 22, 2021.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Plan Category

[a]
Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants, and rights

[b]
Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants, and rights

(in thousands)

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders
(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)

1,049(1)(2)

[c]
Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance under
equity compensation plans (excluding
securities reflected in column [a])
(in thousands)

$11.57

1,373(3)(4)

Excludes 21,420 shares of restricted stock awards that are subject to forfeiture.
Amount includes 829,840 performance share awards that may be awarded under the terms of various long-term incentive plans. The number
of shares eventually awarded to participants through our long-term incentive plans is variable and based upon the achievement of specified
financial goals. For performance-based compensation awards where the number of shares may fluctuate within a range based on the
achievement of the specified goal, this amount includes the maximum number of shares that may be awarded to participants. The actual
number of shares issued to participants therefore, may be less than the amount disclosed. The weighted average exercise price of outstanding
options, warrants, and rights does not include the impact of performance awards or restricted stock units. For further information on our
stock-based compensation plans, refer to the notes to our financial statements as presented in Item 8 of this report.
Amount is comprised of the remaining shares authorized under our 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan and 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
The number of performance-based plan shares expected to be awarded at August 31, 2020 may change in future periods based upon the
achievement of specified goals and revisions to estimates.
At August 31, 2020, we had approximately 862,000 shares authorized for purchase by participants in our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Beneficial Ownership of Company Stock
The remaining information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled ‘‘Principal
Holders of Voting Securities’’ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of shareholders, which is
scheduled to be held on January 22, 2021.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled ‘‘Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions’’ and ‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of
shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on January 22, 2021.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled ‘‘Principal Accountant Fees’’
in our definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on January 22,
2021.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) List of documents filed as part of this report:
1.

Financial Statements. The consolidated financial statements of the Company and Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon included in the Annual Report to Shareholders on Form 10-K
for the year ended August 31, 2020, are as follows:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at August 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the fiscal years
ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2020, 2019, and
2018
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.

Financial Statement Schedules.
Other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not required or applicable, or the required
information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto, or contained in this report.

3.
Exhibit
No.
2.1
2.2

3.1
3.2
3.3
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4

4.5

4.6
10.1*

Exhibit List.
Exhibit
Master Asset Purchase Agreement between Franklin Covey
Products, LLC and Franklin Covey Co. dated May 22, 2008
Amendment to Master Asset Purchase Agreement between
Franklin Covey Products, LLC and Franklin Covey Co. dated
May 22, 2008
Articles of Restatement dated March 4, 2005 amending and
restating the Company’s Articles of Incorporation
Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of
Incorporation of Franklin Covey (Appendix C)
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Franklin Covey Co.
Specimen Certificate of the Registrant’s Common Stock, par
value $.05 per share
Stockholder Agreements, dated May 11, 1999 and June 2, 1999
Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 2, 1999
Amended and Restated Shareholders Agreement, dated as of
March 8, 2005, between the Company and Knowledge Capital
Investment Group
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated
as of March 8, 2005, between the Company and Knowledge
Capital Investment Group
Description of Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the
Exchange Act
Forms of Nonstatutory Stock Options

Incorporated
By Reference
(8)
(9)

(4)
(7)
(14)
(2)
(3)
(3)
(4)

(4)

(20)
(1)

Filed
Herewith
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Exhibit
No.
10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5
10.6

10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10

10.11

10.12*
10.13
10.14*
10.15*
10.16*

10.17*
10.18

10.19

10.20

21
23
31.1
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Exhibit
Master Lease Agreement, dated June 17, 2005, between
Franklin SaltLake LLC (Landlord) and Franklin Development
Corporation (Tenant)
Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions
between Levy Affiliated Holdings, LLC (Buyer) and Franklin
Development Corporation (Seller) and Amendments
Redemption Extension Voting Agreement between Franklin
Covey Co. and Knowledge Capital Investment Group, dated
October 20, 2005
Master License Agreement between Franklin Covey Co. and
Franklin Covey Products, LLC
Master Shared Services Agreement between The Franklin
Covey Products Companies and the Shared Services
Companies
Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Franklin
Covey Products, LLC
Sublease Agreement between Franklin Development
Corporation and Franklin Covey Products, LLC
Sub-Sublease Agreement between Franklin Covey Co. and
Franklin Covey Products, LLC
Asset Purchase Agreement by and Among Covey/Link, LLC,
CoveyLink Worldwide LLC, Franklin Covey Co., and Franklin
Covey Client Sales, Inc. dated December 31, 2008
Amended and Restated License of Intellectual Property by and
Among Franklin Covey Co. and Covey/Link, LLC, dated
December 31, 2008
Franklin Covey Co. Second Amended and Restated 1992 Stock
Incentive Plan
Agreement dated July 26, 2011, between Franklin Covey Co.,
and Knowledge Capital Investment Group
Form of Change in Control Severance Agreement
Franklin Covey Co. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan
Franklin Covey Co. 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(incorporated by reference to Appendix A in the Company’s
Proxy Statement (File No. 001-11107) filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on December 22, 2017)
Franklin Covey Co. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan
Credit Agreement by and among JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
Franklin Covey Co., and the subsidiary guarantors party
thereto, dated August 7, 2019
Pledge and Security Agreement by and between JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., Franklin Covey Co., and the subsidiary
guarantors party thereto, dated August 7, 2019
First Modification Agreement by and among JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., Franklin Covey Co., and the subsidiary guarantors
signatory thereto, dated July 8, 2020
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

Incorporated
By Reference

Filed
Herewith

(5)

(5)

(6)

(10)
(10)

(10)
(10)
(10)
(11)

(11)

(12)
(13)
(15)
(16)
(17)

(18)
(19)

(19)

(21)

★★
★★
★★
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Exhibit
No.
31.2
32
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
★★
*
**

Exhibit
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
Section 1350 Certifications
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
XBRL Extension Presentation Linkbase

Incorporated
By Reference

Filed
Herewith
★★
★★
★★
★★
★★
★★
★★
★★

Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on April 17, 1992, Registration No. 33-47283.
Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on May 26, 1992,
Registration No. 33-47283.
Incorporated by reference to Schedule 13D (CUSIP No. 534691090 as filed with the Commission on June 14, 1999). Registration
No. 005-43123.
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 10, 2005.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 27, 2005.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 24, 2005.**
Incorporated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A filed with the Commission on December 12, 2005.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Commission on May 29, 2008.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-Q filed July 10, 2008, for the Quarter ended May 31, 2008.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 11, 2008.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on April 9, 2009.**
Incorporated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A (Appendix A) filed with the Commission on December 15,
2010.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 28, 2011.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 1, 2012.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 14, 2012.**
Incorporated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A (Appendix A) filed with the Commission on December 22,
2014.**
Incorporated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A (Appendix A) filed with the Commission on December 22,
2017.**
Incorporated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A (Appendix A) filed with the Commission on December 20,
2018.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 8, 2019.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-K/A filed with the Commission on December 12, 2019.**
Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 10, 2020.**
Filed herewith and attached to this report.
Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or agreement.
Registration No. 001-11107.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on November 16, 2020.
FRANKLIN COVEY CO.

By:

/s/ Robert A. Whitman

Robert A. Whitman
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature
/s/ Robert A. Whitman
Robert A. Whitman
/s/ Anne Chow

Title

Date

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

November 16, 2020

Director

November 16, 2020

Director

November 16, 2020

Director

November 16, 2020

Director

November 16, 2020

Director

November 16, 2020

Director

November 16, 2020

Director

November 16, 2020

Director

November 16, 2020

Chief Financial Officer and
Chief Accounting Officer

November 16, 2020

Anne Chow
/s/ Michael Fung
Michael Fung
/s/ Dennis G. Heiner
Dennis G. Heiner
/s/ Donald J. McNamara
Donald J. McNamara
/s/ Joel C. Peterson
Joel C. Peterson
/s/ Nancy Phillips
Nancy Phillips
/s/ E. Kay Stepp
E. Kay Stepp
/s/ Derek van Bever
Derek van Bever
/s/ Stephen D. Young
Stephen D. Young
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SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Robert A. Whitman, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this yearly report on Form 10-K of Franklin Covey Co.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 16, 2020
/s/ Robert A. Whitman
Robert A. Whitman
Chief Executive Officer
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SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Stephen D. Young, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this yearly report on Form 10-K of Franklin Covey Co.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 16, 2020
/s/ Stephen D. Young
Stephen D. Young
Chief Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION
In connection with the yearly report of Franklin Covey Co. (the ‘‘Company’’) on Form 10-K for the period ended
August 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the ‘‘Report’’), we, Robert A. Whitman,
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Stephen D. Young, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for purposes of Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the
United States Code, that to the best of our knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated.

This Certification has not been, and shall not be deemed, ‘‘filed’’ with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
/s/ Robert A. Whitman

/s/ Stephen D. Young

Robert A. Whitman
Chief Executive Officer

Stephen D. Young
Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 16, 2020

Date: November 16, 2020
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Executive Team
Robert A. Whitman
Chairman of the Board
of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer
Stephen D. Young
Chief Financial Officer
and Corporate Secretary
Paul S. Walker
President & Chief
Operating Officer
M. Sean Covey
President
Education Division
C. Todd Davis
Executive Vice President
Chief People Officer
Colleen Dom
Executive Vice President
of Operations

Board of Directors
Robert A. Whitman
Chairman of the Board of
Directors
Anne H. Chow
Director
Michael Fung
Director
Dennis G. Heiner
Director
Donald J. McNamara
Director
Joel C. Peterson
Director
Nancy Phillips
Director
E. Kay Stepp
Director
Derek C.M van Bever
Director

Shareholder Information
Annual Meeting
We invite shareholders to attend our Annual
Meeting of Shareholders at 8:30 a.m. on Friday, January
22, 2021, at the Hyrum W. Smith Auditorium on the
Franklin Covey Co.
headquarters campus,
2200 West Parkway Boulevard,
Salt Lake City, Utah 84119.
Independent Registered Public Accountants
Deloitte & Touche, LLP
111 S. Main Street Suite 1500
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111
Counsel
Dorsey & Whitney LLP
111 S. Main Street Suite 2100
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111-2176
Jones Day Reavis & Pogue
222 East 41st Street
New York, New York 10017-6702
Registrar and Transfer Agent
Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc.
51 Mercedes Way
Edgewood, NY 11717
Common Stock
The Company’s Common Stock is traded on
the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker
symbol FC. There were approximately 522
shareholders of record on the Company’s record date of
November 30, 2020.
Certifications
The certifications required by Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been filed as exhibits to
the Company’s SEC Form 10-K. The most recent
certification required by Section 303A.12(a) of the New
York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual has
been filed with the New York Stock Exchange without
qualification.
Dividend
No dividends have been paid or declared on the
Company’s common stock.
Requests for Additional Information
Additional financial information is available to
shareholders. Requests should be directed to the
attention of Investor Relations, Franklin Covey Co.,
2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah
84119-2331, or call at 801-817-1776. Additional
information on the Company is available on the
Internet at http://www.franklincovey.com.
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